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ABOUT US
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Founded in Hong Kong in 1998, Regina Miracle International
(Holdings) Limited (“Regina Miracle” or the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are a global leader in the
intimate wear manufacturing industry. By adopting an innovative
design manufacturer (“IDM”) business model and building on a
diverse technology matrix with three core technologies: computer-
aided mold design and production, 3D compression molding, and
seamless bonding, Regina Miracle is able to develop and produce
market-leading products for its long-standing world-renowned brand
partners which cover various key sectors comprising intimate wear
(including bras, panties, shapewear), bra pads and other accessory
products, sports products (including sports bras, functional sports
apparel) and consumer electronics components, and facilitate cross-
sector and cross-category applications.

The Group is committed to multi-regional production capacity
deployment. It has two strategic strongholds — its research and
development (“R&D") and production bases in China to promote
the expansion of the domestic PRC market, and its major production
base in Vietnam, which the Group has expanded into since 2016 to
support the growth of its export business. The Group also continues
to enhance production efficiency and core competitive advantages
through automation and digital management.

In addition, Regina Miracle endeavors to promote environmental and
social sustainable development. Based on the United Nations’ 2030
Sustainable Development Goals, the Group has established four
goals for 2030 covering four key aspects, namely carbon reduction,
waste management, sustainable innovation, and people and
community, with a view to creating long-term value for stakeholders
and assuming social responsibility with a responsible attitude.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Regina Miracle
International (Holdings) Limited (“Regina Miracle” or the
“Company”) is pleased to announce the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (“Fiscal 2025"), together with the
comparative figures for the corresponding year in 2024 (“Fiscal
2024").

COMPARISON OF KEY FINANCIAL
INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL RATIOS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
HBHE

BRI (ER)BR AR (T#B IR sk A
AFDNEZES([EEE)MAEHRAR AR
HINB AR (FIEAEE])#HE202593 A4
31EIEFE([20268 & |) 2 F24E - ER
20245 FIHA ([ 202481 & | LB E T o

FTEMBER AN B RALER

Year ended 31 March

HZEIAMALEFE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 %  HK$'000
BETT BO BT
Revenue A 7,840,043 100.0 7,016,802 100.0 11.7%
Gross profit EF 1,832,567 23.4 1,583,567 22.6 15.7%
Profit attributable to owners AR AR AE(EHF
of the Company 183,891 2.3 143,175 2.0 28.4%
Earnings before interest, SFHE R AT
taxes, depreciation and
amortisation* 1,057,835 135 1,011,975 14.4 45%
Adjusted profit attributable to  R7A B1HEH A EIA LT
owners of the Company #* Sl 402,351 5.1 316,471 45 27.1%
Adjusted earnings before BRUTE KB HEA AR
interest, taxes, depreciation  FI|JE#*
and amortisation #* 1,276,295 16.3 1,185,271 16.9 7.7%
HK cents HK cents
Bl Il
Earnings per share BRET
— basic and diluted —EARREE 15.0 1.7
Dividend per share SRS 6.8 5.7
— Interim dividend —HHRE 25 35
— Proposed final dividend —EEAHRE 43 2.2
# These are not measures of performance under Hong Kong Financial # ZEBE WIS BV BRE LN ([ BBHBR

Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), but is widely used by management
for monitoring business performance of a company from operational
perspective. It may not be comparable to similar measures presented by
other companies.

* Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company and adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation are derived
by excluding exceptional restructuring costs.

HER T ERRNIER  EREEERE
BABERATNEBREREZER - HRH
A E A R R 2R B RIELLE ©

* ARRE ARELAEEFARSHITER
BERERENBRREREERAM S -
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STATEMENT
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On behalf of Regina Miracle International (Holdings)
Limited and the Board of Directors, | hereby present
to our shareholders the Group’s annual results for
Fiscal 2025.

AANERREDREERZRARATNESS - MARE
EREE202H FHRFRERS -

YY Hung
AthEZE

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

TE BRHITERWITEE

As the cornerstone of Regina Miracle's development, the
Innovative Design Manufacturing (“IDM") business model
ensures our resilience. In Fiscal 2025, the global macroeconomy
faced multiple uncertainties: geopolitical tensions accelerated
supply chain restructuring, high inflation dampened consumer
sentiment, and structural shifts in demand further reshaped
the industry landscape. Under such conditions, the textile
manufacturing sector continued to undergo adjustments, with
major brands accelerating their deployment of production capacity
in different regions and actively establishing friend-shoring
strategies in supply chains. With more brands emphasizing rapid
market response and innovative products, market competition
has pivoted toward efficiency-driven agility in supply and value
creation focusing on differentiated technological barriers.

Guided by our strategy of “prioritizing and strengthening core
segments”, the Group's revenue in Fiscal 2025 maintained
the recovery trend from the end of Fiscal 2024, achieving low
double-digit growth. On one front, we leveraged our production
capacity in China to target domestic demand and our facilities in
Vietnam to serve global market, strengthening our ability to seize
opportunities from the dual circulation strategy. At the same time,
we bolstered our technical reserves to support rapid response
to the needs of our brand partners. On another front, we built
product advantages through breakthroughs in craftsmanship
innovation, fostering deep synergies and collaboration with major
brand partners. This dual-track strategy of efficiency enhancement
and innovation, has enabled the Group to maintain its foundation
amidst the market headwinds.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

IRBES
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRHES

IMPLEMENTING COST REDUCTION AND
CONTROL MEASURES, ADVANCING
EFFICIENCY-DRIVEN TRANSFORMATION,
PLANNING DEBT REDUCTION INITIATIVES TO
GRADUALLY RESTORE PROFITABILITY

Regina Miracle continues to implement the systematic integration
of operational processes: standardizing R&D mechanisms,
improving organizational efficiency, and ensuring effective talent
management. Regarding production efficiency specifically, the
Vietnam production base has advanced lean management by
optimizing staffing and production deployment mechanisms,
consequently shortening production cycles in response to the
flexible order requirements of brand partners. Meanwhile, the
Zhaoging production base in China has focused on intelligent
production lines, utilizing digital systems to achieve automated
and standardized operations, thereby meeting the R&D and
production arrangements for high value-added products.

The above-mentioned cost reduction and efficiency enhancement
initiatives were launched in the current fiscal year and are
expected to gradually yield results in Fiscal 2026. As the market
continues to anticipate interest rate cuts amid the macroeconomic
environment, the Group is actively and orderly promoting the
optimization of its financial structure. After shareholder returns,
the Group will prioritize the use of incremental cash flow
generated from business optimization to achieve its medium-term
goal of reducing the debt ratio. The Group aims to progressively
lower debts to a reasonable level over the next two to three years
through cost reduction, efficiency enhancement and strict capital
control, thereby improving asset efficiency. These strategies
are expected to help improve cash flow, mitigate financial risks,
and maintain sound operations, thereby laying a solid foundation
for the gradual restoration of profitability alongside the Group's
business recovery.
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DRIVING ECONOMIES OF SCALE THROUGH
PRODUCT DIFFERENTIATION AND

PURSUE HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT
OPPORTUNITIES

Regina Miracle continues to focus its R&D efforts on leveraging
various patented technologies to create differentiated products
and build core competitive barriers, while accelerating the
penetration of innovative products among its core brand partners
to foster healthy business expansion. Among these innovations,
the Group's proprietary and patented bonding craftsmanship
("Bonding”) maintains industry leadership in terms of product
performance, production efficiency and aesthetic design, having
undergone years of iterative upgrades. This technology has not
only consolidated the Group's market leadership in the intimate
wear sector, but also successfully led its business expansion into
the field of functional sportswear, meeting diverse application
needs and driving rapid growth in this product category. As a
result, the revenue of the bonded functional apparel business
achieved significant growth in Fiscal 2025. As bonded apparel
products continue to penetrate the market, the scalable
production of these product lines will further enhance the
capacity utilization in both China and Vietnam. This technology-
driven market expansion can enable high-quality development
through high value-added products, while simultaneously driving
production capacity optimization, thereby creating a virtuous cycle
of efficiency improvement.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

IRHES
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRHES

ALLEVIATING VOLATILITY THROUGH
SHORT-TERM NEGOTIATIONS, ENHANCING
RESILIENCE THROUGH LONG-TERM
COLLABORATION

Since April 2025, the reciprocal tariff measures initiated by a
major economy against other countries have caused short-term
fluctuations in the Group's business. In response, the Group
has engaged in negotiations with major brand partners and
has reached a consensus based on a long-term collaborative
perspective. The impact of this matter on the Group's revenue
is expected to be limited. Meanwhile, the Group will further
strengthen upstream collaboration, expand cooperation with
existing strategic supply chain partners, and introduce supply
chain partners with distinctive characteristics. The Group aims to
consolidate our foundation in traditional markets while expanding
into emerging markets to achieve balanced development. To
this end, we will accelerate the pace of market diversification
and seek collaboration opportunities in China, Europe, Japan and
other markets that align with the Group’s positioning, allowing
the Group to strengthen its foothold in traditional markets while
expanding its presence in emerging markets to achieve balanced
development. In addition, we will continue to promote innovative
products, aiming to navigate away from competition in a saturated
and homogeneous market, and asserting our leadership value
creation. We firmly believe that through collaboration across
the industrial chain, multi-regional development and innovative
products, the Group will maintain its resilience and develop
steadily amid the uncertain macroeconomic environment.

VALUING DEVELOPMENT AND
RESPONSIBILITY EQUALLY, DEMONSTRATING
FIRM COMMITMENT TO “SOLIDARITY IN
SUSTAINABILITY”

Upholding the belief that corporate development must be
balanced with environmental and social consideration, the Group is
currently advancing the verification of the Science Based Targets
Initiative (SBTi) and planning a strategic roadmap to achieve net-
zero carbon emissions by 2050. The specific implementation
plan and the Group’s progress in environmental, social and
governance (ESG) initiatives during this fiscal year are detailed in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, demonstrating
the Group’s commitment to creating long-term value and building
a sustainable future.
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Looking ahead to Fiscal 2026, the Group will continue to focus on
leveraging the innovative advantages of our core technologies,
pursue expansion in differentiated product categories, and
strengthening existing brand partnerships. While adhering
to prudent financial management principles and rigorously
implementing cost reduction and efficiency enhancements, the
Group will selectively allocate capital to drive its development
forward.

Finally, on behalf of the Group, | would like to express our
sincere gratitude to all shareholders. Your enduring support
and encouragement have been vital to our development. We
are also deeply grateful to our brand and supply chain partners
for their trust and support over the years. Special appreciation
is also extended to all colleagues for their contributions.
Your wholehearted dedication, collaborative team spirit, and
professionalism in fostering innovation form the cornerstone
of the Group’'s steady growth. Despite the challenging
environment, Regina Miracle remains committed to implementing
comprehensive strategies to create long-term value for all
stakeholders.

YY Hung
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
26 June 2025

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MARKET REVIEW

During the year under review, the global economy remained
volatile due to the influence of high inflation and geopolitical
factors. Demand weakened amid rising trade protectionism
and growing concerns over supply chain stability and end-user
purchasing power. Against this backdrop, brands accelerated
supply chain diversification to mitigate risk. The dual pressures of
overcapacity and homogeneous competition within the industry
posed challenges to order placement and put cost control
capabilities to test. Despite the external environment being more
complex than expected, the Group achieved steady growth
in revenue during the year thanks to proactive and dynamic
adjustments to its strategies and optimization of its business
structure.

Faced with multiple external pressures, the Group has adhered to
the strategy of “prioritizing and strengthening core segments”.
Based on the Innovative Design Manufacturing (“IDM”) business
model, it enhanced production efficiency through technological
innovation and upgrades in automation and digitization, while
closely aligning with brand partners’ needs for differentiated
products and expediting the launch of innovative offerings. At
the same time, strategic synergies were achieved by leveraging
Vietnam's production capacity to fulfil global orders and dedicating
China’s production capacity to domestic demand. This, together
with a robust brand partner portfolio, effectively balanced the
Group's regional market risks.

Amid intensified competition in the PRC market and accelerating
industry consolidation, the joint venture (“VS China”) formed
by the Group and Victoria's Secret & Co. (“Victoria’s Secret”)
continued to achieve robust growth, outperforming its peers
by capitalizing on the dual advantages of brand value and
differentiated products, which validated the success of its
localization strategy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial Performance

The Group's results for the last fiscal year bottomed out and
stabilized. Despite facing the dual challenges of macroeconomic
volatility and uneven recovery in end-consumer demand, the
Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$7,840.0 million for
the year (Fiscal 2024: HK$7,016.8 million), representing a year-
on-year increase of 11.7% against broader market trends. Gross
profit increased by 15.7% to approximately HK$1,832.6 million,
with gross profit margin increasing by 0.8 percentage points to
23.4% (Fiscal 2024: HK$1,583.6 million and 22.6%, respectively).
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) increased by 4.5% to approximately HK$1,057.8 million,
and the EBITDA margin decreased by 0.9 percentage points to
13.5% (Fiscal 2024: HK$1,012.0 million and 14.4%, respectively).
The Group recorded net profit of approximately HK$183.9 million
for the year, representing a year-on-year increase of 28.4%, with
net profit margin rising by 0.3 percentage points to 2.3% (Fiscal
2024: HK$143.2 million and 2.0%, respectively). Basic earnings
per share attributable to the owners of the Company was HK15.0
cents (Fiscal 2024: basic earnings per share of HK11.7 cents).

Excluding restructuring costs, adjusted EBITDA increased by
7.7% to approximately HK$1,276.3 million, and adjusted EBITDA
margin declined by 0.6 percentage points to 16.3% (Fiscal 2024
HK$1,185.3 million and 16.9%, respectively). Adjusted net profit
for the year was approximately HK$402.4 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 27.1%, with adjusted net profit margin
rising by 0.6 percentage points to 5.1% (Fiscal 2024: HK$316.5
million and 4.5%, respectively).

During the year, the Group maintained a solid financial position,
with net current assets of approximately HK$1,566.6 million (Fiscal
2024: HK$1,489.8 million). As at 31 March 2025, total undrawn
banking facilities amounted to approximately HK$3,810.2 million
(31 March 2024: approximately HK$3,480.5 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

To share the positive results with shareholders, the Board has
resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK4.3 cents per share
for Fiscal 2025 (Fiscal 2024: HK2.2 cents per share). Together
with the interim dividend of HK2.5 cents per share, this makes
a total dividend of HK6.8 cents, which is in line with the Group's
dividend policy of distributing no less than 30% of its net profit
for the financial year. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the annual general
meeting on Thursday, 4 September 2025. The final dividend is
expected to be paid on or around Wednesday, 8 October 2025 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Monday, 15 September 2025.

The Group’s business operations are categorized into four key
segments, as outlined below.

Intimate wear
Intimate wear products include bras, bra tops, panties, shapewear
and swimwear.

During the year, this business segment contributed revenue
of approximately HK$4,243.4 million (Fiscal 2024: HK$4,121.4
million), representing a moderate year-on-year increase of 3.0%.
Accounting for 54.2% of the Group’s total revenue, it remained
the main source of revenue. The segment’s gross profit increased
by 7.2% to approximately HK$1,047.2 million, with gross profit
margin rising by 1.0 percentage points to 24.7% (Fiscal 2024:
HK$976.9 million and 23.7%, respectively).

During the year, the Group continued to optimize its brand
partner portfolio by focusing on the “Better & Best” product
positioning and strengthening innovative synergies with quality
brand partners. In particular, orders from the core brand partners
for innovative products developed by the Group increased
significantly, partially offsetting the fluctuations in orders from a
few brand partners due to adjustments in their market strategies.

Sports products
Sports products include sports bras, sports leggings and functional
sportswear.

This business segment generated revenue of approximately
HK$2,934.1 million during the year (Fiscal 2024: HK$2,311.5
million), representing a significant year-on-year increase of
26.9% and accounting for 37.4% of the Group’s total revenue.
Segmental gross profit was approximately HK$652.8 million, with
a gross profit margin of 22.3% (Fiscal 2024: HK$493.7 million and
21.4%, respectively).
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M ESIRAEIE FA4.378 1L (202481 4 -
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RS A6.88( - B BAERE D IRIBE
EAEFT LH30% KM B EGR - B RN
BAFRATREN202599 A4 (£ HirM)
BITHWRERF RS LR - FAEE -
REARE B IERT R 202510 A8 A (2= ) sk
AT AR 20259 A165H (28 —) ZHA R
AR B A IR EIRLS ©

REENER T EED RBIATEOARRYE -

B AR
B S AKERBERRERE - SMFENK(bra
top) ~ Pu¥E + BRI Rk o

WEB DN FRNERILEEA4,243 488 T
BRI (202481 4F « BH¥4121 48 8L) @ 1%
FRMEFA3.0% @ IGAREEBUTASL.2% -
BEBRARR - DBEF_LEFA7.2% 4975
#1,04728 870 0 EFEEA10EE H 24
F24.7% (202481 - DR /ABEI76.98E
TTR23.7%) °

AEEFABEEBCRBEREHES  BE
[Better & BestJEMTAL » WHEER(LEE
B REEENAIFHE - e AEEAEZ
DREEHR T ENERIEEERA
HAEHET LERBEHATSREFAEE
GV

EBEmM
EHEMBIREPNE  EBHEHE - K
BEIHEBARES o

I EB DR FERNERIRALEH2,934.18
ET(202454%F « %2311 68 87L) @ I&F
NiE EF26.9% - (EAREEBIKRAI7.4% ©
DEERN ALBEEE2 8B E T 0 EFERLA

22.3% (2024815 : DRl ABHE493.7EE L
$21.4%) o

FFIR4E2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

The growing popularity of sports activities around the world,
fueled by international sporting events, boosted orders for
sports products during the year. In particular, the sports bra
segment achieved double-digit growth. In addition, the Group's
differentiated functional apparel products, developed leveraging
its proprietary patented bonding (“Bonding”) craftsmanship,
recorded strong revenue growth during the year and became the
core growth engine of the sports products segment.

Consumer electronics components
Consumer electronics components include accessories for virtual
reality ("VR") headsets and tablets.

Revenue from this business segment amounted to approximately
HK$408.9 million (Fiscal 2024: HK$285.6 million), representing
a significant year-on-year increase of 43.2% and accounting for
5.2% of the Group's total revenue. The segment’s gross profit
increased by 50.0% to approximately HK$79.1 million, and its
gross profit margin was 19.4% (Fiscal 2024: HK$52.7 million and
18.5%, respectively).

The strong growth performance for the year was mainly driven
by new product orders from core brand partners, which were
concentrated in the first half of the year, while order growth
experienced a slowdown in the second half of the year. By
actively adopting dynamic order forecasting and supply chain
management strategies, the Group flexibly adjusted its production
plans and expanded the output of related and high value-added
products to mitigate the impact of cyclical fluctuations in the
industry.

Bra pads and other accessory products
Bra pads and other accessory products mainly include bra pads,
one-piece molded hats, footwear and other accessory products.

Revenue from this business segment amounted to approximately
HK$253.6 million (Fiscal 2024: HK$298.2 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 15.0% and accounting for 3.2% of the
Group's total revenue. The segment’s gross profit decreased
by 11.4% to approximately HK$53.4 million and gross profit
margin was 21.1% (Fiscal 2024: HK$60.2 million and 20.2%,
respectively).

Benefiting from a rebound in demand for intimate wear in the
U.S. and Europe, orders for bra pads picked up, driving significant
revenue growth. Revenue from other accessory products
decreased due to the decline in hat orders and the termination of
the footwear business in the second half of Fiscal 2024.
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HBFRNEHEMEEN  EPESWE
EBHERGMUBUIER - I AEEN RS
BREFIBL S ([Bonding ]) TE ST FTEEE
M ZE R REME IR K E m F NERF R SRR
ABE BRTERSDESERRRIZRANZ

03I -

HEETENG
HEETRMAERERESR(IVR])BEEAK
B HREREFRS -

L E D PR A LB 408.95 BT (2024
B - 2856 EEIL) BERNRBEE
432% ' (R AREBBRUAL2% o DEEF L
F50.0% E4EHTINBE T - EMRAA

19.4% (202481 F : DR BB 7TEE L
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VS China

VS China's revenue for the Group's Fiscal 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$1,965.7 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 4.4%. Net profit amounted to approximately HK$85.6
million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
HK$0.2 million.

During the year, VS China strengthened its differentiated
positioning and localized innovation advantages to precisely cater
for the needs of local customers. Its core product lines performed
particularly well in e-commerce channels, which led to a double-
digit year-on-year growth in the Group’s related IDM business.

Production capacity

The Group continued to promote its smart transformation through
key initiatives, including structure verticalization, management
intellectualization, equipment automation, and supply chain
localization, to improve production efficiency and precision in cost
control.

As for the Group's production bases in Mainland China, the
relocation from the Shenzhen production base to the Zhaoging
production base was completed in October 2024. Meanwhile,
the relocation of the R&D department is progressing according
to schedule, further strengthening the technological synergy
between local innovation and production.

In Fiscal 2025, the contribution of the Vietnam production base
to the Group's total revenue reached 85%. As of 31 March 2025,
the Group employed approximately 31,900 people in Vietnam and
approximately 4,900 people in Mainland China.

In the long term, Regina Miracle will continue to leverage its
Vietnam production base to meet the demands of its international
brand partners in the global market, while supporting the “China
for China"” strategies of its brand partners with the Zhaoging
production base. This dual-track approach is expected to establish
a flexible and efficient R&D and production model that caters to
brand partners’ needs for speed to market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

THE GROUP’S OPERATING RESULTS

Revenue

We derive our revenue primarily from direct sales of our products.
Our total revenue increased by 11.7% from approximately
HK$7,016.8 million in Fiscal 2024 to approximately HK$7,840.0
million in Fiscal 2025. A comparison of the Group's revenue for
Fiscal 2025 and Fiscal 2024 by product categories is as follows:

REENEERE

WA

BPHBRAZERRERNEREFEE - WA
HBEEH 2024 F A B 7,016 88 &L EF
11.7% 220258 F 487,840 08 &L © A&
EB20268 F K 20245 FiRE BRI E D0
WALEE T

For the year ended 31 March
BZ23A3MALEE

2025

2025
% of
Revenue
L ON: ]
Aol

HK$'000

ki

2024

20245
% of
Revenue
SN
Aot

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T

Intimate wear BEEMR 4,243,404 542 4,121,437 58.7 121,967 3.0
Sports products EHER 2,934,150 374 2,311,520 329 622,630 26.9
Consumer electronics HES T
components 408,923 5.2 285,616 4.1 123,307 43.2
Bra pads and other MR e Eo At
accessory products R ER 253,566 3.2 298,229 43 (44,663) (15.0)
7,840,043 100.0 7,016,802 100.0 823,241 1.7

Revenue generated from sales of intimate wear, sports products
and consumer electronics components increased by 3.0%, 26.9%
and 43.2% respectively from Fiscal 2024 to Fiscal 2025. The
increase was primarily due to the increase in demand from our
brand partners as a result of general recovery of market conditions
and the destocking cycle underwent by our consumer brands was
in later stage since second half of Fiscal 2024.

Revenue generated from bra pads and other accessory products
(including footwear) decreased by 15.0% from Fiscal 2024
to Fiscal 2025, due to cessation of sales delivery of footwear
products as a result of the Group proactively communicated with
its footwear brand partners during the previous fiscal year to
arrange the termination of its collaboration, enabling the strategic
allocation of the released production capacity to the fast-growing
bonding apparel category.

20258 F - BAE AKX - BEERKHEE
BT RGOSR AER20248 F5 5] EF
3.0% ~ 26.9% M43.2% - T ERLARA A
20248 F THFUAR - mEBHNRERAS
BRIGRIEEENE EERENEAERR
HAE Bm R MmN o

HARAEER E—F O T8 EEE R
BHBBLTR LA FENEEERFILHE
& BERNERRBENIBEERRER
#)Bonding ARk 5 M A8 - B9 AR N E b BL 4 2
(BIEER)ELEMIAR20248F F 220258
FTPE15.0% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

Cost of sales SHE KA

Cost of sales primarily consists of costs of raw materials, employee HERAETEZRERMBKA  BEEL28E4
benefit expenses for personnel directly involved in our production EFSEIMESENAS £ERBIE
activities, depreciation of our production equipment and others. N E At o

For the year ended 31 March

HBZ3A3MALEE
2025 2024
2025 202445
% of % of
HK$'000 Revenue  HK$'000  Revenue  HK$'000
T ON: EIRARY
BETT  EAK  BETT  EAM  BETR
Costs of raw materials R R AR 2,970,113 37.9 2,723,890 388 246,223 9.0
Employee benefit expenses EEEFIFX 2,073,433 26.4 1,805,356 25.7 268,077 14.8
Depreciation nE 376,758 4.8 411,645 59 (34,887) (8.5)
Others Hi 587,172 75 492,344 7.0 94,828 19.3
6,007,476 76.6 5,433,235 77.4 574,241 10.6

Cost of sales as a percentage of total revenue decreased from SHERKAG IR A Z2EBHE 9 tL 202481 £ HY
77.4% in Fiscal 2024 to 76.6% in Fiscal 2025. This was primarily 77.4% NPEZE20258I FH76.6% » T EZHPN
attributable to improvement in production efficiency and increase HEERRIBES R AL » ZEOWEE T
in revenue, which partly offset by the ramp-up of Zhaoging factory RS E Y ERIR T EE RE P8 -

during its initial stage of operation.

Cost of sales increased from approximately HK$5,433.2 million SHEK AN 20248 F4978#5,433.2 5 BTt
in Fiscal 2024 to approximately HK$6,007.5 million in Fiscal 2025 INZE20258 4978 H6,007.6B 87T FTEH
primarily due to increase in costs of raw materials and employee BRI R K & B 18 F 5 =2 B Uk A2 10 m
benefit expenses as a result of the increase in revenue. BFRIEAN o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEEERESE

Gross profit and gross profit margin

EMNRERNR

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3RA3MBLEE
2025 2024
20254 20245
Gross Gross
Gross Profit Gross Profit
Profit margin Profit margin Change
E EfE EH EF% &
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000
BETT BAl ot [Epa)s4 BT
Intimate wear BEAK 1,047,215 24.7 976,881 23.7 70,334 7.2
Sports products BHER 652,849 223 493,713 214 159,136 32.2
Consumer electronics HEETERM
components 79,127 19.4 52,743 18.5 26,384 50.0
Bra pads and other Hoih R E A
accessory products et Em 53,376 211 60,230 20.2 (6,854) (11.4)
Gross profit 5 1,832,567 234 1,583,567 22.6 249,000 15.7

Our overall gross profit increased from approximately HK$1,583.6
million in Fiscal 2024 to approximately HK$1,832.6 million in
Fiscal 2025. The gross profit margin in Fiscal 2025 increased by
0.8 percentage points to 23.4%, as compared to 22.6% in Fiscal
2024.

Such increase was mainly due to improvement in production
efficiency and increase in revenue arising from recovery of
orders from brand partners, which partly offset by the ramp-up of
Zhaoging factory during its initial stage of operation.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses primarily consist of freight and
transportation expenses, employee benefit expenses for our sales
personnel, travelling expenses, declaration charges, marketing
and promotion expenses and others.

Distribution and selling expenses as a percentage of total revenue
remained stable for both Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2025.

IR BB E IR 20248 F4978%1,583.6 8
BTG ZE 20258 F 4B HE1,832.6 A& T
202581 FHFEFI R 820248 FH)22.6% HF+
0.8EE N2 %E23.4% °

BREMEIEHRNEERTRS MRE MR
BHOFTERTFERAEN - BOWERET
R B A AR T EE RE AT ELSA

DERHERX
DHRHERXIZEREERERMX
HEABMRBERMNAX - ZKFAX - R#
& MSHEREEENREML -

HR202481 F 202684 F » S iE M EER A
AR E DL ETE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of
employee benefit expenses for our administrative personnel,
depreciation and amortisation, other taxes and surcharges,
building management fee, insurance, office and administrative
expenses, bank charges and others.

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of total
revenue remained relatively stable for both Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal
2025 at 8.0% and 8.1% respectively.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs consist of employee benefit
expenses for our research and development personnel, raw
materials and consumables used and others.

Research and development costs as a percentage of total revenue
remained relatively stable for both Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2025 at
3.8% and 3.9% respectively.

Other operating expenses

To optimize its production layout in China, the Group has
commenced the relocation of its Shenzhen production base by
phases to the new production base in Zhaoging.

In Fiscal 2025, an exceptional restructuring costs of approximately
HK$218.5 million was incurred, including:

° seniority compensation for employees of approximately
HK$180.6 million (Fiscal 2024: HK$133.9 million), and

° write-off of fixed assets of approximately HK$37.9 million
(Fiscal 2024: HK$39.4 million).

SRR i

—RRATHEX
—RETHRAXIEBEITRABNERR
MFS - TEREE - HUHARMMNE -
BFEREMR R RAERTHHAX
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

Finance income
Finance income represents interest income on bank deposits.

Finance costs

Finance costs represent interest expense on borrowings. It was
approximately HK$344.0 million in Fiscal 2025. Our finance costs
as a percentage of total revenue decreased from 4.8% in Fiscal
2024 t0 4.4% in Fiscal 2025.

Revenue and Net Profit/Loss of an Associate - VSCO
Holdings (“VSCO")

In Fiscal 2023, the Group acquired 49% of the equity interest in
VSCO. VSCQO's revenue amounted to approximately HK$1,965.7
million in Fiscal 2025, as compared with approximately
HK$1,882.2 million in Fiscal 2024, whereas net profit amounted
to approximately HK$85.6 million in Fiscal 2025, as compared to
approximately HK$85.4 million in Fiscal 2024.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses represent our total current and deferred
income tax expenses under the relevant Hong Kong, the People’s
Republic of China ("PRC") and Vietnam income tax rules and
regulations.

Taxation arising in a jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing
in the relevant jurisdiction. For Fiscal 2025, the income tax
expense amounted to approximately HK$36.9 million, as
compared to approximately HK$9.0 million for Fiscal 2024.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“"EBITDA")

EBITDA are derived by excluding exceptional restructuring cost.
The Group's EBITDA increased by 4.5% from approximately
HK$1,012.0 million in Fiscal 2024 to approximately HK$1,057.0
million in Fiscal 2025. The EBITDA margin in Fiscal 2025 was
13.5%.

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation (“Adjusted EBITDA")

Adjusted EBITDA are derived by excluding exceptional
restructuring cost. The Group’'s adjusted EBITDA increased by
7.7% from approximately HK$1,158.3 million in Fiscal 2024 to
approximately HK$1,276.3 million in Fiscal 2025. The adjusted
EBITDA margin in Fiscal 2025 was 16.3%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net profit
As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, our net
profit increased by 28.4% from approximately HK$143.2 million in
Fiscal 2024 to approximately HK$183.9 million in Fiscal 2025. Our
net profit margin increased from 2.0% in Fiscal 2024 to 2.3% in
Fiscal 2025.

Adjusted Net Profit

Excluding exceptional restructuring costs, our adjusted net profit
in Fiscal 2025 was approximately HK$402.4 million, which was
increased by 27.1% from Fiscal 2024. Adjusted net profit margin
in Fiscal 2025 was 5.1%.

Liquidity, financial resources and bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's net debt (represented by bank
borrowings less the cash and cash equivalents) was approximately
HK$3,327.0 million (31 March 2024: HK$3,530.5 million). Net
gearing ratio as at 31 March 2025 was 105.2% (31 March 2024
104.7%), which was calculated as net debt divided by total equity.

Excluding the currencies depreciation impact on the net assets
denominated in RMB and VND, the adjusted net gearing as at 31
March 2025 was 79.9% (31 March 2024: 87.6%).

Working capital management

JE R IR [E) % A 25
FE& A5 R0R [E%E A 2K

Receivables turnover days
Payables turnover days

The receivables turnover days and payables turnover days have
remained healthy and stable at 48 and 25 days respectively as at
31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

Capital expenditures

For Fiscal 2025, the total addition to property, plant and
equipment, leasehold land and land use rights, and intangible
assets amounted to approximately HK$430.7 million (Fiscal 2024:
HK$688.0 million) which was mainly attributable additions of
production lines and construction of our production facilities and
Zhaoging staff dormitories.

Pledged assets

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, insurance policy
investments in the amount of approximately HK$70.9 million and
HK$69.6 million, respectively, was pledged for financing related
insurance premium.

Foreign exchange risk

We mainly operate in Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam. Most of
our operating expenses are denominated in RMB and VND, while
most of our sales are denominated and settled in U.S. dollar.
As the HK dollar is pegged to U.S. dollar, our foreign exchange
exposure in respect of the HK dollar is considered minimal. Our
management will continue to monitor foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take prudent measures to minimize the
currency translation risk.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Material acquisitions and future plans for major
investment

Save for the investment in the construction of the production
facilities, during Fiscal 2025, the Group did not conduct any
material investments, acquisitions or disposals. In addition, save
for the expansion plans as disclosed in the sections headed
“Business” and “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 24 September 2015 (the
“Prospectus”), and the framework construction agreements
disclosed in the announcements dated 24 July 2017 and 24
April 2018 respectively, the Group has no specific plan for
major investment or acquisition for major capital assets or other
businesses. However, the Group will continue to identify new
opportunities for business development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of approximately
37,120 full-time staff (31 March 2024: 37,006). The total staff
cost of the Group (including salaries, bonuses, social insurances,
provident funds and share incentive schemes) amounted to
approximately HK$2,791.7 million, representing 35.6% of the total
revenue of the Group.

We believe our success depends heavily upon our employees’
provision of consistent, quality and reliable services. In order to
attract, retain and develop the knowledge, skill level and quality
of our employees, we place a strong emphasis on training our
employees. We provide on-site training periodically and across
operational functions, including introductory training for new
employees, technical training, professional and management
training, team-building and communications training.

We enter into individual employment contracts with our
employees to cover matters such as wages, employee benefits,
safety and sanitary conditions in the workplace, and grounds for
termination. We have designed an evaluation system to assess
the performance of our employees. This system forms the basis
of our determinations of whether an employee should receive
salary raises, bonuses or promotions. Most of our technical
personnel are trained and promoted internally, leading to greater
employee stability and loyalty.

Events after the balance sheet date
The Group has no significant events after the reporting period and
up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

FUTURE PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES

Trend Analysis

In Fiscal 2026, the global market faces significantly greater
uncertainty due to the impact of trade wars, with the gloomy
outlook for the consumer market leading to more conservative
order placements from brand partners. Meanwhile, amid
intensifying competition in the supply chain, product differentiation
has become key for supply chain enterprises and brands to
stand out from their peers. Over the years, Regina Miracle
has consistently invested in R&D innovation and established
competitive advantages through differentiated technological
craftsmanship and products, while improving its production
efficiency and flexibility through automation, standardization
and digitalization. These efforts have enabled the Group to
maintain a leading position in the face of the challenging market
environment.

STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

Committed to “cost reduction and control, efficiency-
driven transformation, and debt reduction” to
enhance profitability

Regina Miracle is implementing cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement measures spanning various aspects, from R&D
and production to operations, aiming to improve organizational
effectiveness and strengthen efficiency awareness among all
staff to enhance the Group's profitability. For the incremental cash
flow generated by future business optimization, the Group will
prioritize achieving the medium-term goal of reducing the debt
ratio after rewarding shareholders, so as to enhance the capital
structure. This is expected to strengthen the Group’s financial
resilience while balancing shareholder value and long-term
business development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Leveraging leading Bonding craftsmanship to drive
continuous innovative product launches and gradually
increase economies of scale

Drawing on its insights into the market trends, the Group has
identified innovative product breakthroughs as the core engine for
driving future growth. It is committed to developing high value-
added products with distinctively differentiated advantages, aiming
to stand out from homogeneous competition and enhance its
market dominance through value creation. To this end, the Group
will fully leverage its leading advantage in Bonding craftsmanship
and replicate its previous success in expanding from intimate
wear into the sports product segment, to make further inroads
into the apparel business. The innovative Bonding apparel series
developed by Regina Miracle has become a flagship development
project advanced by the Group in collaboration with major sports
brand partners, demonstrating enormous market potential. It is
poised to become a key driver of the Group’s sustained business
growth, further promoting the realization of its overall economies
of scale.

Deepen upstream collaboration and expand market
footprint

In the face of macroeconomic challenges such as trade wars,
Regina Miracle will continue to deepen collaboration with
strategic supply chain partners while actively introducing new
distinctive suppliers to bolster its supply chain network. In terms
of geographic market layout, the Group will strive to strengthen
its foothold in established markets while accelerating market
diversification, with a focus on building partnerships in regions
including China, Europe and Japan. This strategy will reduce its
dependence on any single market, achieve a balanced multi-
regional layout, and enhance the Group’'s risk resilience and
sustainability potential.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

Dedicated to fulfilling environmental and social
responsibilities, join hands with stakeholders to build
a sustainable future

Regina Miracle firmly believes that environmental, social,
and governance (ESG) principles are critical to its long-term
development. By prioritizing four key areas namely carbon
reduction, waste management, sustainable innovation, and
people and community, the Group is comprehensively fulfilling
its environmental and social responsibilities. Based on its 2030
sustainable development agenda, the Group is committed to
advancing its carbon reduction and energy conservation goals in
its operations. During the year, the Group launched the Science
Based Targets initiative (SBTi) and conducted a group-wide
carbon audit to prepare for setting targets aligned with the 1.5
degrees Celsius goal under the Paris Agreement. The Group plans
to complete the formulation of science-based decarbonization
targets within the next one to two years and devise the roadmap
and strategy for achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2050.

Conclusion

Based on a prudent evaluation of market conditions and trends,
Regina Miracle has been proactively promoting strategic
adjustments to concentrate resources on strengthening its
core businesses. This approach has enabled the Group to
maintain distinctive competitive advantages in a complex and
ever-changing industry environment, thereby building robust
operational resilience. The Group would like to express its sincere
gratitude to the management team and all staff for their dedicated
efforts. The trust and strong support of its brand, supply chain
and business partners, as well as its shareholders, are also deeply
appreciated.

Looking ahead to the next stage of development, the Group will
fully advance an efficiency-focused strategic transformation by
prioritizing human resource development and the optimization
of operational management and internal control systems. By
improving organizational effectiveness and resource allocation
efficiency, the Group will strengthen its financial performance,
solidify its foundation for development, and expand its business
scale in a considered manner. In the face of today's challenging
environment, the Group will weather market volatility through a
multi-pronged approach, including industry chain collaboration,
multi-regional development, and the introduction of innovative
products. The Group will continuously refine its operational
strategies to proactively adapt to market changes, with the aim of
achieving sustainable development and creating long-term value
for all stakeholders.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND COMPANY SECRETARY
EE SAREEERAAUENEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Yau Lit (3t# ) (also known as YY Hung (#t/5725)),
aged 62, is the founder of the Group and has been a Director of
the Company since its incorporation on 21 September 2010. He
is also the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the chairman
of the nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall development strategies and business plans
and overseeing the operations of the Group. With over 25 years of
experience in the intimate wear manufacturing industry, Mr. Hung
has been the key driver of the Group's business strategies and
achievements to date and continues to oversee the management
of its operations and business. Mr. Hung is also a director of each
of the BVI, PRC and Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Hung has been the executive vice president of Shenzhen
Underwear Association (OFRIITRKITERHE) since 2012,
the president of Shenzhen Guangming New District Charity
Association (FYI|ITHXEAFIEZEZE) since January 2015 and a
council member of South China Athletic Association (FIZEERE
). Mr. Hung received the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong
Kong 2007 from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He
was selected as one of the “2023 Greater Bay Area Best 30 ESG
Entrepreneurs” by Forbes China.

Mr. Hung is the uncle of Ms. Sze Shui Ling, senior management
and executive Director of the Company. Mr. Yiu Ka So, senior
management of the Company, is a cousin of Mrs. Hung.

Mr. YIU Kar Chun Antony (#388), aged 49, was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company on 22 June 2015. Mr. Yiu
joined the Group as a financial controller on 17 June 2002 and
was promoted to the Chief Financial Officer of the Group in 2005.
Mr. Yiu is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall financial
management, internal control, legal and compliance matters of the
Group. He also serves as a director in a number of the Company’s
subsidiaries. Mr. Yiu has over 27 years of experience in financial
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yiu worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong from August 1998 to June
2002 and held the position of senior consultant from July 2000 to
June 2002. Mr. Yiu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a first class honors degree of bachelor of arts in
accountancy in November 1998. He is a fellow of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Mr. Yiu is a cousin of Mr. Yiu Ka So, senior
management of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ES SAREEERAAUENEE

Mr. LIU Zhengiang (2IE548), aged 50, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 22 June 2015 and has
been the chief research and development and design officer of
Regina Miracle Intimate Apparel (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd since April
2008. He is primarily responsible for product design, research
and development management of the Group. He also serves as
a director in a number of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr. Liu
joined the previous bra processing facilities in February 1999 and
held the positions as manager of the research and development
department from February 1999 to September 2003 and chief
research and development and design officer from September
2003 to April 2008. From August 1998 to February 1999, Mr. Liu
served as a supervisor of quality assurance department at Shun
Cheong Factory for shoulder pads manufacturing. He has over
25 years of experience in intimate wear design and research and
development management and contributed in a number of utility
model patents and invention patents on intimate wear design.
Mr. Liu graduated from Wuxi College of Light Industry (fE$5# T
KE) (later renamed as Jiangnan University (TFAE)) majoring
in textile design in June 1998 and a degree of executive master
of business administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business (KT Z%) in September 2013.

Mr. CHEN Zhiping (FRE¥), aged 48, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company and the Chief Operating
Officer of the Group on 22 June 2015 and 30 November 2015
respectively. He is also the chairman of the environmental, social
and governance committee of the Company. He has been the
general manager of Regina Miracle Intimate Apparel (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd (“"RMIA Shenzhen") since April 2008. He is primarily
responsible for production management of the Group. He is also
a director of both RMIA Shenzhen and Regina Miracle (Shenzhen)
Ltd. Mr. Chen joined the previous bra processing facilities in
October 2000 and held the following positions: production
supervisor from October 2000 to June 2001, production manager
from June 2001 to September 2003, senior production manager
from September 2003 to June 2006 and general manager from
June 2006 to April 2008. He has over 23 years of experience in
intimate wear manufacture management. Mr. Chen obtained
a bachelor degree in shipbuilding engineering from East China
Shipbuilding Institute (FER A T2 E0%) (later renamed as
Jiangsu University of Science and Technology ((I#& R K
£)) in July 1999 and a degree of executive master of business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(R)IPEEFP7) in September 2013. Mr. Chen is the Committee
Member of the 11th Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference of Zhaoging.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND COMPANY SECRETARY
ES SREEERAAUENEE

Ms. SZE Shui Ling (#Ef&1%), aged 53, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 22 June 2015 and is a
member of the environmental, social and governance committee
of the Company. She has been the sales and marketing director
of Regina Miracle International Limited since 24 June 1999 and
Regina Miracle International (Group) Limited since 18 September
2006. She is responsible for the sales and marketing affairs of the
Group. Ms. Sze has over 26 years of experience in the sales and
marketing of intimate wear. She is also a director of a number
of the Company’s subsidiaries. Ms. Sze holds a certificate in
tourism management program in Camosun College in Canada in
December 1996. Ms. Sze is the niece of Mr. Hung.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. OR Ching Fai (#;5#), aged 75, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 11
September 2015 and is the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the environmental, social and governance committee
of the Company. Dr. Or is primarily responsible for providing
strategic advice and guidance on the business development of the
Group.

Dr. Or received a bachelor of social sciences degree in economics
and psychology from the University of Hong Kong in July 1972
before joining The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited as a management trainee. Dr. Or worked in a variety of
positions in personnel, securities, retail and corporate banking
divisions. Dr. Or was appointed as general manager and group
general manager in 2000 and became an executive director in
2005. Dr. Or was then appointed as vice-chairman and chief
executive of Hang Seng Bank Limited (184 R1THR AT, a
banking company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), in 2005 and retired in
May 2009.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND COMPANY SECRETARY
ES SAREEERAAUENEE

Dr. Or holds the following positions in companies listed on the TAIE TR BB LA A SEE TS
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: A7 :

Company and its Principal Business

Stock Exchange Position

DERHEFTRER "HER 5T B

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited Hong Kong Stock Independent non-executive
(AXEBHKELB AR AR, ajewellery company Exchange director
AXRBHRESEERAR - A—HKEQT BB AP BUIFHITES

CSC Holdings Limited (58 E AIZRRH R A 7)), Hong Kong Stock Chairman and non-executive

an investment and metal trading company Exchange director
PREAERBERAF  B—HRENEBEELRT BB P TEFRGETES

Playmates Holdings Limited (%2 2 £EHR A 7)), Hong Kong Stock Independent non-executive

a property investment and toy marketing company Exchange director
FEEEERAT  R—EMERERITATSHERLR BHBBMR BIFNTES

Dr. Or has been appointed as independent non-executive director
of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited in
December 2018. He ceased to act as non-executive chairman and
non-executive director of Esprit Holdings Limited on 1 January
2021, ceased to act as independent non-executive director of
Television Broadcasts Limited on 1 January 2020 and ceased
to act as independent non-executive director of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited on 31 October 2018. He was
the vice-chairman and independent non-executive director of
G-Resources Group Limited until his retirement on 30 June 2017.
He was also an independent non-executive director of Hutchison
Whampoa Limited (FIs2 &1 AR A 7)) and Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited (BIZ=MZ= AR A 7)), from February 2000 to May 2009
respectively. All these companies are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Dr. Or was the deputy chairman and non-
executive director of Aquis Entertainment Limited, a company
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, until his retirement
on 31 December 2017.
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EE SAREEERAAUENEE

Dr. Or is a vice patron of the board of the Community Chest
of Hong Kong. He was also the chairman of the Hong Kong
Association of Banks in 2000 and 2003 and was vice chairman
of the Hong Kong Association of Banks in 2001, 2002, 2004 and
2005. He was also the chairman of the Financial Services Advisory
Committee and a member of the Services Promotion Programme
Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. He
was a member of the Risk Management Committee of the Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, vice president and a
council member of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a member
of the Aviation Development Advisory Committee, the chairman
of Executive and Campaign Committee of the Community Chest
of Hong Kong, the deputy council chairman of the Council of City
University of Hong Kong, a council member of the University of
Hong Kong, an adviser of the Employers’ Federation of Hong
Kong and a member of the Planning Committee of the 5th East
Asian Games.

Dr. Or was awarded a Silver Bauhinia Star from the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Honorary University Fellow
from the University of Hong Kong in 2009. He was conferred an
Honorary Doctor of Social Science by the City University of Hong
Kong and an Honorary Fellowship by Hang Seng Management
College in November 2014 and May 2017 respectively. Dr. Or is a
Justice of the Peace.

Mrs. TO WONG Wing Yue Annie (FgE K1), aged 69, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 11 September 2015 and is primarily responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance on the business
development of the Group. She is also a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mrs. To has extensive
experience in the garments trading industry. Prior to joining the
Group, Mrs. To was employed by Mast Industries (Far East)
Limited, the sourcing arm of LBrands, as the president from
January 2007 to May 2013 and the executive vice president from
September 1996 to December 2006. From April 1995 to August
1996, she served as a director of Li & Fung (Trading) Ltd., a
Hong Kong based global sourcing company. From January 1991
to February 1995, Mrs. To was the executive vice-president of
Bonaventure Textiles Limited, a garment manufacturing company.
From June 1979 to December 1990, Mrs. To held various
positions from executive trainee to assistant managing director of
Swire and MacLaine Limited, the trading division of John Swire &
Sons Limited. Mrs. To obtained a bachelor degree of arts from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1979.
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Ms. MOH Angela Jen-Yin (E{Z%%), aged 54, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 3 July
2024 and is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and
guidance on the business development of the Group. She is also a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Moh is a financial
services professional with strong equity research analysis skills
and in-depth knowledge and understanding of the consumer and
retail industries in Greater China. Ms. Moh joined Morgan Stanley
Asia Limited as an associate in 1996, and was promoted to serve
as a vice president from 2000 to 2001, an executive director
from 2002 to 2004 and a managing director from 2005 to 2023.
She also served as an associate director of Greater China Equity
Research from 2012 to 2023 and a director of Taiwan Equity
Research from 2018 to 2023 during her tenure at Morgan Stanley
Asia Limited. Ms. Moh was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of Chinese Maritime Transport Ltd., a company
whose shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2612), since 28 May 2025. Ms. Moh obtained a Bachelor
of Science Degree in Economics from The Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania in the United States in May 1992 and
a Master of Business Administration Degree from Massachusetts
Institute of Technology in the United States in June 1996.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YIU Ka So (ktn#%), aged 51, has been the general manager
of operation of the Group since he joined the Group on 3 March
2004. He is primarily responsible for operations management of
the Group. Mr. Yiu is also the vice chairman of RMIA Shenzhen,
a director of RM Shenzhen, the legal representative and general
director of Regina Miracle International (Vietnam) Co., Ltd and of
Regina Miracle International Hung Yen Co., Ltd. Mr. Yiu has over
20 years of experience in enterprise and operations management.
Mr. Yiu served at Beijing Energy International Holding Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Goldpoly New Energy Holdings Limited), a
solar company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, as an
executive director from October 2010 to December 2013. Mr. Yiu
obtained a bachelor degree in engineering and a master degree
of science in civil engineering, both from the University of Hong
Kong, in December 1997 and November 2001, respectively. Mr.
Yiu is a cousin of Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony and Mrs. Hung.
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Ms. AU, Wai Ting Jennifer (EZ£§%), aged 39, is the Investor
Relations & Strategic Development Director of the Group. She
joined the Group in May 2016 and is primarily responsible for
overseeing and managing the Group's investor relations function
as well as involving in the development of corporate strategy,
and business development. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Au
specialized in equity research covering consumer discretionary
sector at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited and Mizuho Securities Asia
Limited, as well as risk advisory at Ernst & Young Global Services
in Hong Kong.

Ms. Au holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance and
Accounting of the New York University Leonard N. Stern School
of Business. She has been a CFA charterholder since March 2015.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LAW Kwan Chuen (Z#2), aged 46, joined the Group on
15 December 2011 as our group financial controller and was
appointed as company secretary of the Company on 22 June
2015. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting, corporate
finance and company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Law
has approximately 24 years of experience in auditing, financial
reporting and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Law worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers from October 2004 to
December 2011 with the last position as manager. From July
2001 to October 2004, he worked at Moore Stephens as an
auditor.

Mr. Law obtained a bachelor degree of business administration
majoring in professional accountancy from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (F## X AK2) in November 2001. He has been
an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
since February 2004 and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute since September 2004. Mr. Law has also been a
Chartered Financial Analyst (“CFA") charterholder of the CFA
Institute since September 2006, a fellow member of Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants since July 2009 and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since September 2014.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 91
of this annual report.

The Board has recommended to pay to the shareholders of the
Company a final dividend of HK4.3 cents per share for the year
ended 31 March 2025. Subject to the approval of the proposed
final dividend by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Thursday, 4
September 2025, the final dividend is expected to be paid on or
about Wednesday, 8 October 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For the purpose of determining the shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 29 August
2025 to Thursday, 4 September 2025, both days inclusive. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual general
meeting, shareholders should ensure that all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’'s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Thursday, 28 August 2025. The annual
general meeting of the Company will be held on Thursday, 4
September 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO FINAL DIVIDEND

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement for
the final dividend, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Wednesday, 10 September 2025 to Monday,
15 September 2025, both days inclusive. To qualify for the final
dividend, shareholders should ensure that all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Tuesday, 9 September 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are set
out in the Chairman’s Statement as well as the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 11 and pages 12 to 28
of this annual report respectively. Discussions on the Group's
relationships with its key stakeholders are also set out in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 11 of this annual report. An
analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is set out in the Group's Financial
Information Summary on page 184 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five years ended 31 March 2025
are set on page 184 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,774.1 million (2024: HK$1,774.1 million).
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DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to HK$1.0 million (2024: HK$1.0 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved and adopted a share
option scheme on 11 September 2015 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to enable the Company to grant options to eligible
participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme took effect on 8 October 2015
(the listing date of the Company), and no option has been granted
up to the date of this report. As at the date of this annual report,
the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately
3 months. In view of the expiration of the Share Option Scheme,
the Company will propose to adopt a new share option scheme
in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

(a) Who may participate

Subject to the terms of Share Option Scheme, the Board
(including any committee or delegate of the Board appointed
by the Board to perform any of its functions pursuant to
the rules of the Share Option Scheme) may, at its absolute
discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe for such
number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) as the Board
may determine to an employee (whether full time or part-
time) or a director of a member of the Group (the “Eligible
Person”).
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options maybe granted

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any options granted under any other
share option scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the listing date of
the Company unless the Company obtains a fresh approval.
The Company has not granted any share options since
the effective date on 8 October 2015. Therefore, the total
number of share options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme was 118,000,000 as at 1 April 2023, 31
March 2024, 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025. In addition,
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, the total number
of Shares which may be issued under the Share Option
Scheme is 118,000,000, representing approximately 9.64%
of the issued share capital as at date of 2023/2024 annual
report and the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person
Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company
in the general meeting in the manner prescribed in the
Listing Rules, the maximum number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted to each Eligible Person under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not at the time of grant exceed 1%
of the shares in issue.

Acceptance of an offer of options

An offer of options under the Share Option Scheme shall
be open for acceptance for such period (not exceeding 30
days inclusive of, and from, the date of offer) as the Board
may determine and notify to the Eligible Persons concerned
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance
after the expiry of the duration of the Share Option Scheme.
An offer of options not accepted within this period shall
lapse. An amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance
of the grant of an option and such payment shall not be
refundable and shall not be deemed to be a part payment of
the exercise price.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Exercise Price

The exercise price shall be such price as determined by the
Board and notified to an option-holder and which shall not be
less than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer
of the option; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

Time for Exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the period
which is notified by the Board at the offer date when making
an offer to an Eligible Person but such period not to exceed
the period of 10 years from the offer date of such option.

Duration of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the listing date of
the Company, after which period no further options will be
granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior
thereto which are at that time or become thereafter capable
of exercise under the rules of the Share Option Scheme, or
otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

Vesting Period

Any option shall be vested on an option-holder according
to any vesting schedule and/or upon the fulfillment of the
vesting conditions (as the case may be) as specified in the
offer of the option. The vesting period for an option shall not
be less than 12 months.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no outstanding
share options under the Share Option Scheme. No option
has been granted under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption. The number of options available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 to 31 March
2025 was 118,000,000.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2025 are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, sales to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for approximately 47.7%
of the Group's total sales for the year (of which sales to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 16.5%).
Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 39.7% of the Group's total purchases for the year
(of which purchases attributable to the largest supplier accounted
for approximately 20.9%).

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates or
any shareholder which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital,
had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year ended 31 March 2025.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participated in various retirement benefit schemes in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in PRC and
Hong Kong. Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. HUNG Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. YIU Kar Chun Antony (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LIU Zhengiang

Mr. CHEN Zhiping (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. SZE Shui Ling

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. OR Ching Fai

Mrs. TO WONG Wing Yue Annie

Ms. TAM Laiman (resigned on 3 July 2024)

Ms. MOH Angela Jen-Yin (appointed on 3 July 2024)

In the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr.
Chen Zhiping, Ms. Sze Shui Ling and Dr. Or Ching Fai will retire
as Directors in accordance with Article 84 of the second amended
and restated Articles of Association of the Company (”Articles
of Association”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S AND
COMPANY SECRETARY'’S PROFILE

Profile details of the Directors of the Company, the senior
management and company secretary of the Group are set out on
pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 11
September 2024.

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific terms of three years, subject to termination in accordance
with their respective terms. The terms of service contracts and
the letters of appointment may be renewed in accordance with
the Articles of Association and the applicable rules of the Listing
Rules.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees, including the Directors,
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. Our
employees are subject to regular job performance reviews
which determine their promotion prospects and compensation.
Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group.

The directors’ remuneration policy of the Company is built upon
the principles of providing equitable and market-competitive
remuneration package that support the performance culture and
enable the achievement of strategic business goals, to ensure that
there is an appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain
experienced people of high calibre to oversee the Company'’s
business and development.

The Company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive
to the Directors and eligible employees.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute
dividends to its shareholders by way of cash or by other means
that the Company considers appropriate. The recommendation of
the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion
of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject
to the approval of the shareholders.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time in
light of the following factors in determining whether dividends are
to be declared and paid:

o Results of operations of the Company;

° Cash flows of the Company;

° Financial condition of the Company;

° Shareholders’ interests of the Company;

° General business conditions and strategies of the Company;

. Capital requirements of the Company;

° The payment by subsidiaries of the Company of cash
dividends to the Company; and

° Other factors the Board may deem relevant.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March
2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements, no Director and/or any of
his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at
anytime during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1) Each of Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) Limited (“Le Ying
(HK)"”) and Le Ying Trading Limited (“Le Ying"”, together
with its subsidiaries collectively, the “Le Ying Group”) is
a company wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known
as YY Hung), a controlling shareholder and an executive
Director of the Company, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

In view of the expiry of previous agreements, on 31 March
2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Le
Ying (HK), effective from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024, to
regulate the sales of intimate wear and sport wear products
from the Company to Le Ying (HK) (the “2021 Le Ying Sales
Agreement”). Under the 2021 Le Ying Sales Agreement,
price of the sales of intimate wear and sport wear products
by the Company to Le Ying (HK) and its subsidiaries shall be
determined on an arm’s length basis with reference to (1)
the cost of production and the expected gross profit margin,
(2) the average selling price of the products of comparable
nature and scale and accepted by an independent third
party in the twelve-month period prior to the relevant
transaction, (3) where there is no such average selling price
available, any most recent available sale price of products
of comparable nature and scale offered by the Group and
accepted by an independent third party, the latest available
market data, and (4) the prevailing market price for the sale
of products of comparable nature and scale, which should
be in any event no less favorable to the Group than is
available to independent third parties.
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In view of the expiry of the 2021 Le Ying Sales Agreement,
on 25 March 2024, the Company entered into a new
sales agreement with Le Ying (the “2024 Le Ying Sales
Agreement”) with effective date on 1 April 2024, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to supply and procure its
subsidiaries to supply to Le Ying Group intimate wear
products and sport wear products for a term of three years
expiring on 31 March 2027. The price determination terms
are the same as the 2021 Le Ying Sales Agreement and
were determined on an arm’s length basis.

The 2024 Le Ying Sales Agreement became effective on 1
April 2024 and is valid until either (i) the expiry of a term on
31 March 2027 or (ii) the date on which Le Ying ceases to
be the connected person of the Company, whichever comes
earlier. The parties to the 2024 Le Ying Sales Agreement
may negotiate to extend the agreement for a further term
of three years within two months before the expiry of the
three-year term of the agreement unless the agreement
is terminated due to Le Ying ceasing to be the connected
person of the Company.

The proposed annual cap for aggregate annual purchase
amount payable to the Group for the years ending 31 March
2025, 2026 and 2027 will be HK$60.0 million, HK$80.0
million, and HK$100.0 million, respectively. Details of
the 2024 Le Ying Sales Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024.

During the year, the annual cap for revenue from sales to Le
Ying (HK) for Fiscal 2024 was HK$100.0 million. The actual
transaction amount for Fiscal 2024 with Le Ying (HK) was
HK$35.9 million and the annual cap has been kept.

The transactions contemplated under the 2024 Le Ying
Sales Agreement also constitute related party transaction of
the Company under HKFRS, details of which are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder Pad Factory (Shenzhen)
Limited (“Shun Cheong”) is indirectly wholly-owned by
Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), a controlling
shareholder and an executive Director of the Company, and
is therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

In view of the expiry of previous agreements, on 30
March 2024, Shun Cheong entered into a property leasing
agreement (the “2024 Property Leasing Agreement”),
effective from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025, with Regina
Miracle Intimate Apparel (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ("RMIA
Shenzhen"), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, pursuant to which Shun Cheong agreed
to lease RMIA Shenzhen the building located at Redstar
Community, Yutang Subdistrict Office of Shenzhen
Guangming District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC
(the “Redstar Premises”) for a term of 12 months. Under
the Property Leasing Agreement, the rent was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between Shun Cheong and
RMIA Shenzhen with reference to the prevailing market
conditions.

In view of the expiry of the 2024 Property Leasing
Agreement, on 27 March 2025, Shun Cheong entered into a
new property leasing agreement with RMIA Shenzhen (the
“2025 Property Leasing Agreement”), with effective date
on 1 April 2025, pursuant to which Shun Cheong agreed to
lease RMIA Shenzhen the Redstar Premises for a term of 12
months expiring on 31 March 2026. The price determination
terms are the same as the 2024 Property Leasing
Agreement and were determined on an arm’s length basis.

The 2025 Property Leasing Agreement became effective
on 1 April 2025 and is valid until either (i) the expiry of a
period of 12 months or (i) RMIA Shenzhen may terminate
the agreement before the expiry of its term by giving a one
month’s notice to Shun Cheong. RMIA Shenzhen may, by
giving Shun Cheong a one month’s notice before the expiry
of the agreement, request for the renewal of the lease.
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The rent paid by RMIA Shenzhen to Shun Cheong under
the 2024 Property Leasing Agreement for Fiscal 2025 was
RMB22.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$24.8
million.) The rent payable by RMIA Shenzhen to Shun
Cheong under the 2025 Property Leasing Agreement
for the year ending 31 March 2026 is RMB22.7 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$24.3 million). Details of
the 2025 Property Leasing Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2025.

The transactions contemplated under the 2024 Property
Leasing Agreement also constitute related party transaction
of the Company under HKFRS, details of which are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Float Limited (“Float”) is a limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong, wholly-owned by Ms. Hung Cheuk Man,
daughter of Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), a
controlling shareholder and an executive Director of the
Company, and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

On 27 March 2020, the Company entered into an agreement
(the “Float Sales Agreement”), effective from 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2023, with Float, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to supply and procure its subsidiaries to
supply to Float intimate wear and sportswear products for a
term of three years. Under the Float Sales Agreement, the
price of the sales of intimate wear and sportswear products
by the Company to Float shall be determined on an arm’s
length basis with reference to (1) the cost of production and
the expected gross profit margin, (2) the average selling
price of the products of comparable nature and scale and
accepted by an independent third party in the twelve-month
period prior to the relevant transaction, (3) where there is
no such average selling price available, any most recent
available selling price of products of comparable nature and
scale offered by the Group and accepted by an independent
third party with reference to the latest available market data,
and (4) the prevailing market price for the sale of products
of comparable nature and scale, which should be in any
event no less favorable to the Group than is available to
independent third parties.

FERE2024/256 ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

2025 8 4 - RMIA Shenzhen 1B &
2024 FMERERZCHEENHES
BARE27HEETL(HERLEBE
2488 &) - B Z=2026F3A31H 1t
£ » RMIA Shenzhen 1R 1% 2025 4
MEMEHZRMEENHESAAR
22 7EBIL(HERLBE2438 8
T) ° BE2025F M EE E B RN IS
HPA QT BHIA202553 A27HHA

==

2024 FERE A THRETHR
SIRBEBM S HREERIER AR
RIMBEA RS - BEFBHIINE
AR M FES2 -

Float Limited([ Float|) &5 & /& 5t
MY BRAT - AARRBIERARR
FWMITERRENE(XBHLER) KL
MRt legiat+2E%E Bt
RIELETHRAUABERARNBEEAL -

202093 278 » A AF HFloats]
% ([Float$s &1 |) + 72020
FA4A1HE2023F3A31BAEM &
ith » ZRA B [E B A Float it & M {2 fF &
Bl B A Al [AIFloat fit fE B & X & iE B)
IREER » AE=F - RiEFloatii &
Wk - QT A Floati2 g8 B AKX
LREBSHREERNEEBNREQAFR
B2 E T SIBERET « (1)EE
A RTEHAMERNE Q)M E RRE
BEARBEBRX S+ @A HHEE
BB B HERNERNTIIEE
QEELIEBSFHERE  ARALSE
EATREEE RREES BB
BB ERTESNTEEEE
MHOEMNTIAROHTREE : &
QEEME RRERENERNIRT
mE BRERECHERL T TER
NEB BB E = HIRENER -

47



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

48

In view of the expiry of the Float Sales Agreement, on
30 March 2023, the Company entered into a new sales
agreement with Float (the “2023 Float Sales Agreement”),
with effective date on 1 April 2023, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to supply and procure its subsidiaries to
supply Float intimate wear and sportswear products for
a term of 3 years expiring on 31 March 2026. The price
determination terms are the same as the Float Sales
Agreement and were determined on an arm'’s length basis.

The 2023 Float Sales Agreement became effective on 1
April 2023 and is valid until 31 March 2026. The parties to
2023 Float Sales Agreement may negotiate to extend the
agreement for a further term of three years within two
months before the expiry of the three-year term of the
agreement.

The proposed annual cap for the amount payable by Float
to the Group for the years ending 31 March 2024, 2025
and 2026 is HK$20.0 million, HK$25.0 million and HK$30.0
million, respectively. The actual transaction amount for Fiscal
2024 with Float was HK$6.2 million and the annual cap has
been kept. Details of the 2023 Float Sales Agreement were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30
March 2023.

The transactions contemplated under the 2023 Float Sales
Agreement also constitute related party transaction of the
Company under HKFRS, details of which are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Zhaoqing Leasing Agreements — Production Premises

Regina Miracle Technology (Zhaoging) Co., Ltd. (“"RM
Technology”) is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yau
Lit (also known as YY Hung), a controlling shareholder and
an executive Director of the Company, and is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

During the year, RM Technology has entered into:

(i) a renewal of a property leasing agreement with Regina
Miracle Innovative Technology (Zhaoging) Co., Ltd.
("RM Innovative”) on 26 June 2024 (the “2024 RM
Innovative Property Leasing Agreement”) in view of
the expiry of the property leasing agreement with RM
Innovative on 30 June 2024;

(i) arenewal of a factory leasing agreement with Lijing
Regina Miracle Intimate Apparel (ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd.
(“Lijing RM") on 27 March 2025 (the “2025 Lijing RM
Factory (Phase |) Leasing Agreement”) in view of
the expiry of the factory leasing agreement with Lijing
RM on 31 March 2025 (“2024 Lijing RM Factory
Leasing Agreement”);

(i) a factory leasing agreement with Lijing RM on 27
March 2025 (the “2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase Il)
Leasing Agreement”); and

(iv) a factory leasing agreement with RM Innovative on
27 March 2025 (the “2025 RM Innovative Factory
(Phase Il) Leasing Agreement”);

(together with 2024 RM Innovative Property Leasing
Agreement, 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase 1) Leasing
Agreement, 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase Il) Leasing
Agreement and 2025 RM Innovative Factory (Phase Il)
Leasing Agreement, collectively known as the “Zhaoqing
Leasing Agreements for Production Premises”).

Each of RM Innovative and Lijing RM is an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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RM Technology has agreed to lease certain floors of
the factory buildings located at Zhaoqging Industrial Park
(industrial ecological clusters), Zhaoging City, Guangdong
Province, PRC (the “Production Premises”), with a gross
floor areas of:

(i) 50,638 square meters of Production Premises to RM
Innovative under the 2024 RM Innovative Property
Leasing Agreement;

(i) 104,500 square meters of the Production Premises to
Lijing RM under the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase 1)
Leasing Agreement;

(i) 46,955 square meters of the Production Premises to
Lijing RM under the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase )
Leasing Agreement; and

(iv) 17,093 square meters of the Production Premises to
RM Innovative under the 2025 RM Innovative Factory
(Phase Il) Leasing Agreement respectively.

The rent under each of the Zhaoqging Leasing Agreements
for Production Premises was determined on the basis of
arm’s length negotiation between the parties after taking
into account the market rent and various conditions of the
production premises which are located at Zhaoging Industrial
Park (industrial ecological clusters), Zhaoging, Guangdong
Province, PRC.

The 2024 RM Innovative Property Leasing Agreement
became effective on 1 July 2024 and is valid until either (i)
the expiry of a period of 12 months or (i) early termination
before the expiry of its term by giving a six months’ notice
to RM Technology.

Under similar terms, the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase 1)
Leasing Agreement became effective on 1 April 2025 while
the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase Il) Leasing Agreement
and the 2025 RM Innovative Factory (Phase Il) Leasing
Agreement, became effective on 1 May 2025. Each of the
Zhaoging Leasing Agreements for Production Premises is
valid until either (i) the expiry of a period of 12 months or (ii)
earlier termination before the expiry of its term by giving a
six months’ notice to RM Technology.
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Each of RM Innovative and Lijing RM may request a lease
renewal by providing RM Technology with a three months’
notice before the expiry of its agreement.

The rent payable to RM Technology for the year ending 31
March 2025 by each of

(i) RM Innovative under the 2024 RM Innovative Property
Leasing Agreement,

(i) Lijing RM under the 2024 Lijing RM Factory Leasing
Agreement,

(i) Lijing RM under the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase 1)
Leasing Agreement,

(iv)  Lijing RM under the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase 1)
Leasing Agreement, and

(v)  RM Innovative under the 2025 RM Innovative Factory
(Phase Il) Leasing Agreement,

is RMB 14.6 million (equivalent to approximately HK$15.8
million) and RMB15.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$16.4 million), respectively. As the 2025 Lijing RM
Factory (Phase |) Leasing Agreement became effective on
1 April 2025 while the 2025 Lijing RM Factory (Phase Il)
Leasing Agreement and the 2025 RM Innovative Factory
(Phase Il) Leasing Agreement, became effective on 1 May
2025, no rent is payable under such agreements for the year
ending 31 March 2025.

Details of the 2024 RM Innovative Property Leasing
Agreement was set out in the announcement dated 26
June 2024, and details of (i) the 2025 Lijing RM Factory
(Phase ) Leasing Agreement, (ii) the 2025 Lijing RM Factory
(Phase Il) Leasing Agreement, (iii) the 2025 RM Innovative
Factory (Phase Il) Leasing Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2025.

The transactions contemplated under the Zhaoqing Leasing
Agreements for Production Premises also constitute related
party transaction of the Company under HKFRS, details of
which are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Zhaoqing Leasing Agreements — Living Units

Regina Miracle Investment (Zhaoging) Company Limited
(“RM Investment”) is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Hung
Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), a controlling shareholder
and an executive Director of the Company, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the year, RM Investment has entered into:

i) a living units leasing agreement with RM Innovative on
11 September 2024 (the “2024 RM Innovative Living
Units Leasing Agreement”); and

i) arenewal of a living units leasing agreement with
Lijing RM on 27 March 2025 (the “2025 Lijing RM
Living Units Leasing Agreement”) in view of the
expiry of the living units leasing agreement with Lijing
RM on 31 March 2025 (the “2024 Lijing RM Living
Units Leasing Agreement”);

(the 2024 RM Innovative Living Units Leasing Agreement
and the 2025 Lijing RM Living Units Leasing Agreement,
collectively known as the “Zhaoqing Leasing Agreements
for Living Units”).

RM Investment has agreed to lease

i) 128 apartment units located at Building 1, Poly Heyue
Garden, No. 8 Yanyang Avenue, Zhaoging New
District, Zhaoging, Guangdong Province, PRC, with
a gross floor area of approximately 14,061 square
meters under the 2024 RM Innovative Living Units
Leasing Agreement, and

ii) 192 apartment units located at Building 4, Poly Heyue
Garden, No. 8 Yanyang Avenue, Zhaoging New
District, Zhaoging, Guangdong Province, PRC, with
a gross floor area of approximately 20,117 square
meters, and 192 parking spaces under the 2025 Lijing
RM Living Units Leasing Agreement.
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The rent under the Zhaoqing Leasing Agreements for
Living Units was determined on the basis of arm’s length
negotiation between the parties after taking into account the
market rent and various conditions of the premises including
but not limited to the management services associated with
the premises.

Each of RM Innovative and Lijing RM may request a lease
renewal by providing RM Investment with a one month's
notice before the expiry of its agreement.

The 2024 RM Innovative Living Units Leasing Agreement
and 2025 Lijing RM Living Units Leasing Agreement,
became effective on 1 October 2024 and 1 April 2025,
respectively. Each Zhaoging Leasing Agreement for Living
Units is valid until either (i) the expiry of a period of 12
months or (i) earlier termination before the expiry of its term
by giving a three months’ notice to RM Investment.

The rent payable to RM Investment for year ending 31
March 2025 by each of

i) RM Innovative under the 2024 RM Innovative Living
Units Leasing Agreement;

ii) Lijing RM under the 2024 Lijing RM Living Units
Leasing Agreement; and

i) Lijing RM under the 2025 Lijing RM Living Units
Leasing Agreement

is RMB1.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2.0
million) under the 2024 Lijing RM Living Units Leasing
Agreement. As 2025 Lijing RM Living Units Leasing
Agreement became effective on 1 April 2025, no rent is
payable under such agreement for the year ending 31
March 2025. Given that the 2024 RM Innovative Living
Units Leasing Agreement became effective on 1 October
2024, with a rent free period of six months from the
commencement date, no rent is payable under such
agreement for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The transactions contemplated under Zhaoging Leasing
Agreements for Living Units also constitute related party
transaction of the Company under HKFRS, details of
which are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Annual Review of the Continuing Connected
Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
auditor was engaged to perform certain procedures in respect
of the continuing connected transactions set out above in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed by the Company for the year ended 31
March 2025 in accordance with the provisions concerning the
disclosure of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions/continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules, which are set out in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” on pages
44 to 54, have complied with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s businesses, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")
or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, nor did
the Company enter into any equity-linked agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the Directors and the chief executives of
the Company had the following interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEgR RERME

Hung Yau Lit (also known as Beneficial owner; Interest in
YY Hung) controlled corporation

R (X B HEHZR) EmBEAA

SEHEE R

Yiu Kar Chun Antony Beneficial owner
whEEEs BEnEBEA
Liu Zhengiang Beneficial owner
2IER E=EAA
Chen Zhiping Beneficial owner
PR A& BE=EEA
Sze Shui Ling Beneficial owner
i S BEmBEAA

HR2026F3A31H - EERARQRHESITH
ABRARE REMEEEE(EERES LD
EIEPIEXVER) HEERIEE F R EEENE
352N A AR ATEFENELRMA
AR E E AR BIMISRCIFTE LB ITAES
EITEHFR HMIRETABESITAEARR]
MEBB R TR - MR G REEEFR
MR ARIT

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company
Shares (%)
R T B A
BRBE DL
RGEE (BZtE)
836,023,000 68.29%
(Long position)
(Note)
(4F8)
(H$3E)
305,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(4F8)
200,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(418)
200,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(4F7=)
180,000 0.01%
(Long position)
(HE)

Note: Amongst these 836,023,000 shares, 648,000,000 shares are beneficially
owned by Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited which is wholly
owned by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung). By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Hung is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Regent
Marvel Investment Holdings Limited. Mr. Hung is also the beneficial
owner of 188,023,000 shares.

5T : £ 7% 836,023,000 % f% 1 # -+ 648,000,000 %
% 19 B Regent Marvel Investment Holdings
Limited (Rt (R BB Z) e -2 B
BIERESR - BEIFHFRAEKRE - HEE
18 A Regent Marvel Investment Holdings
Limited T B MG R B L o HELTA
188,023,0008% & D HI Bz B A ©
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FERRRA QARG XA
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES EROPHNERZRRE

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

R2026F3A31H  REFEHFLBAEKMIE
BKRARRATFHFENELM  RESEA
IERESBATA - THALTTEB(ESHAR
Al EITEA BBRIN) RAR RIH AR5 K& A8

As at 31 March 2025, according to the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO and so far as
is known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
(other than the Directors or the chief executives of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying AR R EE RIS A5 NEIEIRTIEXVIE
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the 2 M35 ERRMESZE M AN A R B MR 2 ook
Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the B

SFO:

Name of Shareholder

g

Nature of Interest

EEME

Number of
Shares

RHEE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company
(%)
RN
N
(BZEE)

Regent Marvel Investment Beneficial Owner 648,000,000 (L) 52.93%
Holdings Limited BEnEAA (Note 1)
(HEET)

Choy King Ngor Interest of spouse 836,023,000 (L) 68.29%
EIRIR [ty ey (Note 2)
(BizE2)

Hui Ching Lau Interest in controlled 98,419,000 (L) 8.04%
B M corporation (Note 3)
SIS EE R (MI7E3)

King Terrace Limited Beneficial Owner 98,419,000 (L) 8.04%
BEnEAA (Note 3)
(BI=E3)

Yiheng Capital, LLC Beneficial Owner 106,955,280 (L) 8.74%

EEHEBA

L — Long Position
S — Short Position

» -
|

S
o m
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Notes:

1. Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited is beneficially and wholly
owned by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung). By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Hung is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Regent
Marvel Investment Holdings Limited.

2. Ms. Choy King Ngor is the wife of Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY
Hung) and is deemed to be interested in the shares which are interested
by Mr. Hung under Part XV of the SFO.

3. King Terrace Limited is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Hui Ching
Lau. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hui is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by King Terrace Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
were not aware that there is any other party (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) who, as at the date of this
annual report, had an interest or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there has been
sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company's issued
shares up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on
pages 60 to 81 of this annual report.

FaE -

1. Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited
HHE (R BRI AL BERa R EHER -
RIEE S REIEED) - LR B Regent
Marvel Investment Holdings LimitedFT#5 4 &)
Rt eh A AR o

2. BRBATRABRE(XERHE) RENE
T REBEESFEHEGEROISEXVER - FRE RN
HEERBRENROTHEERES -

3. King Terrace Limited 7T/a Mt £ BEm L2 E
BH - RIBEFESFRHEEA - FFEERREAR
King Terrace Limited BT 5 &) i& {5 = ¥ A 4

2% o

m
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE
SHEET DATE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other
significant events affecting the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries after the balance sheet as at 31 March 2025 requiring
disclosure in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution for re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
(the “Corporate Governance Report”) in the Group’'s annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2025.

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Board and the management of the Group are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business
growth, enhancing the Company’s value and bringing value to
the shareholders. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has implemented and applied the principles and
code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code ("CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules,
including reflecting those principles in the Company’s relevant
policies. The Board has reviewed the Company's corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that save as disclosed
below, the Company has complied with all code provisions of the
CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2025.

According to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
has appointed Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) as both
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in the same individual would enable
the Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and
effectiveness when formulating business strategies and executing
business plans. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is sufficiently maintained by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises five
executive Directors (including Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known
as YY Hung)) and three independent non-executive Directors
and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its
composition. The Board will nevertheless review the structure and
composition of the Board from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances, in order to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices of the Company.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Upon specific
enquiries being made with all Directors, each of them confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2025.

THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities

The Board, led by the Chairman, Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known
as YY Hung), determines and monitors the overall strategy
and policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the
performance of the Group, and supervises the management of
the Company.

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the activities and
performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, among
other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review of
the corporate and financial policies, review and assessment
of the Company’s financial reporting, internal control and risk
management systems and the oversight of the management of
the Group’s business and affairs. In addition, the Board has also
established five Board committees, namely the audit committee,
the nomination committee, the remuneration committee,
the environmental, social and governance committee, and
the executive committee, and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities set out in their respective
terms of reference.

While the Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company, the Chairman of the Board
provides leadership to the Board in carrying out its duties. The
Executive Directors, together with the senior management of the
Company, are delegated with responsibilities in the day-to-day
management of the Company and make operational and business
decisions.
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Composition

The Board currently has eight Directors comprising five executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs"”). The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Liu Zhengiang

Mr. Chen Zhiping (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. Sze Shui Ling

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Or Ching Fai

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie

Ms. Tam Laiman (resigned on 3 July 2024)

Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin (appointed on 3 July 2024)

The members of the Board represent a wide background and rich
industry experience with appropriate professional qualifications.
Please refer to the section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” of this annual report for
the profiles of the Directors. Save as disclosed in the section
headed "Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company
Secretary”, the Directors have no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are served by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY
Hung) and have not been segregated as required under code
provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Board is of the
view that such arrangement provided the Group with strong
and consistent leadership to the Company and allowed for more
effective and efficient business planning and decisions as well as
execution of long term business strategies.
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Independence of INEDs

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board had three
INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and at
least one of them has the appropriate professional qualification of
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the three INEDs in respect of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all the INEDs are independent parties in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and free of
any relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise of
their independence judgements.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Each of the executive Directors has renewed the service contract
with the Company for a further term of three years commencing
on 11 September 2024. All INED are appointed for a specific
terms of three years.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Further,
in accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
Mr. Chen Zhiping, Ms. Sze Shui Ling and Dr. Or Ching Fai will
retire as Directors in accordance with Article 84 of the Articles
of Association and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election. Their biographical details will be set out in the circular
to be dispatched to the Shareholders with the notice of annual
general meeting.
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Meetings

The Board meets on a regular basis, and on an ad hoc basis,
as required by the business needs. During the year ended 31
March 2025, the Board convened four board meetings and one
annual general meeting (the “2024 AGM") to approve the final
and interim results announcements and financial reports, and to
discuss the overall strategy and monitor financial and operation
performance of the Company.

Attendance of each individual Director at the Board meetings and
the 2024 AGM during the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out in
the following table:

Number of
Board
meetings
attended
HEEEE
Name of Director =E P
Executive Director HITEE
Mr. Hung Yau Lit Vit 414
(also known as YY Hung) (RBHEHE)TE
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (LTEREEHTE)
Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony thazinE 4/4
(Chief Financial Officer) (BEHEE)
Mr. Liu Zhengiang BB E 414
Mr. Chen Zhiping BEFEE 414
(Chief Operating Officer) (BEEEE)
Ms. Sze Shui Ling HEiER Rt 414
Independent non-executive Director ~ BU#EHiTEE
Dr. Or Ching Fai TEEEL 414
Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie R e 4/4
Ms. Tam Laiman FBEXA (7202457 A n
(resigned on 3 July 2024) 3AFME)
Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin RCBA (72024577 33
(appointed on 3 July 2024) SHEZA)
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
at Board level and has commitment to diversity at all levels,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or profession experience.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, profession experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As of 31 March 2025, the Board had 5 male Directors (62.5%)
and 3 female Directors; and female representation at Board level
was 37.5%. Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the
Board’'s composition, the Board is satisfied that the requirement
set out in the Board Diversity Policy has been met.

The Group has established goals to enhancing gender equality and
empowerment of women, cultivating young people. Please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year
2024/25 for further details such as the number of workforce by
gender and objectives set.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy on 26 November
2018 which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures adopted to guide the nomination committee of the
Company to select and recommend candidates for directorship so
as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.
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The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
nomination committee of the Company in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate:

o reputation for integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

. (in case of independent non-executive Directors)
requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

o any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to
the Board;

° commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest; and

° any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business operation and environment as well as
the industry in which the Company operates.

The nomination committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as
referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from a third party agency firm and proposals from the
shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the
criteria which include but are limited to the above-mentioned.

The nomination committee or the company secretary of
the Company shall convene a meeting upon receipt of any
nominations of candidates to evaluate such candidates based on
the selection criteria mentioned above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. The nomination committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by
a shareholder of the Company for election as a Director at the
general meeting, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting. The
Board should have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.
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Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available
to The Board

The Board has established and adopted mechanisms to ensure
that a strong independent element on, and independent views
and input are available to the Board (the “Mechanisms”) on 30
March 2023.

The governance framework and the Mechanisms are as follows:

(i) Composition of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavors to ensure the appointment of at
least three INEDs and at least one-third of the Board
members being INEDs (or such higher threshold as
may be required by the Listing Rules from time to
time).

INEDs will be appointed to other Board committees
as far as practicable to ensure independent views are
available.

(i) Independence Assessment

The nomination committee must strictly adhere
to the Nomination Policy of the Company and the
independence assessment criteria as set out in the
Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and the
appointment of INEDs.

The nomination committee shall review annually
each Director’s time commitment and attendance to
meetings.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her
own personal particulars that may materially affect his/
her independence.

The nomination committee is mandated to assess
annually the independence of all INEDs by reference
to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise
independent judgement.
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(iii) Board Decision Making

INEDs (as other directors) can share their views and
opinions freely through regular meetings with the
Board.

INEDs (as other directors) are entitled to seek
further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the
Company’s company secretary and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisors
at the Company’s expenses.

INEDs (as other directors) shall not vote on any board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in
which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

The Chairman of the Board shall at least annually hold
meetings with INEDs without the presence of other
Directors to discuss major issues and any concerns.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of
the Mechanisms on an annual basis.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All the Directors are encouraged by the Company to participate in
continuous professional development so as to equip themselves
with the latest developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, industry knowledge
and managerial skills in relation to the operation of the Group's

business.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their training
records and such records have been maintained by the Company
for accurate and comprehensive record keeping. Based on
the details so provided, a summary of training received by the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out as follows:

Name of Director

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Yau Lit
(also known as YY Hung)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony
(Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Liu Zhengiang
Mr. Chen Zhiping
(Chief Operating Officer)
Ms. Sze Shui Ling

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Or Ching Fai
Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie
Ms. Tam Laiman
(resigned on 3 July 2024)
Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin
(appointed on 3 July 2024)
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Directors’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities
arising out of legal action on corporate activities. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, no claim had been made against the
Directors of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. These include:
to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; to
develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the Company's corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code, and the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee,
environmental, social and governance committee and executive
committee, each of which has the defined written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary.
Copies of minutes of all meetings are kept by the company
secretary and open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Each committee is required to
report to the Board on its decision and recommendations, where
appropriate.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three INEDs, namely Dr. Or Ching
Fai, Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie and Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin
(in replacement of Ms. Tam Laiman with effect from 3 July 2024).
The chairman of the audit committee is Dr. Or Ching Fai who has
appropriate professional qualifications.
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The audit committee is established to, without limitation, assist
the Board in providing an independent review and supervision
of the Group’s financial and accounting policies, to review the
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems
of the Company, to oversee the audit process, and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as delegated by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the audit committee
members met two times with the Group’s senior management
and the external auditors to discuss and review, among other
things, the following matters:

o the interim results for the six months ended 30 September
2024 and the annual results for the year ended 31 March
2025 to ensure full, complete and accurate disclosure in the
aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the accounting
standards and other legal requirement for presenting the
same to the Board for approval;

o the terms and remuneration for the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as external auditors to perform the
agreed-upon procedures on the interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2024 and the audit of annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2025;

o the independence of the external auditors especially for
those non-audit services; and

o the overall effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meetings
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Dr. Or Ching Fai LRy

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie ba E ok i+

Ms. Tam Laiman BB T (7202457 A
(resigned on 3 July 2024) 3EBHE)

Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin

(appointed on 3 July 2024) 3REEME)

BB (7220247 A

ERER/RE

KRUBEZZBEEEE(BTRMN) BHESES
BYBRMAREEAEENT B REFTBOR -
B ARRMPBEE - RREIERARE
EAS  EERREERBITEFERHIKN
HiOBE KA -

REZE2025F3A31HILFE  BREET
REHEAEBNEREERE RIMNE I EENR
IMREE  UilmkBERRF (ERE
FINTER:

o EZE2024%9A30H IL/NEAAKFHEAZE
EREZE20259F3A31BILFERNEF
¥E 0 UEREADREBESFENR
Hix @B AT 2 FESS UAMIE
WIS REMEL2E - B RERE

=

o ZEBREBUKESIMEBAINE
ZEAD R RS - A E E2024
FIA30H LA R KT EAREEETH
ERRF © UREEZ=202693A31H 1E
FENDFEEETER

o HNEBEEEN CLEMIEBRZRS) 1B
R

s ARFAABEEFEAREERGHE
BEAKAR »

TREJZEFIKELFEZEEGHNER -

Number of
meetings attended Attendance rate
HEERRE HfE =
2/2 100
2/2 100
11 100
11 100
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee comprises three members, namely
Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie (the chairman of the committee),
Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) and Ms. Moh Angela
Jen-Yin (in replacement of Ms. Tam Laiman with effect from 3
July 2024).

The primary responsibilities of the remuneration committee
include (but not limited to) making recommendations and
proposals to the Board in respect of remuneration policies and
structure for Directors and senior management’s remuneration
and on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration
committee held two meetings which dealt with, among other
things, the following matters:

° consideration and make remuneration to the Board on the
remuneration of the new INED;

° review and approval of the renewal of service contracts with
the executive Directors and letters of appointment with
INEDs; and

° review of the existing remuneration policies by reference
with the market research and gave recommendation of the
remuneration packages and performance-based bonus for
executive Directors and senior management to the Board
for approval.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meeting
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie PR ok a2+

Mr. Hung Yau Lit HENERE (X B 2R ) e A
(also known as YY Hung)

Ms. Tam Laiman BREX X T (202457 A
(resigned on 3 July 2024) SHEHTE)

Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin

(appointed on 3 July 2024) SHEZRT)

BB (7202457 A

FHEEE
FHEZEedm =Rk EEK - DRIAMETK
ML E(ZEQERE) HEE(XBHEIE)
SERECERLZT(82024F7A3HRBES
EENZTL) -

FMEEENEERERE(ETNRN)RE
=R EAETEEH A3 BOR KRB A K
SERMITESE R REEENHITER
E=gRMHBEALES -

REZE2025F3A31BILFE - HTHEES
BIIMAEHARE(EPEE)ATER

o EEMBUIFNTEBMHHN A
HAEFSRLHEBER

o EHIMAEERTEEORBEELD
NMBMIFBITESORER - &

o ZSEBMBMAFMBRAHMEE - X
RRE2EEGRERTEERERE
32 B M) Hr BN B S IR R IR B T MV EAL
REHEEER -

Number of
meeting attended  Attendance rate
HEEERH HiE=
2/2 100
2/2 100
mn 100
A 100

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, pursuant to
the code provision E.1.5 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management
by bands

HIH A
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000

EREEERERED

EEHIFIBET AR A B ISR RMIFES5 -
A - RIBEEEIRSTRIE o AT RINE
XEN5 HBE202F3A31HIEFEEMS
BEBEREBRERE DO FEHWH T W0
T :

Number of
senior management
EBREEE A

782 000,001 7T 275 #2,500,0007T 1
712,500,001 702 %% 3,000,000 2
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), Mrs. To Wong Wing
Yue Annie and Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin (in replacement of Ms.
Tam Laiman with effect from 3 July 2024). Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also
known as YY Hung) is the chairman of the nomination committee.

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee include
(but not limited to) reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on structure, size composition and diversity of the
Board, to oversee the identification and assessment of potential
board candidates, to provide oversight and direction in respect
of the succession planning for Directors and to determine the
composition of Board committees.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the nomination committee
held one meeting which dealt with, among other things, the

following matters:

. review of the suitability and the qualification of the new
INED nominated for directorship;

° review of the Board composition and structure;
° review of independence of INEDs; and
° review of re-appointment of retiring Directors.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meeting
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Mr. Hung Yau Lit
(also known as YY Hung)

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie (RN
Ms. Tam Laiman BENX L (F20245F7 A
(resigned on 3 July 2024) 3HBHE)

Ms. Moh Angela Jen-Yin

(appointed on 3 July 2024) SHEZMT)

RN R (R A2 5o

BB (7202457 A

ERER/RE

REEER

REZEEH=-BKNEEK - DRI LiFE
(XBHEMHZE) et - T kagtT R ELCE
7+ (B2024F7 A3HEEEEEXLZ L)
HNE(X BN L BREEEETE -

REZBENIERERFBE(ETRM)BE
EESMRE  ARBRRRZ TR
EESRLEBER  EBYMENTRERE
EEeFEAN  REENETHIRHER
RS ARETEREZESWEK -

MNEZE2025F3A31HIHEE @ IREREES
B REHEARE(EFREE)UTET

s ERERAEEEFRNFBEIUIENT
EEMENERER

o  BEERSWMEMKRE

o BERBEMIFNTERHEVME Rk

s BRRIEFELEH-

TREFIZEFIKELFERZESGENER -

Number of
meeting attended  Attendance rate
HEERRE HE =R
A 100
A 100
A 100
N/A N/A
ANiE ANiE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
The Board has set up the environmental, social and governance
committee on 13 September 2021. The environmental, social
and governance committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Chen Zhiping, Ms. Sze Shui Ling and Dr. Or Ching Fai. Mr.
Chen Zhiping is the chairman of the environmental, social and
governance committee.

The primary responsibilities of the environmental, social and
governance committee include, but not limited to, advising and
assisting the Board in managing matters relating to environmental,
social and governance of the Group, such as governance, policies,
initiatives, performance and reporting.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the environmental, social
and governance committee held one meeting to review the
environmental, social and governance report of the Group.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meeting
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Mr. Chen Zhiping PRAETF AL
Ms. Sze Shui Ling pEiER
Dr. Or Ching Fai EEE L

RiE - HEBRERZEE
BEEEN2021F98 13K IRE - HEa Rk
EREZEE® - IR HEREBRRESH=
ZRRBHRK - DRIAREFAL - BB
TRANEBIEL - BEFEAERRE g
RERZEGER -

RE - HehERZBEgnEIERERE(E
TR ERER - BEK - #1E - REKLER
EEAKERE HERERAREERE
=ZgRHERLGETHE -

REE20253A31HIEFE - BB HE
REREEeRTREBUEHAEER

R HERERESE -

TREFIZEFIKELFERZESSHENER -

Number of
meeting attended  Attendance rate
HEERRE HE &R
A 100
A 100
A 100

Executive Committee

The Board has set up the executive committee on 30 November
2015. The executive committee comprises all executive Directors
of the Company and the chairman of the Board shall be the
chairman of the committee.

The primary responsibilities of the executive committee include,
but not limited to, advising and assisting the Board in formulating
policies, monitoring the performance of management in carrying
out and implementing the policies laid down by the Board for the
Group, and handling and dealing with the bank-related transactions
and matters.

HITEE®

BEEEMN2015F11 AB0BEKIHITERES -
WITZEGRARNRZENITESMARK - M
EEeXRAUAZZESNER -

HITEBENEIERESFE(ETED) B
FIRRAERSRHEEALETHEY B
EEBENATRETHESEEALERRE
MIBERARIR - PARBEIE AR SRITIHR R
HREH -
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company engages PricewaterhouseCoopers as external
auditor. PricewaterhouseCoopers is responsible for auditing
and forming an independent opinion on the Group's annual
consolidated financial statements.

The audit committee reviews and monitors the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year a letter from the external auditor
confirming its independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with representatives of the external auditor to consider the scope
of its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The audit committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the external auditor.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total fees paid/payable
in respect of services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the
external auditor of the Company, are set out below:

ERER/RE

SR RZ AR

ARRIREERBKEEEEBARINE
TZEEN - BEBKEGTMELMAEES
REBENFREEWHRER LU IREE L
BR -

ERZBEEMNRERINSZBE BT
REBME  URBZBENERE - 2B &
BERERIMNSZEENE LR AR R
FEEMEMER - WRINSAZHBETH KRBT
T UWEBRWEERE - USHEME
HHFEEZRG (B ) MEBEEEE - 8|
BREBENHMINERBMNZEEBEEE
AEFERER -

3 GIE )

HZE2025F3A31HILFE - LAA T INE
% B0 RN 28 Fo B ok 3B R RT3 75 T IR LA BR 75
B & RGBT

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered Frig AR 21t BB

HK$'000

BT T

Audit services ERRT 3,300
Non-audit services FERS

e Transfer Pricing advisory o  EETERH 947

e Company Secretarial service o REWERD 377

. ESG Reporting service o RE - HeRELmERE 228

. Hong Kong Profits Tax services o BEABHIRE 146

Total st 4,998
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility to present
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment in the
consolidated financial statements of the annual and interim
reports, other price sensitive announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and to report to
regulators as well as to disclose information required pursuant
to statutory requirements. When the Directors become aware of
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, such uncertainties would be clearly and
prominently set out and discussed in detail in this Corporate
Governance Report.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities and opinion of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025 is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 82
to 89 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management
once and internal control systems twice for the year ended 31
March 2025. The Board is of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Risk Management and Internal Control

To manage and monitor the various risk factors which the
Company may be exposed, the Board is responsible for
establishing and overseeing the Company's risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis, and ensuring the
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems has been properly conducted. The main features
of this system, which continues to operate, were described in this
Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has already reviewed its risk management
framework and processes and has implemented relevant
measures resulting from this exercise that aim to enhance
its framework and processes. In particular, the Company has
developed, approved and implemented a risk management
system, which is defined and supported by its endorsed
risk management policy. The terms of reference of the audit
committee have included its responsibility for an effective system
of internal control and risk management.

BEREFZ

EEWER  REFEAEFERTHHEEN
FAMBEHE  HtREGRASERETR
AIFTARE MV E B BB R B (5 F ~ B
R ZAFHE - WA ERBERMEEE
EEKHRENER - WEFMB RS
RRBHSBEEERNELTERREBNEN K
BERBEANERTHARE - WAERELE
BIATME TR RBEFRIA R F AT WA
STHAREE -

ARG BYAZBMAEBAERRETRESR
NREZE2025F3A31 B ILFEMNG AT
WMERBROER - HINAFRFES2ESIE
B B IRE -

Bk EE R A BEZ

HZE2025F3A3NHILFE EESEEB
EZZEERIASERBREENTHEE
R — R R R EBEE 1 R R AR K
BRR - EFERA  RREELAIBELE
RRBER R -

R B B R A EREE 1R

REERESRAQR YN ZREARE
= EFeRAFERULEBAARRR
EERAMEERGNEE - WHERZER
AR E IR KR N EBEE RSB o It R AT
SEEE  HEX BN ALEERREN

ARE R ERRERBIERREFILEH]
L E i 5 R EAE 2R AR Fr VAR RS Bt o
FRIZ  ARBCHIE  HERER—EH
HRUHEAREERRMERRFNER
BEAS BRZEENHERECBER
HAMANIEZELAREE R GHNEBE -
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Risk Governance Structure
The Company’s governance structure for its risk management
system is shown as below. Each party has well defined and
detailed roles and responsibilities
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Risk Assessment Methodology BB R A 5 A

The Company’s methodology for its risk assessment comprises
of four core stages (i.e. risk identification, assessment, monitoring
and reporting). These processes are performed at least once a
year to address changes in the Company’s business environment.

Review on the Effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material
controls such as financial, operational and compliance controls.
In addition, the Board has appointed an international accountancy
firm to review the internal control systems of the Company on an
on-going basis. The review covered the expenditure, production
management and fixed assets management of certain key
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Our Responsibility

Our Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems are
maintained, while management is responsible to design and
implement an internal controls system to manage risks. The
Board is also responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company'’s risk management and internal controls system.

The risk management and internal control systems can provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining business
objectives. Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is
satisfied and confident with the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems currently put in place for the
Company.

Communication of Risk Events

Where risk events arise, our communications, both within the
Company and to external parties, are an integral part of the risk
management system. To enable the Company to make the
appropriate decisions and responses to mitigate or address
any risk event, relevant information on the incident needs to
be communicated by and to the right functions and individuals,
completely and accurately, and in a timely manner.

To ensure inside information of the Company is to be disclosed to
the public in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules,
applicable laws and regulatory requirement, a framework has
been established to set out the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information.

Anti-Corruption

The Company has adopted an anti-fraud policy on 30 March 2022
("Anti-Fraud Policy") which sets out the responsibilities of the
internal audit department and employees and the Group’s major
anti-fraud measures and procedures. The Anti-Fraud Policy covers
activities such as corruption, conspiracy, embezzlement, money
laundering, bribery, and extortion, which could all involve an
element of fraud. The Anti-Fraud Policy is reviewed on a regular
basis and any convicted cases will be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS g RAER
The Company aims to establish fair and transparent procedures ARAREERL AT RBERANERF - FAE
to enable all shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise their R EE T E M S E AI5 15 R N T R
rights in an informed manner and communicates efficiently with BARNRBRERE - RIBABKEIEMAIAR
the Company. Under the Articles of Association and the relevant AARHBERELRETF  BREZHF(HEAa
policies and procedures of the Company, the shareholders enjoy, FEIATRER

among others, the following rights:

1. Convene an extraordinary general meeting/put

forward proposals:

Any one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition at the Company’s Hong Kong
office at 10th Floor, Tower A, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop
Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangements in accordance with the
requirements under Article 58 of the Articles of Association
once a valid requisition is received.

2. Propose a person for election as a Director:
As regards to the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting”
under the section headed “Policies and Guidelines” of the
Company’s website at www.reginamiracleholdings.com.

3. Put forth enquiries to the Company:
Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board's
attention can be sent in writing to the company secretary
at the Company’s Hong Kong office at 10th Floor, Tower
A, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong
Kong.
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing and constructive
relationship with the shareholders, the Company has compiled
a shareholders communication policy and established various
channels of communication with the shareholders, such as
publication of interim reports and annual reports, press releases
and announcements of the latest development of the Company in
a timely manner. The shareholders are also encouraged to attend
the Company’s annual general meetings where the Chairman and
members of different Board committees are available to answer
Shareholders’ questions and exchange views with them.

Financial and other information in relation to the Group
has been published on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.reginamiracleholdings.com.

The contact details of the Company are set out in the Company's
website to enable the shareholders to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company. Shareholders can also
direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s
Hong Kong share registrar.

The Board has reviewed the shareholders communication policy
and consider the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders communication policy to be sufficient and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Law Kwan Chuen is the company secretary of the Company.
He is an employee of the Company and reports directly to the
Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and
timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, Mr. Law has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has also dedicated great effort towards protecting the
environment and supporting society. For details, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year
2024/25.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Company has not made any changes to its
Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the Articles of
Association is available on both the websites of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company proposes to amend its Articles of Association
by way of adoption of a third amended and restated articles
of association (the “New Articles of Association”) to reflect,
among others, (i) the expanded paperless listing regime; (ii) online
participation at general meetings and voting by the shareholders
by electronic means; (iii) the new treasury shares regime; and (iv)
other housekeeping amendments. The proposed New Articles
of Association is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders by way of a special resolution at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHENRE

_n
pwc

To the Shareholders of Regina Miracle
International (Holdings) Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Regina Miracle
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 90 to 183,
comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2025;
° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue
recognition.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BYRHENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

AR ESTETE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HRESEE

Revenue recognition

LON:-+4

Refer to Note 5 and Note 36.23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue from sales of goods amounted to
HK$7,840,043,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025.
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when
control of the goods is transferred to the customer.

We focused on revenue recognition due to the large
volume and large number of customers involved with
goods distributed to different locations. Furthermore,
the magnitude of revenue is significant to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we
identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter.

BREER A PR TRARMI TS & MI7E36.23 ©

HZE2025F3A3MALFE HEERMNBRA BB
7,840,043,0007C c WATEE MmIEHIEEZETEFHRE
ﬁﬁgfu ©

BB IRRAER - RA/RARMES ﬁﬁ‘ﬁuﬂu%}&ﬁ
EERRAERP o i WMARER BEEGEUE
WMEMSBEKX - At - BAEWATE /\Z%E%ik%ﬁ%
I8 o

AN EST N AEREBRENSE

In addressing this key audit matter, we carried out the
following audit procedures:

- We obtained an understanding of the Group’s
internal controls and assessment process of
revenue recognition and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement;

- We evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
management’s key internal control procedures
over the revenue recognition;

- We examined the key terms of the customer
orders on a sample basis and assessed the
Group's revenue recognition policies to evaluate
whether they are in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards;

- We performed analytical reviews of revenue
such as comparing current period to prior
periods, analysing trends in sales by customers
and product types and identifying any unusual
or unexpected fluctuations;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) AR ESTETE ()
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHEETER BMANET AR EREETER
Revenue recognition (Continued)
WA TR (&)

- We checked, on a sampling basis, revenue
transactions to customer orders, including the
performance obligations and shipping terms,
and examine relevant supporting evidence
such as purchase orders, invoices and delivery
records;

- We checked, on a sampling basis, revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date to relevant supporting
evidence such as delivery records, to assess
whether they are recorded in the appropriate
accounting periods; and

- We tested samples of journal entries posted
to revenue accounts selected on risk based
criteria.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
revenue transactions tested were supported by the
evidence we gathered.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHENRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. \We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Chan Kam Chiu, Raymond (practising certificate
number: P04992).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
ek

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z 202543 A318 [ F[E

2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T T IT
Revenue A 5 7,840,043 7,016,802
Cost of sales SHERAR 7 (6,007,476) (5,433,235)
Gross profit EF 1,832,567 1,583,567
Other income E g A 6 33,381 24,257
Distribution and selling expenses SR IHE R 7 (174,076) (152,270)
General and administrative expenses — MR RITE X 7 (634,466) (561,126)
Research and development costs SR AR 7 (303,305) (267,463)
Other operating expenses Hih& 255 7 (218,459) (173,296)
Operating profit R 535,642 453,669
Finance income EUE AN 9 2,014 2,341
Finance costs R IDWIN 9 (343,959) (336,956)
Finance costs, net AT P AN R 5E 9 (341,945) (334,615)
Share of net profits of FREREARD
associates accounted for i NG
using the equity method R FRE 18 27,075 33,123
Profit before income tax BRET BB ADERI 220,772 162,177
Income tax expenses FriSEifsZ 1 (36,881) (9,002)
Profit for the year attributable to FRAEQATEEA
owners of the Company FEARSER 183,891 143,175
Earnings per share for RAREE AEN
profit attributable to BHHEREF
owners of the Company (AERBLES])
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic and diluted —BEARNEE 12 15.0 11.7
The above consolidated income statement should be read in AR W as 7= FE B BE P M 5 — O BRE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &, £20253 318 IF /&

2025 2024
2025 20244F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit for the year FREF 183,891 143,175
Other comprehensive loss: Hib 2 HEEE :
Items that have been reclassified or may =& #7548t i )R A 1£
be subsequently reclassified to profit BT EE B
or loss EH
Currency translation differences EEiRE R (343,238) (341,114)
Fair value gain on insurance policy REHFERNFERE
investments 17 9,869 7,414
Fair value change on trade receivables BAVEGARMER
carried at fair value through other W25 8RB Z IR
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") RN QT EES (63,201) (60,510)
Reclassification of trade receivables at RHEEEEATE
FVOCI reserve to factoring interests STAEMEmEKRER
and charges upon disposals B SRR
BEMHBEEREFNBRK
B 64,070 59,848
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/ FEEEE A TIEY
income of associates Hiv2mE(EE) A 18 (411) 2,040
Items that will not be reclassified to ST EF IR
profit or loss B h)E A
Fair value gains on transfer of owner- ¥FXraAvEERs
occupied properties to investment BEMEN DT ERE
properties, net of tax (BEHMBTHE) 15 - 77,245
Other comprehensive loss for the FREMZEHER
year, net of tax (B HRBIE) (332,911) (255,077)
Total comprehensive loss attributable A THEEAELEZE
to owners of the Company BB (149,020) (111,902)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income Filisrs 2R R BRI —(F6IE -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HREEARER

As at 31 March 2025 720253 H31H

92

REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #¥ iR (IZR)ERA A

2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T T T
Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R MK 13 3,934,842 4,210,405
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 508,296 468,678
Investment properties wEMHE 15 114,865 115,589
Intangible assets B EE 16 30,114 27,469
Insurance policy investments REEIRE 17 239,335 220,242
Investments in associates REE QT RIRE 18 418,325 396,682
Deposits and prepayments e R¥ENFIE 21 92,301 119,164
Deferred income tax assets ELEFTSIREE 26 62,783 52,882
5,400,861 5,611,111
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 1,378,300 1,225,092
Trade receivables 2 5 EINERR 20 1,051,263 1,027,483
Deposits, prepayments and %Re - ANREREA
other receivables FEU FhE 21 154,981 111,486
Tax recoverable Al [ R IE 135 3,299
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHSRIT R 22 725 1,162
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEED 22 907,831 623,117
e eeeteeeneeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeceeieeiceececceczcizecceoos.. SRR 3493235 . 2,991,639
Total assets EEHAE 8,894,096 8,602,750
Equity e
Equity attributable to RAREE AEGER
owners of the Company
Share capital A% A 23 95,247 95,247
Reserves i 24 3,068,668 3,275,228
Total equity AR 3,163,915 3,370,475



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HREEARR

As at 31 March 2025 720253 H31H

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Borrowings B 25 3,571,616 3,532,595
Other payables H{th e3R8 28 38,201 35,420
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 108,872 81,986
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEASHEE 26 84,897 80,403
3,803,586 3,730,404
Current liabilities FREBaE
Trade payables B SN 27 429,458 390,330
Accruals and other payables FET & L B pE(~ ThIE 28 743,541 413,770
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 28,247 40,658
Borrowings B 25 663,198 621,032
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFTISTHaE 62,151 36,081
oo 1,926,595 1,501,871
_Totalliabilites  _ _ _____%8fes 5730181 ! 5232,275
Total equity and liabilities EERAEHEE 8,894,096 8,602,750

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 183 were #9902 183 E MR A M 3RER B 72202556 A
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and were 26 ESSRAWNRERESE -
signed on its behalf.

Hung Yau Lit Antony Yiu
Atk PhEER
Chairman Director
FiE EZE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in Ltz s BE B EREEBEN M E—OFRIE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERREER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z 202543 A318 [ F[E

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARER AEMS

Share capital Reserves Total

R s =] HBEr

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT IT BT T BT T

Balance as at 1 April 2023 7A2023F4 518 &k 95,247 3,452,015 3,547,262

Profit for the year FEREFA - 143,175 143,175

Other comprehensive loss: Hit2mEEE :

Currency translation differences B E Z - (341,114) (341,114)
Fair value gain on insurance policy (REFRE N EWZE

investments - 7,414 7,414
Fair value change on trade receivables AT EEFALMEE
carried at FVOCI W5 8RR E 5 IR

RN EZ S - (60,510) (60,510)

Reclassification of trade receivables at R E% RN FEET A
FVOCI reserve to factoring interests HErmWaEnE S

and charges upon disposals FEYR R HBERT 1A
2REFNBERERH - 59,848 59,848

Share of other comprehensive income  FE{LE#E N FRY

of associates Hib2miias - 2,040 2,040
Fair value gains on transfers of owner- ¥ gAY ¥ ERETRE

occupied properties to investment ER QT ERE

properties, net of tax (BHRTEIE) - 77,245 77,245
Total comprehensive loss FREZEERAE

for the year - (111,902) (111,902)
Transaction with owners of HAQAREEARS

the Company
Dividends paid (Note 29) EAFAR E (FiEE29) - (64,885) (64,885)
As at 31 March 2024 M2024%F3A31H 95,247 3,275,228 3,370,475
Balance as at 1 April 2024 7A2024F4 518 K&tk 95,247 3,275,228 3,370,475
Profit for the year FREF - 183,891 183,891
Other comprehensive loss: Hit2mHEE .
Currency translation differences B E R - (343,238) (343,238)
Fair value gain on insurance policy REIEN DN EW S

investments - 9,869 9,869
Fair value change on trade receivables 1ZAFEETAEMEE

carried at FVOCI W5 8RR E 5 IR

BRI AT EEE - (63,201) (63,201)

Reclassification of trade receivables at A &% EIRAF@EET A
FVOCI reserve to factoring interests HEHmrmEamE S

and charges upon disposals R EEETT DB
ZREFEREA - 64,070 64,070

Share of other comprehensive loss of  E{5E#E A F]AY

associates Eh2mEE - (411) (411)
Total comprehensive loss FRZEBEEE

for the year - (149,020) (149,020)
Transaction with owners of HEARATRNEEARS

the Company
Dividends paid (Note 29) BEATIRE (F5E29) - (57.540) (57,540)
As at 31 March 2025 A2025%3831H 95,247 3,068,668 3,163,915

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read IR A RERR BB fE BARE I I s — FREE o

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &, £20253 318 IF /&

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Cash flows from operating activities K& IEFEESRE

Cash generated from operations REZBHERE 30(a) 1,207,903 878,829
Profits tax paid BIRFISEL (13,052) (131,854)
Net cash generated from operating RESEE TSRS FEE

activities 1,194,851 746,975

Cash flows from investing activities & IEFEESRE

Purchase of property, plant and BEYE  BELRE

equipment (365,241) (375,911)
Reversal of prepayments for purchase  #RIM¥E - HE MEE

of property, plant and equipment AR EEER

and intangible assets TEf SRR 14,438 -
Purchase of intangible assets BEEEE (10,202) (4,606)
Purchase of insurance policy investments & E{RB%E& 17 (10,116) (11,481)
Purchase of land use right BE B 1 b (P FE 14 (47,728) (568,290)
Proceeds from disposal of intangible HEELEEMS

assets FIE 11 103
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEK

plant and equipment HEFTEEIE 30(b) 17,140 34,729
Proceeds from disposal of insurance HEREREMSHIE

policy investments 1,071 590
Dividend received from an associate B — R R RIS 18 2,300 19,211
Interest received BB 2,014 2,347
Net cash used in investing activities KEEHFTRIR S F5E (396,313) (393,314)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z 202543 A318 [ F[E

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Cash flows from financing activities &S IEFMEESRE

Proceeds from new borrowings I E RSk 30(c) 2,921,846 3,643,035
Repayments of borrowings BEER 30(c) (2,840,659) (3,447,944)
Payment for lease liabilities HEaENZ 30(c) (28,538) (54,239)
Interest paid BFE (336,157) (327,525)
Dividends paid BRE (57,540) (64,885)
Net cash used in financing activities RmELBAAREFE (341,048 (251,558)
Net increase in cash and RERBREEEY

cash equivalents EnFEEE 457,490 102,103
Cash and cash equivalents FUHReRREEEY

at beginning of the year 623,117 675,028
Effects of exchange rate changes on EXRFHHRE R

cash and cash equivalents ReEEYHTE (172,776) (154,014)
Cash and cash equivalents FRIBE K

at end of the year ReEED 22 907,831 623,117

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in GREIR G E IR PE BRI PR — O BIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Regina Miracle International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 September 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (2010 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company has its primary listing on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of
the Company's registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
intimate wear, sports products, consumer electronics
components and bra pads and other accessory products.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$'000"), unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.
622. These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of trade receivables carried at FVOCI,
investment properties and insurance policy investments
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas
when assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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ME-— LM REBBMERSMER
AAEl e ARREIFMMFEEA IR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands °
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EFRIFAR K R EmR o
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BT (EE T DIIR

mBLEAE

REZSHEAMBRRAANEIES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(a)

98

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Amended standards and interpretation adopted
by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to
standards and interpretation for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 April 2024

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
BAGTERZE 1R (BETA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
ARG EAE 1R USETA)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

BB BERELERE 165 (EFTAR)
HK Int 5 (Revised)

BESERRBAIERS)
M RRERN IR AR

ERMERNHERRE

(a)

AR ()

FEBEERMANKEITERRR
B

BN 2024%4 A1 BRI E
954 RS B R R TR A STA K
21

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Non-current liabilities with Covenants
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of

a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

EBREESR(EE])
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)
BRGTERIETHR R
BB IwELERET7R(EFTA)

HERmRE b

The adoption of the HKAS 1 (Amendments) did not result
in a change in the classification of Group's bank borrowings
as at 31 March 2025. The Group also did not make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the HKAS
1 (Amendments).

The adoption of these amendments to standards and
interpretation did not have any material impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

WBHRENEY] —ERAHBEAIZRERERNERAERD
Supplier Finance Arrangements

R2025%3A318 @ IWAE B S ETER|
F1H(EFTR) W EBBALBAIRTT
BROBELIRNEE - NEBWERF
MEBETEBIFE 1R (EFTA) ML
B -

RZSEAETARREYBES
REZNSELBEFNEATZE A
BT HE TSR REREEKRER

By 488
FE o
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

New and amended standards and interpretation
not yet adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation have been published but are
not effective for financial year commencing on or after 1

(b)

e RBRRME

AR B ()

AR B R ET R ARG ET
A REZE

BTG LR  BEERBEIA
RABEEEM - 1ER20245F4 718
R ERENTBREENAER - B

April 2024 and have not been early adopted by the Group: RN F IR AT ERAR ¢
HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability 1 April 2025
(Amendments)
ARG ERE21R LB BB BRZ Al H 2025F4A1H
SRR FE15(BETA)
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 April 2026
(Amendments) Instruments
BRI EERIEWR LB SRTANBERFE 2026F4A1H
B E R E 75 (1BRTA)
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting 1 April 2026
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Standards — Volume 11
(Amendments)
B BmELERNE5R BBV HEmELE S ER 2 FELGE - F 111 2026F4A1H
BB ELERIETHR
BB ELERIEINR
BB BERELERIE105% &
ARG EAE 7R USETAR)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statement 1 April 2027
BB B EERE 185 W mEREY R IFE 2027F4R1H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 April 2027
Disclosures
BB B ELERE 195 FERRZAEANMBLAGF « K5FE 2027F4R1H
HK Int 5 (Amendments) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification 1 April 2027
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
BARBREESR(EFIA) HIEMERNEY —ERAEHBE I EREEETD 2027F4R1H

EHERSE
HKAS 28 and HKFRS 10
(Amendments)
ARG ERE 289 R BB
SRR FE105(BRTA)

The Group will apply the above new standards, amendments
to existing standards and interpretation when they become
effective.

The new standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretation are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions, except for HKFRS 18 which
will mainly impact the presentation in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and consolidated statement of
cash flows. The Group is still in the process of evaluating
the impact of adoption of HKFRS 18.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined
and its Associate or Joint Venture

BREERAEBENRHAECEZHANEEHERRA HETE

REBMFN EAFETER - RBELER
B RT AN N 7 1 A AR B A b sl 3 2T 2
A MEERSFT A N2 -

BHIZ S ER - BAEERT A
MRBTERAREME S AR KR S
HIM S A N ] RARRH X FE K
EXFE  HERAMBHREELEF 18
FIBREGABRRAEAEER
ERMED - REBNENERAST
BB REERF18RATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

3.1

(a)

100

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, refundable deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade
and other payables and borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in Note 33.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including cash flow interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group
does not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge
the risk exposures. Risk management is regularly carried out
by the senior management of the Company under policies
approved by the executive directors of the Company.

Cash flow interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
except for bank deposits, which earn low interest income.
The Group's operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its borrowings with floating interest rates.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
held at variable rates. The Group has not hedged its cash
flow interest rate risk. Details of the Group's borrowings
have been disclosed in Note 25.

As at 31 March 2025, if interest rates had been increased/
decreased by 100 basis points with all other variables held
constant, profit for the year would increase/decrease by
HK$33,270,000 (2024: HK$35,305,000), resulting from the
changes in finance costs of gross bank borrowings, net of
cash and cash equivalents.

3.1

(a)

B EREE

B mL e B =
AEENTI2ERTABEESEK
R ATRER S REMEUR -
RekBAEEFEY  IRHRTHE
K B S EN BRIE At A FRIE PA
R AERR o 2B T AH)FI5 MM FE33 4
& o

REBEEBAZZBYERER 24
BeneErxmEk  SMNERR - EE

Rl knEE Rk - RE@EEE
[\l B AT B ZI R 2 BT 5 R A
TR - YERBFEREE RN EEG
BERANBETNEE - AEETE
& AAEMOTAE & B T B & & B
A ARBIGREEFRBERNRRH
TEFHENBRERETRRERE

HERBFERE

MR A B RIT RSN EE AR
BEE  RULRIRWFBKRALD o &
SEELEHEREBEBLARED AETIS
MERBIERE - A KB R F R
HEMREZREHFHNRER - %
FEHNERETHNERSAEEERR
SRENXER - LD BIRZBF
ERENRNSAAEE - ARELEE
HMEREREN TR - REENHE
REHE D RH E254K 55

W2026%3A31H » WHELEF T
PE100fEERE - M ATA EMEHREFT
£ BSRITHERAEN ISR A (kK
HeMBESSEY EHSERFRE
FILE b, 75 #33,270,0007T (2024
& : ##35,305,0007T) °
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3.1
(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Vietnam. Most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$, Renminbi
("RMB"), Vietnamese Dong (“VND") and United States
Dollar ("US$"). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily through its sales, purchases and borrowing
transactions denominated in US$. The Group is presently
not using any forward exchange contract to hedge against
foreign exchange risk. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risks by performing regular reviews when
considered necessary and ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level from
time to time.

The directors considered the foreign exchange risk between
HK$ and US$ is minimal as US$ are reasonably stable with
HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System.

As at 31 March 2025, if RMB had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant,
profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 would have
been approximately HK$5,654,000 higher/lower (2024:
HK$12,427,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
and restricted bank deposits held by the Group’s entities in
the PRC.

As at 31 March 2025, if VND had strengthened/weakened
by 2% against HK$ with all other variables held constant,
profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 would have
been approximately HK$96,495,000 higher/lower (2024:
HK$92,365,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank deposits and trade and other payables held
by the Group's entities in Vietnam.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

3.1
(c)

(i)

(i)

102

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of
the Group mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents
(excluding cash on hand), restricted bank deposits, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables. Management
has policies in place to monitor the exposures to these
credit risks on an on-going basis. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Risk management

As at 31 March 2025, cash and cash equivalents (excluding
cash on hand) and the restricted bank deposits of the
Group are all deposited or traded with major reputable
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Vietnam, which management believes are of high credit
quality. Management does not expect any losses from
non-performance by these financial institutions. The Group
has no policy to limit the amount of credit exposure to any
financial institutions.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products on credit terms are made to customers with
appropriate credit history. The Group has not determined
any credit limit for customers, however, the Group performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers. The major trade
debtors have no history of default.

The Group also uses trade receivables factoring facilities to
manage the credit risk of its trade debtors.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss model:

o Trade receivables; and

o Other financial assets carried at amortised cost
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3.1
(c)
(ii)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

While cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand)
are also subject to the impairment requirement of HKFRS 9,
as all banks are rated with a high credit rating, the identified
impairment loss is immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on nature of customer
accounts, the shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.

The Group uses two categories for those trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss allowance is
determined for each of those categories.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

For trade receivables relating to corporate customers
which are listed entities with satisfactory credit history,
expected credit losses are assessed individually for
impairment allowance. As at 31 March 2025, the balances
of such individually assessed trade receivables and the
corresponding loss allowance are HK$597,394,000 (2024:
HK$562,786,000) and HK$2,529,000 (2024: HK$1,797,000),
respectively.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
Other than those trade receivables which were assessed by
individual basis, expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on shared credit
risk characteristics and collectively assessed for the risk of
default, taking into account the nature of the customer, its
geographical location and its ageing category, and applying
the expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the trade receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit
losses and are adjusted by management’'s assessment
to reflect the current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

3.1
(c)
(ii)

104

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
(Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 was determined as follows:

0-30 days

Current  past due

ati

P8 0Z30R8

31 March 2025 HK$'000  HKS$'000
202553A31R AMTT  B%Tn
Gross carrying amount HEREE 219,455 12,158
Loss allowance BlakE (701) (137)

3.1
(c)
(1)

past due

b
31260H
HKS$'000
AR

7,158

(123)

B 75 [ B B R ()

PR E & (#)

=& ERE (&)
EMEERE(E)

E SRR (&)
SEERNEEREE

IR ELE - 8202543 A31H 2024
FIASNHEERBEETENT

0-30 days

Current  past due

il

il 02308

31 March 2024 HK$'000  HK$'000
2024£3A318 AEFT

Gross carrying amount FHEE 296,631 23,424

Loss allowance FERE (1,067) (368)

31-60 days
past due
jal:
312608
HK$'000

BETR

4913

Over

31-60days 61-90days 91-180days 180 days
pastdue  pastdue pastdue Total

k] k] k]
612908 91Z180R 1808 a5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT  E¥Tn  AMTR  EETx
21,056 36,643 98172 460,642
(398) (531) (2,354) (4,244)

Qver

61-90 days 91-180days 180 days

pastdue  pastdue  pastdue

jali jal:i ki

612908 91Z180H  #@iA180A
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AETT  BETT B BB

27,186 79,891 42937 47498

(371) (3,023) (3,523) (8,488)

(136)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group.

Loss allowance on trade receivables are presented as net
loss allowance in the consolidated income statement.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the same line item.

Reversals to the loss allowance were HK$3,512,000 (2024:
HK$819,000), relating to trade receivables, during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

B HEWIRFN L EAS R TRH O
B T AR © 3 R & 3% 78 5 A) U [m] B
REREBABEZEAEEETLER
Al -

B 5 BRI B BB AN R A WS
REVRBREEFE - RO
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HE2025FE3A31BHILFE BHEE
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3,512,000 7T (2024 4F : 7% #819,000
JL) °
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3.1
(c)
(ii)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include deposits
and certain other receivables. These financial assets are
considered to be low credit risk primarily because historically
they had no history of default and the debtors had a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term.

The Group has assessed that the expected credit loss rate
of the deposits and other receivables is close to zero under
12 months expected losses method and thus no provision
was made during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Liquidity risk

The Group finances its working capital requirements through
a combination of funds generated from its operations and
bank borrowings. The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and have sufficient available
funding through committed credit facilities to meet its
working capital requirements. The Group monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve and cash and
cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. The
directors believe that the Group has maintained sufficient
general banking facilities for financing capital commitment in
the near future and for working capital purposes.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of HK$907,831,000 (2024: HK$623,117,000)
and trade receivables of HK$1,051,263,000 (2024:
HK$1,027,483,000) respectively, that are expected to readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The tables below analyse the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

The analysis shows the cash outflow based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements, while
interest payments are computed using contractual rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

3 HKRREEG@E

3.1 FEEREZEE)
(d) FEESEE &)

Within Between Between Over

Tyear 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
—ER -EmE MERE BENE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
j BT BETT BB

As at 31 March 2025 R2025%3531H
Trade payables BHEMER 429,458 - - - 429,458
Accruals and other payables (Note) JERT B A RE MR (M) 492,530 - - 25,095 517,625
Lease liabilities HEaE 29,657 9,386 17,528 125,582 182,153
Borrowings and bank interest payables B REMRTHIE 872,423 2,482,674 1,252,869 - 4,607,966
1,824,068 2,492,060 1,270,397 150,677 5,737,202

As at 31 March 2024 R2024%35318
Trade payables BHEMER 390,330 - - - 390,330
Accruals and other payables B BRREMEMNTE 225,220 - - 10,444 235,664
Lease liabilities HEaE 43,897 22,195 36,441 40,538 142,071
Borrowings and bank interest payables ERRERRTTE 661,399 2,279,669 1,482,545 - 4,423,613
1,320,846 2,301,864 1,517,986 50,982 5,191,678

Note: Included in “Accruals and other payables” as at 31 March BiFE : 20253 A31H » FFATEFEAK

2025 were refundable deposits received from certain potential
customers.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

HAth JERTFOR | AU ECE TEEEFH
RERS -

3.2 DAV {EMEE
TRIBEE 8 A TEE A G ERN
B\ BB S R A E E R 2025F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the
Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value:

Level 1
-

HK$°000
BT

As at 31 March 2025 M202553H31H
Assets BE
Insurance policy investments {REHRE =

Trade receivables carried at & AF(EF AEM
FVOCI 2EBEHIRR
B Z R =

e RBRRME

BREREE @)

DNPERE (80
TRENAREEZ QA TFEAENS R
BERBENHRFERER

Level 2 Level 3 Total
et E=M @ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BYTT

- 239,335

239,335

- 129,790 129,790

Level 1
&

HK$'000
BETT

As at 31 March 2024 M202453H31H
Assets BE
Insurance policy investments {REHRE -

Trade receivables carried at IR A BT AEAL
FVOCI 2EMEHNRR
B S REUBRK -

Level 2 Level 3 Total
B BE= FaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETT BETR

- 220,242

220,242

- 262,634 262,634

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there
were no transfers of financial assets and liabilities between
level 1, level 2 and level 3.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange
or dealer, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.

H E2025F K2024FE3A31 B 1L F
B F—% F_LERE=H2EH
BEMEERBBEEE -

F-REHBITA
EERMSEENEMIANATEE
RIERIRE B EBE RSN TISRERE
TE o MNEERERF R E ISR B AT
SEmE HZEBERAREZLTR
AERRTHETHTERS @ B1F
BTG AE RIS - AEEAT
BEMEEMAMSREABEITEA
B ZETANAE & -
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3.2
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise
the use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the investment is included in level 3.

For the fair value of insurance policy investments that is
not traded in an active market, the Chief Financial Officer
with the assistance of external valuer determined its fair
value based on the higher of cash surrender value and fair
value determinated by discounted cash flow model. The
significant unobservable inputs that determine the fair value
is cash surrender value, which is contractually agreed upon
entering into the insurance contract.

The fair value of trade receivables carried at FVOCI is
determined using discounted cash flow. Future cash flow is
estimated based on the contractual amount, discounted at
quoted factoring rate with banks in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2025, if quoted factoring rate had been
50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, there would have been approximately HK$52,000
(2024: HK$116,000) unfavourably/favourably change on the
fair value of the trade receivables carried at FVOCI.
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3.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)
The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Insurance policy investments

e RBRRME

BREREE @)

AFELF @)

BB ITAE)
TREFEHE2025%F 202453 A31
BIEFEME=RTAES -

RERE

2025 2024

2025 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

As at 1 April ®4A1H8 220,242 202,155

Additions NE 10,116 11,481

Disposal & (892) (808)
Fair value gain recognised to REM 2k ERD

other comprehensive income N AW 9,869 7,414

As at 31 March MN3A31H 239,335 220,242

Trade receivables carried at FVOCI/

B R FlEFG AR M E Wz 5 kA&
SIEW IR

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BRI

As at 1 April ®4A1H 262,634 158,633

Additions NE 2,429,855 3,686,951

Disposals HeE (2,561,830) (3,522,440)
Fair value loss recognised to REA 2 E =R

other comprehensive income NHEEE (869) (60,510)

As at 31 March MR3IA31H 129,790 262,634
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e RBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it
can continue to provide returns for shareholder and benefits
for other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholder, return capital to
shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had a gearing ratio
of 105%. This ratio is calculated as net debts (represented
by bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents) divided
by total equity. The gearing ratios were as follows:

3

3.3

B 75 [ B B R ()

EXEBER
AEEEREANABRARELFE
LB KMEBRRREHRD
BRBEMMSAREEREN S - I
ERREERRBAREERKE -
REFXRABERRE - AEEA &
AERNTREOBESE - MR
REEAR - BITHBRHHEEREENR
DIEF

AEEBFREEBBLRERER -
20254 220243 A318 » A&EE
BEABBHLEAI06%  ZLERUE
BEFEENRITERRES A SEE
PBR AR BEEAE - BEEBEBLE
LUNNE

2025
20254

2024

20244
HK$'000

BT

HK$'000
BT T

Total borrowings (Note 25) tEsk s EE (M3E25) 4,234,814 4,153,627

Less: )

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) Be MREEEY(HH:E22) (907,831) (623,117)

Net debt BEFE 3,326,983 3,630,510

Total equity 48R 3,163,915 3,370,475

Gearing ratio EEAMGLE 105% 105%
3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 34 EEieREEREMAR

No financial assets and financial liabilities were subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or
similar agreements as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same).
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial
impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less cost to sell.
These estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of similar nature. Write-downs of inventories are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write-downs requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write-downs of inventories in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. Management reassesses these
estimates at each reporting date.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the loss allowances
for trade receivables based on the assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation which is based on the customer’s
past settlement pattern, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in Note 3.1(c)(ii).
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(c)

(d)

112

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Vietnam. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences would impact the current tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is likely that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. When the expectations are
different from the original estimates, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax charges in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations and
competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives are different from previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by the chief operating decision-
maker ("“CODM") that are used to make strategic decisions.
The CODM is identified as the Executive Directors of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the CODM assessed
the performance of the Group mainly from the product
perspective. The Group is organised into four segments
engaged in manufacturing and trading of:

(i) Intimate wear — manufacturing and trading of bras, bra
tops, panties, shapewear and swimwear.

(i) Sports products — manufacturing and trading of sports
bras, sports leggings, sports shorts and sports tops.

(i)  Consumer electronics components — production and
trading of virtual reality (VR) headsets and tablet PC
accessories.

(iv/ Bra pads and other accessory products —
manufacturing and trading of bras pads, one piece
moulded hats, footwear and other accessory products
for further processing.

The CODM reviews the performance of the Group on a
regular basis and reviews the Group’'s internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
The CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of segment results, including
gross profit of the operating segments. Information relating
to segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as such
information is not regularly reported to the CODM. Other
information provided to the CODM is measured in a manner
consistent with that as adopted for the consolidated financial
information statements herein.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2EER @
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2025 are HZE2025F3 A3 HILFERN D IS
as follows: I

Bra pads
Consumer and other
Intimate Sports electronics accessory
wear products components products Total
MR
BIRK EBER HEETES AtRAER @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETR BETR BETR BETR
Total segment revenue DB (RE-EETER)
(Recognised at a point
intime) 4,243,404 2,934,150 408,923 253,566 7,840,043
Gross profit/segment results  E7 /P E£LE 1,047,215 652,849 79,127 53,376 1,832,567
Other income HioA 33,381
Distribution and selling expenses 75 &R (174,076)
General and administrative —RRABRER
expenses (634,466)
Research and development costs FF3A & (303,305)
Other operating expenses i emx (218,459)
Finance income BB 2,014
Finance costs BBRA (343,959)
Share of net profit of EREREARRER
associates accounted for NGyl
using equity method 21,075
Profit before income tax BT EREIER 220,772
Income tax expenses FIEHAY (36,881)
Profit for the year EREF 183,891
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FEMBRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 Z2EER@
Other segment item included in the consolidated income HIABZE2025F3A31 B IEFERERE
statement for the year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: WEHRREM D LEE AT ¢

Bra pads

Consumer and other

Intimate Sports electronics accessory
wear products components products Total

R
BERE BBER  REETEf  AtE4ER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BRI AT ARTT

Depreciation for property, SABENARNNE  BER
plant and equipment and RENREREEENE
right-of-use assets included

in cost of sales 201,956 138,759 23,275 12,768 376,758
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment and right-of- mME - -BMELRXBEBULRFEHESR
use assets of HK$376,758,000 has been charged in “cost E T & /5 ¥ 376,758,000 7T - B &
of sales”, HK$101,285,000 has been charged in “general 101,285,000 7T & 7% ¥ 9,781,000 L E
and administrative expenses” and HK$9,781,000 has DRETATSEERA] - [— M RITBHA
been charged in “research and development expenses” R EERY ] -

respectively.

FFIR4E2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 115
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REMBRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2EER @
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2024 are HE2024F3A31BIEFER DB FEE
as follows: I

Bra pads
Consumer and other
Intimate Sports electronics accessory
wear products components products
BFAK BHEmD REETH AR ER
HK$'000 HK$'000 1 HK$'000
BT BRI it e BT
Total segment revenue DB (RE-EETER)
(Recognised at a point
intime) 4121437 2,311,620 285,616 298,229 7,016,802
Gross profit/segment results £ /A% 976,881 493713 52,743 60,230 1,583,567
Other income 0N 24,257
Distribution and selling expenses 75 &R (152,270)
General and administrative —RRABRER
expenses (561,126)
Research and development costs FF3A & (267,463)
Other operating expenses i emx 173,296
Finance income HHHA 2341
Finance costs BBRA (336,956
Share of net profit of EREREARRER
associates accounted for NGyl
using equity method 33,123
Profit before income tax BT EREIER 152,177
Income tax expenses FIEHAY 9,002)
Profit for the year ERah] 143,175
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2HER @
Other segment item included in the consolidated income FIAEZE2024F3A31 B IEFEMGE
statement for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows: WEHRREM D LEE AT ¢

Bra pads

Consumer and other

Intimate Sports electronics accessory
wear products components products

i
X

BEMK B85 REETEN  AtERER
HK$'000 f HK$'000 HK$'000
AR BRI BT

Depreciation for property, SABENARNNE  BER
plant and equipment and RENREREEENE
right-of-use assets included

in cost of sales 236,667 127,231 26,310 21,437 411,645
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment and right-of- ME  BMELRBUARERES
use assets of HK$411,645,000 has been charged in “cost = I B B # 411,645,000 7T~ B B
of sales”, HK$98,866,000 has been charged in “general 98,866,000 7T K /& # 7,060,000 E 2
and administrative expenses” and HK$7,060,000 has BIET ATSEER A | ~ [ — MR K17
been charged in “research and development expenses” SRR R

respectively.
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e RBRRME

5
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oHER @
Revenue from external customers based on the destination BEZFPEMNMEI S HINIEEE A
of the customers are as follows: I
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
United States EJE| 3,437,361 3,243,601
The People’s Republic of China FREARAFMBE(THE])

("The PRC") 1,533,869 1,383,477
Europe BOM 1,162,800 836,191
Japan B 527,575 454,311
South-east Asia (Note a) REgoe(M5Ta) 263,378 270,680
Hong Kong ) 120,649 110,685
South Asia (Note b) EEEE)) 79,928 69,307
Other countries/regions (Note c) HEMER R (Mic) 714,483 648,550

7,840,043 7,016,802
Note a: Includes Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Philippines, Vietnam fizta : EIEHFRAED NERAER - M
and Thailand. ¥ JERE - WP EERE -
Note b: Includes Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and India. Mistb :  EIERINN - HEBRREE -
Note ¢: Includes Canada, Taiwan, Australia and others. Mizkc : BENEKX - &&  BINREMD -

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the Executive
Directors.

Non-current assets, other than deposits, deferred tax assets
and insurance policy investments, of the Group are located
in the following geographical areas:

RN EEHANTEFTRHEDLE
EINBEENER  BALEZID
BEEIDHEENIN -

AEBENFRBDEEBRES - BEH
HEENMREREINUNATHIER

15 :

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000

ik - e TEEEF T

Vietnam o] 3,614,124 3,845,888
The PRC & 1,390,064 1,366,768
Hong Kong BA 86,140 115,357
5,090,328 5,328,013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2HER @

An analysis of the Group’s major customers, each of which ZEEAEE10% KA LN AR
accounts for 10% or more of the Group's external revenue, is AEEFEZELOTWMT ¢

as follows:

Customer Location Segments 2025 2024
BF g 2% 2025 20245

HK$'000 HK$'000
RETR  BETR

Customer A ZEFA United States 6 Intimate wear and sports ~ BE S AKX REFER

products 1,568,493 1,155,020
Customer B EFB Japan = Intimate wear and sports ~ BE S AKX REFER
products 1,068,444 968,639
As a practical expedient, no disclosure was made for the ERFITRERE BHRBEHEENE
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the EAREEHRER—FIUATEHN
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially — &85 MR 2025F 3 A31 HEEER
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same), because AEEERABIT(HH D HKRETT)E
such performance obligations are part of contracts having an HETHR B ERBTEIELHE(2024
original expected duration of one year or less. & MR) o
OTHER INCOME 6 HflA
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Scrap sales income EEREMEE IR A 4,829 14,205
Government grants BB 1,448 947
Realised gain/(loss) on HERBZEND FIR

disposal of insurance Wz (Es18)

policy investment 178 (218)
Gain on disposal and HENMETFRAEESERS

modification of

right-of-use assets 7,530 -
Fair value gain on WEMEN DT ERE

investment properties 481 -
Impairment loss on RELE QR E R REEE

investment in associate (Mfzx18)

(Note 18) (1,897) =
Insurance claim (Note) R AR (MIFE) 17,256 =
Others Hitb 3,556 9,323

33,381 24,257
Note: For the year ended 31 March 2025, insurance compensation of fisE : BZE2025F3A31HIEFE - shAMW
HK$17,256,000 was recorded in relation to the damages on the BREEESIBAEEYENTEIER
Group's properties and inventories resulted from Typhoon Yagi in BRISR MR BT &S 517,256,0007T ©
Vietnam.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BRMEESNAX

Amortisation of intangible assets

B EE#E(MHE16)

2025
20255

HK$'000
BT T

2024
20244
HK$'000
BT T

(Note 16) 7,295 7,613
Depreciation of property, plant and W BEMRETE

equipment (Note 13) (PfF5E13) 450,339 462,182
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENTE(ME14)

(Note 14) 37,485 55,389
Consumables M 254,083 224,726
Cost of inventories sold (Note 19) EEFEMA(FIEE19) 2,946,950 2,723,889
Inventory write-off (Note a) FEMHE(F5Ea) 23,163 -
Reversal of loss allowance of trade E 5 R ER SR B e B

receivables (Note 20) (FfF5E20) (3,512) (819)
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EBEMALZ(HEs) 2,791,743 2,385,068
Restructuring costs (Note b) SAKA(MsEb) 218,459 173,296
Auditor's remuneration ZE RN &

— Audit services —ZERA 3,300 3,300

— Non-audit services — IR 1,698 1,401
Bank charges RITEA 5,414 4,537
Donations SR 1,691 988
Freight and transportation expenses EENREHFAY 50,831 43,057
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME  BENREER

plant and equipment, net of (Wezs) » fEREARRA

restructuring costs 7,954 (4,611)
Utilities NIRRT 189,754 171,761
Gain on disposal and modification of HEMERFRESERS

right-of-use assets - (2,294)
Expense relating to short-term leases  HRIEEATH SRS (HH3E14)

(Note 14) 76,322 50,590
Others Hih 274,813 287,317
Total cost of sales, distribution and HERA  DHEMEERY

selling expenses, general and —MRITERBASZ  FEER AR

administrative expenses, research LA ELAb 45 25 B <2 48 %8

and development costs and other

operating expenses 7,337,782 6,587,390

Notes: B
a) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has written- a) BHZE20253A3MHILEE - AEED

34 1F 2 497%8%23,163,0007T * HAFARA
BYOH B AK 4B 7] B8 1M 64 7% %6 8,991,000
TR AR R E B S| BUE MBS
#14,172,0007T °

off inventories of approximately HK$23,163,000, of which
HK$8,991,000 resulted from cancelled order of finished goods
and HK$14,172,000 resulted from damaged goods due to typhoon
Yagi.

HZE2025F3A3THILEFE + A%
ERFVNREEZBAEERANDE
BREH N B MESPIINERELNS
#% 180,589,000 7T ( 2024 & : & ¥
133,869,000 7T ) K& [ & & E # 8 49
7 # 37,870,000 7T ( 2024 F : & #
39,427,0007T) °

b) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred b)
exceptional severance payments of approximately HK$180,589,000
(2024: HK$133,869,000) and write-off of fixed assets of
approximately HK$37,870,000 (2024: HK$39,427,000) as a result
of the reallocation of production capacity and human resources
between Shenzhen and Zhaoging.

BEREAKANGA KGR B G SRR
PR -

Such restructuring costs are charged to “other operating expenses” in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

8

e RBRRME

E)ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁi(@ﬁ%%@ﬂ

2025
20254

2024
20244
HK$'000
BT

HK$'000
BT T

Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances T& - ¥4 - JE4T K2R 2,413,360 2,031,394

Retirement benefit costs — defined RIRERIBN AR — E R T8l
contribution schemes (Note (a)) (F3E(a) 261,396 244171
Staff welfare and benefits BITREN KA 115,952 105,767
Long service payment RERG S 1,035 3,736
2,791,743 2,385,068

Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution
schemes

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and its employees make monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under
the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s
and the employees’ contributions were subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 on monthly basis and thereafter contributions are
voluntary.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Vietnam are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the local governments. The Group contributes
a certain percentage of the salaries of the subsidiaries’
employees, and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions. The state-managed retirement plans
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
the retired employees.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include five (2024: five) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 35.

FEERE2024/256 ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

(a)

(b)

RAKBRIAR A — E RS E

AEBLZHETERESMBHIER
EetE((REeta])  BESF
8|S mEY X EABTENERBURE
2 - RIBBEEEE  AEELHE
EXAEAREEAS(ERZRBRHIE
REEED) 5% MatEIEH K - &
SEREEZEANEARKLRAE
#1,5007C - BHZESEOHRA S
1EBRRIEHK -

AR R B K B0 BT R B9
B BT 2 ENBRE R RKEFE
K E - AEBRMBARIEESH
TH—EBADLER - BRFEHRK
S BERER SRR IORIKER
BNABE—FEE BREELRIAK
FEAERRKERXNEIRAKE

hEEEHFAL
FRFAEEAERSFALTEERS
(2024%F : RE)ESE - HEMRH
35M DT AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 HIBRAFE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T FEEETIT
Finance income EUE AL N
— interest income on bank deposits —RITIFF B WA 2,014 2,271
— other interest income —HFBUA = 70
2,014 2,341
Finance costs BT AR
—interest expense on bank borrowings  —$RITE A BRI X (272,144) (267,304)
— factoring interests and charges —REFERER (64,070) (59,848)
—interest expense on lease liabilites  —fE&EF S8BT
(Note 14) (M7£14) (7,802) (9,431)
- unwinding interest — BB B 57 (373)
(343,959) (336,956)
Finance costs, net TG R A 558 (341,945) (334,615)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024

Directly held by the Company

KNREERE

Regina Miracle International
{Holdings) Limited

B RER (12R)BR AT

Registered
capital/issued
and fully paid

share capital
i o
ERARARRE

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

ERERLBER
ARERRRE

Indirectly held by the Company

FRRBERE

Regina Miracle International
(Group) Limited

BYRER(EB)BERAT

Regina Miracle International
Limited
B RERERAR

Honour First (Hong Kong)
Limited
ER(ER)ERAF

Regina Miracle Intimate
Apparel (Shenzhen)
Co., Limited
EREYRAK(AINERAT

Regina Miracle (Shenzhen)
Limited
EZRAK(FINBERAT

British Virgin Islands, US$100
limited liability company 100%E7T

FERRHS
BREFAT

Hong Kong, limited liability ~ HK$5,000,000
company 755,000,007

it EREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability HK$100
company 1007

it EREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability HK$10,000
company 758£10,0007T

it EREALA

The PRC, limited liability HK$300,000,000
company* #%300,000,0007C

HE - EREALRY

The PRC, limited liability HK$20,000,000
company* 78120,000,0007T

E - ARALAF)

FEERE2024/256 ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

10

Effective interest
held (%)

FEERER (AL

2025
20255

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

e RBRRME

B S 2 =]

TR AMK2025F3 A31H K&2024F3 A
3N EBMBEAR]

Principal activities and
place of operation

FTEERREENE
2024
20244

100%  Investment holding in the
British Virgin Islands

REBRAFBETRARR

100%  Trading of brassieres and
panties, and sports products
in Hong Kong

REBEENERAER
EBER

100%  Trading of bra pads and other
accessory products in Hong
Kong

REBEEMTRAMRER

100%  Provision of sales agency and
information technology
services in Hong Kong

REBREHEREREARER
iR

100%  Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties, and functional sports
products in the PRC

B E N E R R
EBER

100%  Manufacturing of bra pads and
other accessory products in
the PRC

ReBAERNR RABE A ER
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e RBRRME

10 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Registered
capital/issued
and fully paid

share capital
ERER/
ERTRABRRE

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

SRR
HERRRE

Indirectly held by the Company (Continued)

KARHEERE ()

Regina Miracle Innovative
Technology (ZhaoQing)
Co., Ltd

BYRBEIRE(ER)ARAF

Lijing Regina Miracle Intimate
Apparel (ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd.
BREVEAK(EE)BRAT

Regina Miracle International
(Vietnam) Limited
EDRER (4R BRAR

Regina Miracle International
(Vietnam) Limited
EDRER (4R BRAR

Regina Miracle International
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd.

Regina Miracle International
Hung Yen Co., Ltd.

The PRC, limited liability ~ RMB190,000,000
company? ARE

HE - EREERAN 190,000,0007T

The PRC, limited liability ~ RMB360,000,000
company? ARE

HE - AREERAN 360,000,0007T

British Virgin Islands, US$1
limited liability company E

RBRIES
BREEAT

Hong Kong, limited liability HK$10,000
company 75#10,0007C

&% BRELRA

Vietnam, limited liability US$933,916,143
company 933,916,143% 7T

E - BREARA

US$103,811,854
103,811,854 7T

Vietnam, limited liability
company
WE - BREERA

Regina Miracle Management ~ Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1
Limited company BT
BYREBRERAT EE - AREERT
Regina Miracle Fung Hong Kong, limited liability HK$100
Ying Limited company BE1007T
EYREREB AT EA EREENAA
# Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law
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10 MIEB2A T @)

Effective interest
held (%)

Principal activities and
place of operation

iRk (B2L)
2025 2024
20256 2004%F

IREUREELY

100% 100%  Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties and fabric masks in
the PRC

IAE A ERE RAEL RO E

100% 100%  Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties, and functional sports
products in the PRC

B A E R AL kI
EHER

100% 100%  Investment holding in the
British Virgin Islands

REBRIHBETRELER

100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Kong

NEBETRESER

100% 100%  Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties, bra pads and sports
products in Vietnam

PR EERERAE - R
EHER

100% 100%  Manufacturing of semi-finished
goods in Vietnam

100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Kong

NEBETRESER

100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Kong

REBETREER

# REPEERZMAIEBEDRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group
is eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated entity
in the Group to be chargeable at the two-tiered profits
tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable on the
first HK$2 million of assessable profits at 8.25% and
assessable profits above this threshold will be subject to a
rate of 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax for other Hong Kong
incorporated entities in the Group has been provided for at
the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits.

The applicable tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
is 25% for the year ended 31 March 2025 except for one
subsidiary that is subject to a reduced tax rate of 15% under
the High and New Technological Enterprise programme
(2024: Same).

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau
of the PRC (the “PRC Tax Authority”) and effective from
2008 onwards, enterprises engaged in research and
development activities are entitled to claim 150% to 175%
of the research and development expenses so incurred in
a period as tax deductible expenses in determining its tax
assessable profits for that period (“Super Deduction”). The
PRC Tax Authority has further issued a notice to announce
on a further increase of the Super Deduction claim to 200%
from 2022 onwards.

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietnam were
subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20% (2024:
20%). In accordance with the applicable tax regulations,
preferential tax rates and tax holidays are granted to new
investment projects based on regulated encouraged sectors,
encouraged locations, and size of the projects.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income
statement represents:

e RBRRME

11 FISHAX

HZE2024F & 2025F3A31HIEF
B AEEAREAEEA—HES
ST Ak 37 B B H R4S A A AR Il A
MmERBE28 BITH ERT &M g E
8.25% M R FE T - #BBZ KT
B JE R T E B A8 12 16.5% Bt AT -
AEBRNEMFTBSFMRLEEN
BB IF B IR (4 5 R B E A
16.5% B EEHR R o

B — K B A R IR S R T (218
BERZE15%MF R - HZE2025F
SABMALEFE A&EEFEMBE QA
KB A X A25% (20244 « 4HR) -

RIEREBERFLG AR ([ RS #
78 1) FT 2B 46 B 2008 F AR A JH A — TH I
BoOREMBIRINCERRAEET
A T AR B 54 R B 3 n A P 7 A MO B
BT 160% E175% B3R AI IR X
(TOnET40BR 1) - PEFIBEE D E—
BHERE  SHMFTIKREBERES
2022F fRiEE—HIRHE200% ©

R R ILEERNME A FAE20%
(202445 : 20% ) BIFE RGN 2 FR15
o MIBEARIEER  BRTFHRE
BHEMEEREREMBDIEZRE
SHETYE  THEWERREARES
fF: °

ERERA KSR T IRRH TR S BN

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T ST

Current income tax BUERRTIS B

— Hong Kong profits tax — BB MEFR 21,057 8,927

— PRC enterprise income tax — R EAER 5,000 4,080

- Overseas income tax —BINTIEHL 33,536 11,521
Over provision in prior years RIBAEFEBERE (22,443) (29,490)
Deferred income tax (Note 26) EIEFTEH (M 7E26) (269) 13,964
Income tax expenses FRiSHi 2 36,881 9,002
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

11

(a)

126

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the group
companies as follows:

1

P& X )

7N ER BB PS5 A s A B9 B TR R BR R
508 FA 7 5 [ 2 R M O AN S 19 R R
BHMEREENERNT

2024
20244

HK$'000
BETT

Profit before income tax B PS5 B A 220,772 152,177
Tax calculated at domestic tax REARNEER AR ETFIR
rate applicable to profits Bl AT Rt E TR
in respective jurisdictions (18,825) (36,425)
Tax effects of: M E
Income not subject to tax BERBAA (36,423) (9,301)
Expenses not deductible for RO I 2
taxation purpose 30,443 12,477
Utilisation of previously AR AR TR
unrecognised tax losses (3,496) -
Tax losses for which no deferred BHERE DR SR EER
income tax asset was recognised HRIEER 92,063 77,206
Tax effect of share of FEIRE & N E AR FEBR
net profit of associates s e (4,438) (5,465)
Over provision in prior years BEFEREEE (22,443) (29,490)
Income tax expenses Frisfif s 36,881 9,002

OECD Pillar two model rules

The Group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model
rules. Pillar Two legislation was enacted in Vietnam, the
jurisdiction in which certain subsidiaries of Regina Miracle
International (Holdings) Limited are incorporated, and has
come into effect from 1 January 2024. The group applies
the exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two
income taxes, as provided in the amendments to HKAS 12
issued in July 2023.

Under the legislation, the Group is liable to pay a top-up tax
for the difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion
Proposal (“GloBE") effective tax rate for each jurisdiction
and the 15% minimum rate.

(a)

RESFERRAEASIE &K
# Al
AEBBREESIEERRAM ST
ZEARAMEE - TEEE B (4%
&) BERAEHTHB A BT
FERAERMEC AR IS
BE2024F1 A1BRRAEMR - BIER2023
FIAEBHEBSFERE 125 (8
FIR)FE AT AEEEAERK
BEABIHE_MEHRHNECHEE
ERABEERNFIIMER

REILE  AKEAEEHEEA
EREEHEBRREMNETR
([GloBE ) MY B IR B K B AR K 16%
Z RS R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 11 B w)
OECD Pillar two model rules (Continued) (a) RESEBRBRESIE_EHLR
Al (@)
Due to the complexities in applying the legislation and R ERA KT EGIoBEW A4 -
calculating GloBE income, the quantitative impact of the WEAGE BN EER/M L ENE
enacted or substantively enacted legislation is not yet (b BEHABME - Al - 2HE
reasonably estimable. Therefore, even for those entities BHESMN15%MNZEEEIA S
with an accounting effective tax rate above 15%, there may B E—BEYE RRAXHE -V
still be Pillar Two tax implications. This is due to the impact ERR ST E AR ERERT
of possible specific adjustments envisaged in the Pillar REABIER S ERE 125 E M
Two legislation which may give rise to different effective MEBTME -
tax rates compared to those calculated in accordance with
HKAS 12.
EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 SRER
Basic (a) EZFR
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit EREAXRBFIZARRREAR ARG
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted FIBRAF AR T @A INE T8
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. =tE o
2025 2024
20254 20244
Profit attributable to owners of RAEIHA AFEMS =T
the Company (HK$'000) (BEEFIT) 183,891 143,175
Weighted average number of BT MmN
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F1%) 1,224,250 1,224,250
Basic earnings per share FREREF]
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AR ZS) 15.0 11.7
Diluted (b) #8
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March HE2025F 20243831 B IEE
2025 and 2024 are the same as the basic earnings per share B BRI ERTEEE S EmAR
as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued. B RN R R EARZNFER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BERRE

Leasehold Plantand Office furniture  Computer Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  andfixtures  equipment vehicles i progress Total

HOBER

f7 AENRKE  ERRAR  ERKE EESR AE HRIE it
HSODD  HKBOD  HKSODD  HKBOD  HKSODD  HKOD  HKSODO  HKSOOO
n #btm BT AT AT T T

Year ended 31 March 2024 BENMEIRNALER

Opening nit ook amount ENEEFE 12849 1236912 1388143 9097 10818 8490 196350 4246304
Additons HE 283,33 8,601 112113 2018 10,260 6,678 %074 625,09
Disposalshiteof e /B - (60,008 8.397) o7) (145) ) - (69,545
Transfernfou) £)/(h) 747 69,545 2070 9240 3449 - (91978 -
Depreciaton g 7565 (62722 (155809) (43,080] (21,256 3,624) B AL
Currency transation differences ~ EE#EEEE #1519 (3,274) w20 (3,066) (1,160) (296) (3726 (129268
Closing net book amont EXEmIA 1467130 113307 1294083 81237 31,95 11208 1870 4210405
As at 31 March 2024 2024538318

Cost B 184255 20306 244790 53735 27691 47003 B0 753906
Aecumulated depreciaton ESi BO7125 (1090880 (1153876 (50118 (15726) (3,777) - 3330
Net book amount FHEE 167130 113307 1294083 81237 31,965 11208 1870 4210405

Year ended 31 March 2025 BEABFIENALEE

Opening net book amourt EERTE 1467130 1133074 1294083 81231 31,965 11,26 15720 4210405
Additions i 1907 60973 199,762 56,006 229 6,695 25,164 31801
Disposelsifiteof e /i (263) (49,405 (1,78) (4412) (1129 12 - (62.964)
Transfern/out] g\/1) 2262 15,804 2448 8,898 3,982 8 (60,481) =
Depreciation & (80111) (154619 (154531) (37.954) (18,869) (4,249) - (403%9)
Curency ranslaton differences ~ §¥AEEE (49518) (36,897) (43.130) (3194) (862) (2n) (1,189) (135,061)
Closing net book amount FRERTE 1,368,407 98930 1290853 106,581 37,381 13476 09214 3,934,802
Asat 31 March 2025 2025538318

Cost s 1832650 2064560 2449166 515,821 254022 49,97 09214 7314730
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (464243 (1095630) (1158313 (409240)  [216641) (3,821) - [33198%8)
Net book amount EEYE 1368407 98930 1290853 106581 31381 13476 W4 393480
Depreciation expense charged in consolidated income RS WRRNBOTERYDOT

statement is as follows:

Cost of sales FHERK A 363,472 379,198
General and administrative expenses — M RITH R 77,086 75,955
Research and development costs RSN 9,781 7,029

450,339 462,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

14 LEASES 14 HE
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (i) RGEEEAEBREIANEE
sheet
Right-of-use assets RAREE
Leasehold
land and
land use
Buildings Equipment rights Total
HETHE
BF RiE LR st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BT ok BT T BT
Year ended 31 March 2024 B Z2024%3A31H
LHEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 129,279 17,593 331,487 478,359
Additions N 10,369 16,588 58,290 85,247
Disposals HE (12,388) - - (12,388)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (KIEE7) (43,461) (2,161) (9,767) (55,389)
Modification of lease HE® - 574 - 574
Transfer to investment properties ~ EEHEHEYE
(Note 15) (PFF3E15) - - (12,596) (12,596)
Currency translation differences e = (5,193) (484) (9,452) (15,129)
Closing net book amount EREmEE 78,606 32,110 357,962 468,678
As at 31 March 2024 ®2024%F3H31H
Cost [B%N 418,259 35,875 416,518 870,652
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiE (339,653) (3,765) (58,556) (401,974)
Net book amount BREHE 78,606 32,110 357,962 468,678
Year ended 31 March 2025 HZ202553831H
LHEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 78,606 32,110 357,962 468,678
Additions =Y 25,953 17,628 47,728 91,309
Disposals e (45,576) = = (45,576)
Depreciation (Note 7) HrE(ME?) (24,265) (2,477) (10,743) (37,485)
Modification of lease HERE 15,043 - 30,998 46,041
Currency translation differences B E AR 11 (1,232) (13,450) (14,671)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 49,772 46,029 412,495 508,296
As at 31 March 2025 #2025%3H31H
Cost B 93,089 52,421 479,770 625,280
Accumulated depreciation RitifE (43,317) (6,392) (67,275) (116,984)
Net book amount IREFE 49,772 46,029 412,495 508,296
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

14 LEASES (continued) 14 BHE @)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (i) REREEEEREIANEHE
sheet (Continued) (%)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHELE(E)
Depreciation expense of HK$13,286,000 (2024: PTER B 13,286,0007T (2024 4F -
HK$32,447,000) has been charged in ‘cost of sales’, 75 #£32,447,0007T) ~ & #24,199,000
HK$24,199,000 (2024: HK$22,911,000) in ‘general and T1(2024%F © #9292 911,00070) B =
administrative expenses’ and nil (2024: HK$31,000) in (20244 : 7B¥31,00070) B BITEl 38
‘research and development expenses’, respectively. ERA] [ —RRRITEFE S | RT3
FsZ IR IRk -
Lease liabilities HESE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T T IT
Non-current FERED
— Buildings —EF 33,600 49,510
- Equipment — &1 46,278 32,476
- Leasehold land and land use rights — TR 43 N+ M (F A A 28,994 -
108,872 81,986
Current B
— Buildings —EF 24,979 39,347
— Equipment — R 3,081 1,311
— Leasehold land and land use rights — M E b e £ s A AE 187 -
28,247 40,658_ i
137,119 122,644

130 REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #2{REIR(IZR)ER QR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

14 LEASES (continued) 14 HE @)
(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (i) NEZEWERBIRANESE
statement
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Depreciation charge of EREEENERX
right-of-use assets
Buildings Etes 24,265 43,461
Equipment B 2,477 2,161
Leasehold land and land use rights  fA& +th &z + i s Fi 4 10,743 9,767
7 37,485 55,389
Interest expense B
(included in finance costs) (FEABITSRAR) 9 7,802 9,431
Expense relating to short-term leases B4 HATR EH AN < 7 76,322 50,590
84,124 60,021
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflow HZE2025FE3A3MBILFE - BEEH
for leases were HK$104,860,000 (2024: HK$104,829,000). IR 48%8 5% %104,860,0007T

(20244 : #%104,829,0007T) °

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (iii) ~ZEENEETHIREAERFR
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, factories, equipment NEFBHESETFTRAZ  WE - £
and staff quarters. Rental contracts are typically made in FETITELS MHEALY—MREERE
accordance to the lease terms. IEFRETAL ©

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HEETIREREREITER - EX
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The BEHR AR - FHERZI EmiEN
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than F AR MHEBAAREEERESE
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by HEHRE SRR c HEBETERE
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for BRI o

borrowing purposes.
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REMBRRMEE

15

132

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REWE
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT IT
Opening balance at 1 April R4R1BFE AR 115,589 -
Transfer-in from right-of-use assets BEEAEEEEA(ME14)

(Note 14) = 12,596
Fair value gains N ERE 481 102,993
Exchange differences PE N =58 (1,205) -
Closing balance at 31 March R3A31HWFEREER 114,865 115,589

The Group has changed the use of certain leasehold land
and land use rights in the PRC during the year ended
31 March 2024. Prior to the change in use, the relevant
buildings were classified as right-of-use assets and had
been measured at its cost less accumulated depreciation
upon the change in use, these buildings are stated at their
fair value. The Group valued using the sales comparison
approach based on recent sales of comparable properties in
the proximity of the area. The Group engaged an external,
independent and qualified valuer to determine the fair value
of the Group’'s investment properties at the end of the
financial year. Valuation has been performed for the land and
buildings classified as investment properties as at 31 March
2024 and 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 as a result of
the revaluation these residential properties and the
corresponding right-of-use assets have been transferred to
investment properties measured at fair value. A revaluation
surplus of HK$102,993,000 has been recognised in other
comprehensive income on the same date.

HZE2024F3A31HILFE - AEEE
B EETRAE LN i FE
W% - BRA%A - BAEFHE
BERAEEE - WINERERARRET
WEE - ERRE  wESEFR
AFEVNEE o AEBIZI A ZMET]
BHRYERTHAEEERAHEEL
BORETHE - REBFER - &%
EZEIINBLAERGEMEBEER
EEIEEYWENDTE - B2024F K
2025%3A318 - AEBE DR HHERK
BYERN T REFIERITHE -

HZE2024F3A31BILFE » ZEEE
MERBEEAEEECRENHE
BEBRERATEAZENREDE -
EHAHB102,993,000cERF A
fEEAMEE TR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

e RBRRME

16 BLEE

Computer
software

e
HK$'000
BT T

As at 1 April 2023 M2023F4H18
Cost B X 109,789
Accumulated amortisation S £ic (78,494)
31,295
Year ended 31 March 2024 BiE£2024F3A31HLFE
Opening net book amount FHRREFE 31,295
Additions RE 4,606
Disposal & (103)
Amortisation (Note 7) B (M3E7) (7,613)
Currency translation differences B 2 (716)
Closing net book amount FAREmFE 27,469
As at 31 March 2024 1202453 H31H
Cost D% 112,403
Accumulated amortisation S ic (84,934)
27,469
Year ended 31 March 2025 BiE2025F3A31HLFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 27,469
Additions NE 10,202
Disposal e (11)
Amortisation (Note 7) B (MEE7) (7.295)
Currency translation differences B (251)
Closing net book amount FAREmIFE 30,114
As at 31 March 2025 7202563 H31H
Cost [DEN 121,942
Accumulated amortisation e i (91,828)
30,114

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in general
and administrative expenses in the consolidated income

statement.

BIVEESHF NGRS RERN—R
RITHHX °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

17 INSURANCE POLICY INVESTMENTS 17 RERKRE
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T IT
Non-current assets REBEE
Insurance policy investments RERE 239,335 220,242
Movement of the insurance policy investments is as follows: REFENEBT -
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T T IT
As at 1 April R4A1H 220,242 202,155
Additions NE 10,116 11,481
Disposal & (892) (808)
Fair value gain recognised to other REAM 2 MR FERA
comprehensive income NF AR 9,869 7,414
As at 31 March M3A31H 239,335 220,242
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the insurance policy 20254 22024 F3A31H © REH
investments are measured at fair values, which approximate BiAERREBRENATETE

to their surrender values.

The insurance policy investments are denominated in the REFZEUTHIEEEHE
following currencies:

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

uss$ =TT 164,568 153,370
HK$ ki 74,767 66,872
239,335 220,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 REENTNKRE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
— Investment in VSCO —RAVSCORJILE 409,575 383,912
- Investment in Harmony —RNERFBRRARRIRE
Pharmacare Limited 8,750 12,770
418,325 396,682
The movements of share of net assets of investments in FARMERBEANRENEETF
associates during the year are as follows: BT

2025 2024
2025F 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BRI
As at 1 April RA4A1H 396,682 381,505
Share of net profits of associates FE(GEE A T4EAR 42,118 42,281
Elimination of unrealised profit with an ¥ 448 — 5 A B1HY
associate AR g A (15,043) (9,158)
Impairment loss on investment in an R—HEE A TIRER
associate DERIEY SE= (1,897) =
Dividends received from an associate  UHR— R4 A TR S, (2,300) (19,211)
Share of other comprehensive FE(E—FEE A FIRY
(loss)/income of an associate Hin2m(EiE) A (411) 2,040
Currency translation differences ErihE R (824) (775)
As at 31 March M3A31H 418,325 396,682
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REMBRRMEE

18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REZERQTNKREm@m)
(b) Summarised financial information of VSCO (b) VSCOWIEITEE RIE
Set out below are the summarised financial information of TREFHVIVSCOME B BRI E -
VSCO.

2025
20254

HK$'000
BET T

Profit or loss and other comprehensive loss #E#REM2EEE

Revenue WA 1,965,683
Profit for the period A F 85,595
Other comprehensive income Hin 2 mEis (838)

84,757

2025
20255

HK$°000
BET T

136

Assets and liabilities EEREE
Current assets MENEE 802,397
Non-current assets EMBEE 401,957
Current liabilities B A& (596,727)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (198,655)
Net assets EEFE 408,972
Reconciliation to carrying amount EAVSCOMIRE N IREEH IR
of the investment in VSCO

As at 1 April 2024 R2024F4 811 359,123
Profit for the year F R A 85,595
Other comprehensive income for the year FRHMEEWE (838)
Closing net assets FREEFE 408,972
Group's share in % REBEBEABEALETR) 49%
Group's share of closing net assets in VSCO  AREEFE(GVSCOEREEFE 200,396
Add: Notional Goodwill mn: ZREE 206,157
Less: Elimination of unrealised profit with B B — A R R AR EIR R FI T 8

an associate (15,043)
Add: Currency translation differences m: E¥nEEE 824

392,334

REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #¥ iR (IZR)ERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

19 INVENTORIES 19 #&

2025
20254

2024

20244
HK$'000

BT

HK$'000
BT T

Raw materials FEAM R 576,979 551,748
Work-in-progress TR 478,660 441,399
Finished goods BIRY &R 328,509 235,693

1,384,148 1,228,840
Less: provision for impairment B RBE RS (5,848) (3,748)
Inventories, net FEF%E 1,378,300 1,225,092

The costs of inventories sold recognised as expense
and included in cost of sales amounted to approximately
HK$2,946,950,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:

HZE2025F3A31HILFE » FER AR
SWEABEEREINEEFTEREE
%776 ¥ 2,946,950,000 7 (2024 £ : 7

HK$2,723,889,000).

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES 20

#2,723,889,0007T ) °

B 5 B AR

2025
20254

2024
20244
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

Trade receivables =N
— carried at amortised cost — R SR AN B BR 928,246 775,134
— carried at FVOCI —BRAFEFAHMEE
Wl R 129,790 262,634
1,058,036 1,037,768
Less: loss allowance of trade receivables g : & 5 ek B FUH B 1B 18 HE (6,773) (10,285)
1,051,263 1,027,483

The carrying amounts of trade receivables carried at
amortised costs approximate their fair values.

RHSHPAR D BR Y B 5 FE AR SR BR
EEEEQNFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) As at 31 March, the ageing analysis of gross trade
receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

20 ZEFREWER @)

(a) M3A31H ' BFEPEFBFREE
B HETE R DTN

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

0-30 days 0Z30H 592,572 639,179
31-60 days 31E60H 182,328 145,248
61-90 days 61Z290H 91,603 87,833
Over 90 days #BiB90H 191,533 165,508
1,058,036 1,037,768

The credit period granted by the Group is generally 30 to 90
days. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

(b) As at 31 March, the carrying amounts of gross trade
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBERHNEEH KR AB30E0
Ao ARBEYEFHTAETPRIER
* e

(b) RM3A31H - BZEKRREENIRE
BN THIEEE

2025 2024
202545 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Uss ETT 647,790 742,808
RMB AREE 377,637 254,352
HKS$ ot 32,053 40,194
VND HMEJE 556 414
1,058,036 1,037,768

(c) As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's trade
receivables were amounts due from related parties of
approximately HK$131,407,000 (2024: HK$80,842,000)
(Note 32(c)).

(¢) #2025%38310 ' Bt AREEY
ZEoRBESRARBKBEESRELD
75 #131,407,000 7T ( 2024 F : B #
80,842,0007T) (F#7E32(c)) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20 EZEWERF (3
(d) Impairment and risk exposure (d) BEKRRE
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to ANEBEREBV IS REERF RS
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime WA= HEERE  ERmEe™
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Note 3.1(c) SRR E B EEFERNBAES
(ii) provides details for the calculation of the expected credit BEE - SR B BT ER
loss and credit risk exposure. HEEEBEREERBIFS -
Movements in the Group's provision for impairment loss 7A2025%3 A31H K&2024F3A31H AR
allowance for trade receivables as at 31 March 2025 and 31 EEFHRE 5 e UWER FRAY R (B S 18 1
March 2024 as follows: HEHWT
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
As at 1 April ®4A1H8 10,285 11,104
Reversal of loss allowance FARIBEHMERA
recognised in profit or loss during B[Ol SRR
the year (3,512) (819)
As at 31 March M3 A31H 6,773 10,285
21 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21 & - ANRERAME
RECEIVABLES WKIE
2025 2024
2025F 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
Non-current portion EREIBD
Rental, utilities and other deposits e AARBEEMIZE 8,291 9,974
Prepayments for purchase of property, BE®E - M= K& EH
plant and equipment TEfTFRIE 82,957 107,715
Other prepayments EMIERIE 1,053 1,475
92,301 119,164
Current portion RET D
Rental, utilities and other deposits e DERBLRHEMIZS 16,913 12,018
Prepayments for materials MR TER RE 74,122 31,134
Prepayment for subcontracting fee DEEBEANIENKIEA = 23,945
Other prepayments H T RE 12,851 10,533
VAT recoverable AU B (E R 28,923 22,667
Insurance claim receivables IR R R FEULBR K 12,836 -
Other receivables H b pEURIE 9,336 11,189
. 154981 111486
247,282 230,650
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

21

22
(a)

140

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables do not contain
impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned
above. The Group does not hold collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of deposits, prepayment and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

21

Re FANRERHEME

U FRIE ()

BeREMEBRFKBENREERZELR
HEMRE °

BE -~ AN FRIE RHE M E YRR T
BREBEEE -

RS RMAAENRSEERRA
EXRERNZEEKFENERE -
REEAN EE P mIERIER -

B - BN FR R E A B R FRR R
EENA TSR E

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
RMB AR 127,736 132,837
VND HrEfE 42,254 47,451
HKS ok 76,950 45,245
Us$ T 342 5,117
247,282 230,650

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22 BERBITEES

Cash and cash equivalents

(a)

RERBEESEEY

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Cash at bank RITRE 907,443 622,491
Cash on hand FHEAe 388 626
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESZED 907,831 623,117

Note:

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$679,164,000 (2024: HK$263,244,000)
are held in the PRC and Vietnam as at 31 March 2025. They are subject
to local exchange control regulations, which provide for restrictions on
remitting capital from the country concerned, other than through normal
dividends.

PRE -

20256 3A31H F Be RESEMEE
679,164,0007T (20244 « ##263,244,0007T )
FEFERERFE - ZEREYZEHINEE
HIEPIRE - ZSEHINEEHIEIRERE
BERELESHRS] - MIFLBRBEEDA
HEFTBR I o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 22 BHERBITESHR@
ZREBITER

#2025F3A31H + RIRTTERPIFA S
PR 17 28 725,000 7T (20244 = 75
#1,162,00070) {E R E BT A 1#
SREBEBERH  EONRESK
#ﬁ °

(b) Restricted bank deposits (b)
As at 31 March 2025, restricted deposits of HK$725,000
(2024: HK$1,162,000) are held at bank accounts as reserves
for settling customs duties and cash collateral for the
purchase of petrol, electricity in Vietnam.

REENRE MRS EBYWUARER

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank

deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

HIRTTFFAT N EMEHE -

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Us$ ES 269,286 360,625
RMB AR 539,676 217,331
HK$ B 31,352 36,648
VND MEE 68,005 9,415
EUR BT 192 148
Others Hib 45 112
908,556 624,279

23 SHARE CAPITAL

23 RA

Number of
shares  Share capital
RGEE [N
(thousands) HK$'000
(Fh%) BT T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares at US$0.01 each FIXEEO0.01 3= TR LR

As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024

M2023F4 818 ~ 20245 K

and 2025 2025%3H31H 50,000,000 3,875,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR
Ordinary shares at US$0.01 each HRRE(E0.01F TH LA
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 R2023F4R818 ~ 20245 &

and 2025 202593 H31H 1,224,250 95,247
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e RBRRME

24 RESERVES 24 f#fE
Statutory Trade  Insurance
Surplus  receivables policy  Investment
Share reseve  atFVOCI investments  properties  Exchange  Retained
premium Note) reserve reserve reserve reserve  eamings
TR
ALk
RtaE AERE  REET it
HK$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
T T BT BT
As at 31 March 2023 H2023%3A31R 1,705,969 9,862 813) 4.8% - (38881 1965049 3452015
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - I 1317
Currency translation differences EhhEzE - - - - - g - g
Fair value gain on insurance policy RERENATEUE
Investments - - - 1414 - - - 1414
Fair value gain on investment properties — REENATENE - - - - 71,245 - - 71245
Fairvalue change on trads receivables  RATEEARB2EME
carried at FVOCI IR E AN
LTERY - - 60,510) - - - - (60,510)
Reclassifcation of rad receivables st~ MHEREEATETA
FVOCl reserve to factoring interests B2 AkENES
and charges upon disposals Bk EEETEZ
REHERER - - 59,848 - - - - 59,848
Share of other comprehensive income of -~ E(EE2 R EEN
45%00iates gl - - - - - 2000 - 2040
Transfer to statutory reserve ERETRE - k) - - - - 3%) -
Dividends ke - - - - - - (64,885) (64,885
As at 31 March 2024 H2024%53831A 1,705,969 96,254 (1479) 12,249 T 67961 200947 3215208
Profitfor the year ERrii - - - - - - 183,891 183,891
Currency translation differences Eume e - - - - - (343.239) - (343239)
Fair value gain on insurance policy REREHATERS
nvestments - - - 9,869 - - - 9,869
Fair valug change on trade receivables 1T ) B2l
carried at FVOCI B SR
DTEES - - B - - - - (B
Reclassfication of rade receivables at ~ MHERGHATENA
FVOC! reserve to factoring interests ERENENESE
and charges upon disposals YERERERARE
REHERER - - 64,070 - - - - 64,070
Share of other comprehensive oss o ESEAATRE R
85500iates Bk - - - - - 41) = ()
Dividends ks - - - - - - (57,540) (57,540)
As at 31 March 2025 H25E3A31A 1,705,969 96,254 (606) 2118 7245 (10016100 2169298 3,068,668
Note: I

The balance mainly represents statutory surplus reserve. In accordance
with articles of association of certain subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC,
the subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation
prepared in accordance with PRC accounting standards to the statutory
reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered share capital.
Such reserve can be used to reduce any losses incurred and to increase
share capital.

EHREREETBHRFEHE - RENHEEMAAK
UWETHBRARMARERAN - WEAR
AR R ERIRAABRTIZEF10%
BEDATHRE  A2ERETMRAN50%
RIE o ZRHEABER D EREENERR
FALASE AR A
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FEMBRRMEE

25 BORROWINGS

25 f&ERK

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank borrowings IRITER
Non-current JETH 3,571,616 3,632,595
Current FEp 663,198 621,032
4,234,814 4,153,627
Borrowings are analysed as follows: EHoMmnT :
2025 2024
2025F 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Non-current FERED
Portion of term loans due for M ZE2F R HAEIRR
repayment between 1 and 2 years FHERED 2,357,575 2,140,534
Portion of term loans due for R2EF R HEERN
repayment between 2 and 5 years FHERED 1,214,041 1,392,061
3,571,616 3,532,595
Current B
Portion of term loans due for M ERDEEERN
repayment within 1 year TFHERED 223,664 277,631
Short-term bank loans FERIRITE N 439,534 343,401
e 663,198 621,032
4,234,814 4,153,627

M2025FE 3 A31H » RITERI B
¥ 50,568,000 7T ( 2024 F : & ¥&
54,190,0007t ) A A K E A TR EH
&% #70,860,000 7T (2024 F : B
69,556,0007T ) {EHE - EMIRITIE K

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowing of HK$50,568,000
(2024: HK$54,190,000) were secured by the Group's certain
insurance policy investments of HK$70,860,000 (2024:
HK$69,556,000). Other bank borrowings were secured by
corporate guarantees given by the Company and certain

subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, total undrawn trade facilities
amounted to approximately HK$3,810,163,000 (2024:
HK$3,480,498,000).

MARE RARRETHEARREMH
KR BIFERIEIRA o

R2025%3A31H » RIERE FRE
4858 B #0781 3,810,163,000 7T (2024
£ #153,480,498,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

25 BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated
in the following currencies:

25 ER@

RITEFOREERA TSR E

2025 2024
2025 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BEET T BT T

HKS ok 4,154,013 4,070,293
RMB ARE 53,585 54,145
Us$ T 27,216 29,189
4,234,814 4,153,627

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's borrowings bore floating
rates and the effective interest rate per annum was 5.5%
(2024: 6.5%)).

(a) Liabilities under supplier finance arrangement
Supplier finance arrangements are characterised
by one or more finance providers offering to pay
amounts that an entity owes its suppliers and the
entity agreeing to pay according to the terms and
conditions of the arrangements at the same date as,
or a date later than, when suppliers are paid. These
arrangements provide the entity with extended
payment terms, or the entity’'s suppliers with early
payment terms, compared to the related invoice
payment due date.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
entered into a supplier finance arrangement ending
on 31 March 2025. Under the arrangement, a bank
acquires the rights to selected trade receivables
from suppliers. The terms and conditions of the
arrangement are unchanged from the trade payables
from suppliers, other than:

° the due date has been extended to 40-120 days
after the invoice date from the original 30-60
days, and

o the acquired payables are no longer able to be
offset against credit notes received from the
supplier.

MR2025F3 A31H » REBMERIL
FEREGE  MEBRFEFNER55%
(20244 : 6.5%) °

(a) HEBRMEZRHFETRE
HERRE PR EE — X
ZEREHERRELSNERR
HEEEmHFUE - MERREN
HERBKEIFRIAE BREUE A
RBELZBEA R ARAF 5K - 22
HRARRFRNEAAL - %%
L SBERRMIERNRAR -
SR ERNHEHRERERTR
HiPR ©

HZE2025F3A31HILEE - &
EEFTY —I8R2025F3A31H
BIEMEERBELE - RER
P RITAHERESETES
FEURBR FRARET L BERI IR K
ek B ERNE SRR
SRR - HETIERERSD -

e HEIHARETEIOE60RE
REHEHHAR402120
B &

o FREBUENFIETHRESN
EHBBRHEFNEESR
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

25 BORROWINGS (continued) 25 {%%k(%?)
(a) Liabilities under supplier finance arrangement (a) MHEBRERHFETAE
(Continued) (%&)
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Range of payment due dates N EH B ARE =
Liabilities under supplier finance HENRELZHE N EE& 40-120 days 40-120 days
arrangement after invoice after invoice
date date
BEAHE BEHAE
40Z120H 40£120H
Comparable trade payables that are I FFftfERI RS ZHE— 85 30-60 days 30-60 days
not part of the supplier finance HA B E 5 R BRR after invoice after invoice
arrangement date date
BEAHE BEHAE
30%60H 30&60H
Carrying amount of liabilities under  HEERIEZLHE N EE
supplier finance arrangement HEREE 157,132 94,150
The carrying amounts of liabilities under the supplier HAREEERELHETEER
finance arrangement are considered to be reasonable REHME - EEREERRRERD
approximations of their fair values, due to their short- FEMNSEILE -
term nature.
26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 26 EZEFTEB
The net movement on the deferred income tax liabilities is as REFTSHBEZENFRENT ¢
follows:

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

At beginning of the year REF) (27,521) 16,625

Charged/(credited) to the consolidated 18, (BF A) &4

income statement (Note 11) WesaR (BFsE11) 269 (13,964)
Debited to other comprehensive B AR M2 mE S

income (“OCI") ([Htt2mEda ) - (25,748)

Currency translation differences B E =% 5,138 (4,434)

At end of the year REXR (22,114) (27,521)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

26

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax recoverable against current income tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to

26 EIEFTEH (@)

BB A TE AL R BT AR R A AT e = BD
HprSTHERHmSHAaEEE B
EXFMEREERABRRF —HBH
BARZERVERATRERNE E

income tax levied by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset
amounts are as follows:

BURRFASHERE - BRMERER
TFRREBEE AR - AIRHIRERT
BHEEHRAR - KFSEWT ¢

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T T T

Deferred income tax assets FEEFTISHEE 62,783 52,882
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFAEFHAE (84,897) (80,403)
Deferred income tax assets, net BEFTSHEEFE (22,114) (27,521)

EXMGHEERBBENEBE12(EA
RIERS -

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are to be settled
after more than 12 months.

The movements in gross deferred income tax assets and ERN-REMEHEAERAGRREEN
liabilities during the year without taking into consideration S E) (WA LR —BU L E#ERR A

of the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction AT -
are as follows:
Deferred income tax liabilities: EAEFTEBAE

Accelerated
tax Investment
depreciation

properties Total
REW= st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BT
As at 1 April 2023 A2023F4A1H 42,114 - 42,114
Charged to the consolidated income HmasalEx
statement 14,426 - 14,426
Charged to OCl arising from revaluation of ERYWEEEZRE

MEBERTE

owner-occupied properties upon transfer — ¥)E%FE#HHEM

to investment properties MEEm2EKS - 25,748 25,748
As at 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H 56,540 25,748 82,288
As at 1 April 2024 202454 A1H 56,540 25,748 82,288
Charged to the consolidated income HasalEER

statement 9,269 - 9,269
As at 31 March 2025 202563 A31H 65,809 25,748 91,557
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 26 ELFTEB @

Deferred income tax assets: ELEFRBHREE -
Loss
allowance
of trade Lease
receivables liabilities Tax losses Total

B 5 B
BREARE  EEA%  SUEER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETR BETRT BETR

As at 1 April 2023 2023F4A1H 338 309 58,092 58,739
Credited to the SFAGZEEIMER

consolidated income

statement 462 - - 462
Currency translation EiRE s

differences - - (4,434) (4,434)
As at 31 March 2024 720243 A31H 800 309 53,658 54,767
As at 1 April 2024 2024F4 71 H 800 309 53,658 54,767

(Debited)/credited to the CNENEPN =

consolidated income U s 3R

statement (363) - 9,901 9,538
Currency translation R EEE

differences - - 5,138 5,138

As at 31 March 2025 #2025 3 A31H 437 309 68,697 69,443

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HK$122,383,000 (2024: HK$83,437,000) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$548,592,000 (2024: HK$309,880,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income
indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2025, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately HK$27,111,000 (2024: HK$17,253,000) have
not been provided for the withholding taxation that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
in the PRC of approximately HK$542,218,000 (2024
HK$345,054,000), as the directors considered that the
timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and the related temporary difference will
not be reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable
future.

FATRE B B AR R IERBRE ARG
MEFZMS @ AeREETEER
HRELEFMSHEE - X5EWER
] 4 PR BR A4S 6 DU S SR SR EER T A
#5518 78 % 548,692,000 7T (2024 FF
75 309,880,000 7T ) i 57 i KT BT 15 4
B EA¥122,383,0007T (20244 : 5
#83,437,0007T) °

M2025F3A31TH  HREERA
BEEEEREENNMET T
REBEREES TSN RiER
BEBTERY - EEMBHAR
#7 7% ® 27,111,000 7C ( 2024 & : 7B
# 17,253,000 7T ) I K gk B W B
A AR EE 2R RE AT & TE 0 45
# 542,218,000 T ( 2024 F : & ¥
345,054,0007T ) 5T 2 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

27 TRADE PAYABLES 27 B ZEFERE
As at 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade payables based M3A31H ' BZEMERFUREZAE
on invoice date were as follows: FTEHRRTAOT

2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
0-30 days 0Z230H 304,228 312,962
31-60 days 31£60H 100,278 57,422
61-90 days 61£290H 23,843 17,123
Over 90 days HHRiE90H 1,109 2,823
429,458 390,330

As at 31 March, the carrying amounts of trade payables are M3A31A - BZEMERFMEEENU

denominated in the following currencies: T5| kg :

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I
US$ ETT 144,307 167,192
VND & 105,154 129,965
RMB AR 87,835 48,549
HK$ B 87,964 34,709
EUR B 4,180 9,902
Others Hth 18 13
429,458 390,330

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their BSEMNEZOEmMEMRE AN TER

fair values. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

28 ESFEAREMENRIER

2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Non-current portion FRHAE D
Deposits b 1,386 1,440
Other payables H e ATRUE 36,815 33,980
38,201 35,420
Current portion BIEAER o
Accruals for staff costs BIRARERTE A 245,838 169,932
Payable for purchase of property, BEDE  BEX
plant and equipment HEIEN IR 2,980 23,145
Payable for construction in progress EEITIRENTIE 172,773 93,158
Other payables H e ATRUE 296,963 64,557
Accrued factory overheads and eI IEEEERA R
operating expenses LR 24,987 62,978
743,541 413,770
781,742 449,190
The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables are FEET B FB % L th & A5 SR I ) BR T 1B DA
denominated in the following currencies: THEHHE

2025 2024
2025F 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
VND HrEE 222,738 251,812
RMB ARE 446,721 138,641
HK$ otecd 55,762 49,646
uss ETT 56,521 8,948
JPY HIEl - 143
781,742 449,190

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables JEETER K& ‘rﬁzFEH ) TE A B [ (B B

approximate their fair values. HATERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

29 DIVIDENDS 29 BB

(a) Dividends recognized during the reporting period (a) RFEHAEINRKRE

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Final dividend, paid of HK2.2 cents per 2 t#Z%E2024%3A31H It

ordinary share for the year ended 31 FERAPIR BT E B

March 2024 (For the year ended 31 2.2 (E=202343A31H

March 2023: HK1.8 cents) LEFE - 1.871l) 26,933 22,037
Interim dividend, paid of HK2.5 cents per 2 1#Z2024%9H30H It

ordinary share for the period ended 30 HAfEI A HANG B AR T AR

September 2024 (For the period ended 2.5l (&= 202349 A30H

30 September 2023: HK3.5 cents) LEEARE « 3.578(0) 30,607 42,848
57,540 64,885
(b) Dividends not yet recognised during the (b) RBEHREREZNRE
reporting period
At the Board meeting held on 26 June 2025, a final dividend R2025F6 A26 B BITHNEE S L #
of HK4.3 cents per ordinary share of the Company, totaling t EFeFRRNEE202543A31
approximately HK$52,643,000 (2024: a final dividend of HIEFEARARINREREGRLE®
HK2.2 cents per ordinary share of the Company, totaling f&4.37%1L - & HEABHE52,643,000
approximately HK$26,934,000) for the year ended 31 March TL(2024 % « RRAHRERKE
2025 are proposed. These consolidated financial statements fE @228l - AXBNEE
do not reflect these dividend payables. 26,934,0007T) ° % EiRE MEHERAL

BRRZERMNE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net

cash generated from operations

30
(a)

e RBRRME

REXBRERE

BRATISBLATEF R E XK E
R FENYR

2025
20254

2024
20244
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

Profit before income tax ey Il 220,772 152,177
Adjustments for: P
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 7,295 7,613
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMERETE
equipment 450,339 462,182
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 37,485 55,389
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, LEWE - BB REE
plant and equipment, net of B, (Yzs) -
restructuring costs MR EAEK A 7,954 (4,611)
Restructuring costs EHEI %N 37,870 39,427
Gain on disposal and modification of HEREEFREEEN
right-of-use assets 2k (7,530) (2,294)
Fair value gain on investment KEMENQNFEWRZE
properties (481) -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of insurance HEREREN (W),
policy investments &8 (178) 218
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & 1B & & 2,100 1,300
Impairment loss on investment in RERE NI ERRESE
associate 1,897 -
Share of net profits of FRAERE AR
associates accounted for VNS Ee ]
using the equity method (27,075) (33,123)
Reversal of loss allowance of B SR KB B SIE R E
trade receivables (3,512) (819)
Finance income BRI (2,014) (2,341)
Finance costs IR IDN 343,959 336,956
1,068,881 1,012,074
Changes in working capital: LEESEE
Inventories & (189,712) 162,164
Trade receivables E 5 R (24,741) (327,926)
Deposits, prepayments and other B BARIER
receivables o FEUGRIE (41,790) (44,350)
Restricted bank deposits SRFIRI TR 437 4,176
Trade payables Z SEMER 45,672 55,902
Accruals and other payables EEHE B R H A EN R 349,156 16,789
Cash generated from operations B ETRTSIRG 1,207,903 878,829

FEWRE2024/25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 REXBMERTw

(Continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and (b) HEYME BMERIKXEWFSE
equipment MIE

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Net book amount of property,
plant and equipment disposed and

REABRERERT HEWE - |
B R BTSRRI

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

EHERMENE - BEX
A AREHE(FIEE13)

written-off (Note 13) 62,964 69,545
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEREEER),

plant and equipment, net of Was - FIBREAAR A

restructuring costs (Note 7) (f5E7) (7,954) 4,611
Restructuring costs (Note 7) EHAKA(FIFET) (37,870) (39,427)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEDE - BE KRED

plant and equipment FS 308 17,140 34,729

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

(c) RMEEDELENEBYIR

activities

2025 2024
202545 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cash and cash equivalents HERESZED 907,831 623,117
Lease liabilities HEAE (137,119) (122,644)
Borrowings IR (4,077,682) (4,059,477)

Liabilities under supplier finance HEFMEZHETNEE
arrangement (Note 25) (FfF5E25) (157,132) (94,150)
Net debt a3 (3,464,102) (3,653,154)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 REXBMERTw

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMETBHELNEBYHIERG@E)
activities (Continued)

Cash
and cash Lease Bank Supplier
equivalents Liabilities borrowings finance
RER
REEEY HEEE RITREMR HERMRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T T PR T
Net debt as at MR2023F3A31HH
31 March 2023 BEFE 675,028 (160,447) (3,876,792) (81,744)
Cash flows REmeE 102,103 54,239 (182,685) (12,4006)
Lease additions HERE - (26,957) - -
Interest expense FEMAX - (9,431) - -
Lease disposals HELE - 14,682 - -
Lease modifications HEHSE - (574) - -
Foreign exchange SN FHEE
adjustment (154,014) 5,844 - -
Net debt as at M2024F3A318K
31 March 2024 BEFE 623,117 (122,644) (4,059,477) (94,150)
Cash flows REmE 457,490 28,538 (18,205) (62,982)
Lease additions HERE - (43,582) - -
Interest expense FBERAX - (7,802) - -
Lease disposals HERE - 53,001 - -
Lease modifications HEEE - (45,935) - -
Foreign exchange SN R
adjustment (172,776) 1,305 - -
Net debt as at M2025F3A31HA)
31 March 2025 aEFE 907,831 (137,119) (4,077,682) (157,132)
31 COMMITMENTS 31 &I
Capital commitments B AREIE
2025 2024
2025%F 20244F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contracted but not provided for BETHMERVERHE
Property, plant and equipment and ME - BB MBI R
right-of-use assets PREEE 91,973 178,682
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEAIRS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
to be related if they are subject to common control or
under control of the close family members of the Group's
controlling shareholder.

Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited (incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands) owns 52.93% of the Company's
shares as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same) and is wholly
owned and controlled by Mr. Hung Yau Lit. In addition,
Mr. Hung Yau Lit directly holds 15.36% of the Company's
shares as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same). The remaining
shares are widely held. The ultimate controlling party of the
Group is Mr. Hung Yau Lit.

Name of related parties

H— BN EEEMEERNS T
RS —IHEM B R EERKAER
BEXFEN MEIRAREMRE -
i & 75 52 AR RHZ i 3 X2 AR SR B AR A
REVIRREEH - AITAAR S A B
i o

7202543 A31 8 * Regent Marvel
Investment Holdings Limited ( 7 %
BELBEESFMAL)BEEAAGMN
52.93% %15 (20244 : fAR]) » Wt
MEEERERA RIS - o - R
202553 A318  HENELEEEES
BARRAIE15.36% K15 (20244 : 48
) o B TRHOBIBEZFIFE - A5E
SRR B A -

Relationship with the Company

BEL AR

Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) Limited

BB 5 (BB)ERAR

Faxun Clothing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

EAREN () BRAR]

Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder Pad Factory
(Shenzhen) Limited

HEFERBmORI)ERAF

Shun Cheong Shoulder Pad Fty Limited

EEBRRERAA

Regina Miracle Technology (Zhaoging) Co., Ltd.

W (ER)BRAA

Regina Miracle Investment (Zhaoging) Company Limited

WP E (ER)BR AT

Float Limited

VSCO Holdings
VS Trading (Shanghai) Company Limited

BEEZES(LB)ERAT
VS Management (Shanghai) Company Limited

B

FEEMEER(LE)BRAR

BEARDRHER

Common controlling shareholder
HEERRR

Common controlling shareholder
HEERRR

Common controlling shareholder

HEZEARAR R

Common controlling shareholder

HEZEARAR R

Common controlling shareholder

HEZEARAR R

Common controlling shareholder

HEZEARAR R

Under control of a close family member of
the controlling shareholder

PRI AR B AR A B 1

Associate of an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

RAREZEEEWB AR E AR

An indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
VSCO Holdings (Cayman)

VSCO Holdings (Cayman)ff# 2 & B A )

An indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
VSCO Holdings (Cayman)

VSCO Holdings (Cayman)ff# 2 & B A )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 32 BEAIRZ @)

(a) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial (a) BETBREREMESTIEEEIN
statements, the Group has the following transactions with ANE B EREETET RS

related parties:

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Sales of goods to an associate: HEEY T —MBE AT
— VS Trading (Shanghai) Company —FBEZI(F)
Limited BRAFR 457,762 373,053

Sales of goods to other related parties: &S FHARET :

— Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) —#RE5(HE)
Limited BRATA 23,889 35,883
— Faxun Clothing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. —FARE( 8 BRAR - 67
— Float Limited —Float Limited 6,959 6,216
30,848 42,166
Rental expense paid to other B mEMEES X eiE S
related parties: ¥
— Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder —{ E2EEREmORYI)
Pad Factory (Shenzhen) Limited BRAF] 24,831 25,061
— Regina Miracle Technology — P RBI(EE)
(Zhaoging) Co., Ltd. BRAF] 32,393 4,023
- Regina Miracle Investment — PR E (BE)
(Zhaoging) Company Limited BRAF 1,979 -
59,203 29,084
Note: The pricing of these transactions was determined based on mutual MGt © IEER 5 MEE TR AN B R E T A8
negotiation and agreement between the Group and the related R RIEEE
parties.
(b) Key management compensation (b) EEEEEHMH
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances T& - #& - JE41 228k 30,439 29,184
Retirement benefits costs — defined RGBS — E R G &
contribution scheme 331 329
30,770 29,513
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 32 BEAIRZ @)

(c) Year-end balances with related parties (c) EEEAEFMIFREER

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Trade receivables due from an associate  JEU—EEt< A RINE S

(Note): FEUBR IR (FFE)
- VS Trading (Shanghai) Company —EEEZE5(L8)
Limited BRAF 124,484 60,583

Trade receivables due from other related JEUWE M RAETHE 5

parties (Note): FEMER TR (P EE) -
- Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) Limited —BRBES(EE)
BRAA] 6,578 18,668
— Float Limited —Float Limited 345 1,591
6,923 20,259
Other receivables due from other JrE Y EL b B3 5 M E At
related parties: FEUIFRIR -
- Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder — 4L 215 2 B8R
Pad Factory (Shenzhen) Limited CRINBRAT] 2,029 2,050
— Shun Cheong Shoulder Pad —EEERRAER AT
Fty Limited 4,165 -
Note: The trade receivables due from related parties are unsecured, MI5E : BUREES M E SRR A EIER -
interest-free and with credit terms ranging from 60 to 120 days. S B MEEHNT60E120H ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33 REFSENERMITAE

As at 31 March, the Group held the following financial M3A3H AEEEE TSI
instruments: A

\
/

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets carried at FVOCI BAFEGAEMEE
W5 RS R E E

— Trade receivables —E SRR 129,790 261,767
Financial assets carried at amortised %55 A5 BRHY
cost CREE
— Trade receivables —E S REIERR 928,246 765,716
- Deposits and other receivables — e RHEMEWIE 47,377 33,181
— Restricted bank deposits — ZREIRI TR 22 725 1,162
— Cash and cash equivalents — B RESEEY 22 907,831 623,117
2,013,969 1,684,943
Financial liabilities -y =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IZ# 4K AN+ EH)
acly=Li=
— Borrowings — &3 25 4,234,814 4,153,627
— Trade payables — B SEMER 27 429,458 390,330
— Accruals and other payables —FEFTE A R HAM
FETERIA 519,011 235,664
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 14 137,119 122,644
5,320,402 4,902,265
The Group's exposure to various risks associated with AEEBEAERSHTAMEBENZIA
the financial instruments is discussed in Note 3.2. The R EE3.2 55 o RIREEIARA
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting AENGESEERR A LTS ESE
period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets EEMIE@E -

mentioned above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

158

Balance sheet of the Company

34

N

A2
25

rAFEERER

AEERBEXRKRER

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Assets BE
Non-current asset REBEE
Interest in a subsidiary R—EMB AR AR 510,724 510,724
Current assets RBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other 14 « JERIE R
receivables H b e U 08 261 229
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NG B/ 1,304,355 1,362,700
Cash and cash equivalents HERIEESEHEY 1,279 193
oo een e eeeeeiiieeeieieieeieieieieieeeeeo.o... 1305895 | 1,363,122
Total assets EEHRE 1,816,619 1,873,846
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AEML
of the Company i
Share capital [N 95,247 95,247
Reserves B (a) 1,717,033 1,774,108
Total equity EREE 1,812,280 1,869,355
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E M FRIB 4,162 4,337
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTISTR B & 177 154
R, 4339 . 4,491
Totalliabilities  meew 4339 4491
Total equity and liabilities EnkaEEE 1,816,619 1,873,846
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 34 KPR EEEBXRKHEE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) 28w
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AATHEES
Share premium Retained
(Note) earnings Total
BADHE
(Pft5E) REZEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT
As at 31 March 2023 7A2023%3H31H 1,705,969 132,663 1,838,632
Profit for the year F 5% | - 361 361
Dividends (Note 29) A% 8 (MI7E29) - (64,885) (64,885)
As at 31 March 2024 A2024%F3H31H 1,705,969 68,139 1,774,108
Profit for the year E A A - 465 465
Dividends (Note 29) 1% B (F7E29) - (57,540) (57,540)
As at 31 March 2025 202563 H31H 1,705,969 11,064 1,717,033

Note: The share premium of the Company is available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35 EEFNFERER

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (a) EERSHREEENHS

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 HZE2025F3A31HIFEEREEN
March 2025 is set out below: FES T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

RABALREES(FRATLTIHNEARRE EAARUNHE

Employer's
contribution
Discretionary Housing  to retirement
Name of Director Fees Salaries honuses allowances schemes Total
BRI
Epg fé fe RisA EERE U at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BT eI BT
Executive directors YirEE
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) e ( X £tz
(Chief Executive Officer) (ER#TE) - 9,100 - - 54 9,154
Yiu Kar Chun Antony et - 3,934 - - 36 3,970
Sze Shui Ling i3S - 3,088 - - 36 3,124
Liu Zhengiang Az% - 3,894 - - 58 3,052
Chen Zhiping BET - 3,107 - - 58 3,165
Independent non-executive directors FUKHTES
Or Ching Fai 3= 399 - - - - 399
Tam Lai Man e 87 - - - - 87
To Wong Wing Yue Annie ER 336 - - - - 336
Moh Angela Jen Yin B 250 - - - - 250
1,012 2123 - - 242 24,437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35 EEFERER@®

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (a) EERSAEEENHE @)

(Continued)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 HZE2024F3A3HIFEFRZEEN
March 2024 is set out below: EFNEYIT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary

E\’
contribution
Discretionary Housing  toretirement
Name of Director Fees Salaries bonuses allowances schemes
3
£ ik e Bigfa FEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 i HK$'000
Executive directors HrER
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) 37 ( REMEHZ)

Chief Executive Officer] (BR¥17E) - 9,100 - - B4 9,154
Yiu Kar Chun Antony et - 3,685 - - % 3721
Sze Shui Ling g% - 2879 - - 36 2915
Liu Zhengiang By - 3,659 - - 56 3715
Chen Zhiping BE¥ - 2,907 - - 5% 2,963

Independent non-executive directors  BITEZ

Or Ching Fai figE 399 - - - - 399
Tam Lai Man EEX 336 - - - - 336
To Wong Wing Yue Annie BTk 33 - - - - 33
1,01 2230 - - 238 23539
No remunerations were paid or receivable in respect of HZE2025F3A31HILFE  HiEEH
accepting office as directors during the year ended 31 March BEANE ERAL B e AT BN (2024
2025 (2024: Nil). No directors waived any emoluments F ) HE2025F3A31HIEF
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). B BEESHETMINE (20245 -
fE) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

35

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

162

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the
directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the financial year (2024: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company did not
pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2024: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such
directors

As at 31 March 2025, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and controlled entities with such
directors (2024 Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Except disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, no
director of the Company had a material interest, directly or
indirectly, in any significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was or is a party that subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the current and prior year (2024:
Nil).

35 EEFZRES @

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERANENR R EHE

HZE2025F3A3HILFE @ eSS
AN B R AR Ui B B % Uk BR A ] 3R R
BRI R IEMIE (20245  £E) o

REHEERFEATE=ZFR
&

HZE2026F3A31HILFE - AR AIE
ERRHEERBATAE =
RIBE (20244 : £E) -

DES  ZSESHZEGEA
EENZZEHNEESZRZANE
M BUERREMCEENESR

7202538318  HHEES -
EEMNZEAEABERZIESES
ASHANER BUERREM
ELH (20244 : 48) o

BEERARS  RHIEHNHHE
REz

BRI SRRt E AT TSI
ARBEBHERARBIREERFT
FIVMRERKAFER E—FEMT
AEEDNAFENTNEARS « &
ERANTPHEESMEREEAES
(20244 : %) o

w
foi 4H§

I8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
36.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions
provide evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

36.1.2 Associate

An associate is the entity over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

36.1

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

36.1.3 Equity method

164

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’'s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

The carrying amounts of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy in Note
36.9.

36 EARHMELREE

36.1 REARER R ER

K5
BURBLE (@)

36
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

36.1.4 Purchase price allocation of acquisition of investments

being accounted for equity method

Acquisition of investments being accounted for using equity
method is accounted for purchase price allocation to assign
value of an acquired company’s assets and liabilities, with
identification of any intangible assets from the acquisition
and any adjustment of the fair value on the identifiable assets
and liabilities.

Any difference between the cost of the investment and
the Group's share of the net fair value of the investee's
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for notional
goodwill. The notional goodwill is included in the initial cost
of the investment.

Adjustments to provisional amounts, and the recognition
of newly identified asset and liabilities, must be made
within the ‘'measurement period’ where they reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
were in existence at the acquisition date. The measurement
period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

36.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.3 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

166

Functional and presentation currency

I[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar
("HK$"), which is the Company's functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group's entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy), that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated income statement, as part of the
gain or loss on sale.

36

36.3
(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

36.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the consolidated income
statement during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Building 5% or over the unexpired

period of the lease
Leasehold improvements 5% or over the unexpired

period of the lease
Plant and machinery 7% to 10%
Office furniture and fixtures 20% to 33%
Computer equipment 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.5 Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings and
the costs of plant and machinery, installation testing and
other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made
on construction in progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and are available for the intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated in Note
36.4 above.

36.6 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally freehold office buildings,
are held for earning rentals or for capital appreciation (or
both) by the Group. Investment properties are initially
measured at historical cost. Subsequently, they are carried
at fair value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or
loss as part of other income.

36.7 Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost represents upfront prepayments made
for the rights to use the land over the lease term of 41 to
45 years. Amortisation of leasehold land is expensed in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. Leasehold land and land use rights
are presented as right-of-use assets in the consolidated
balance sheet.

36.8 Intangible assets

168

Acquired computer software license is capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire the specific software.
The computer software acquired is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses if any. These costs are amortised over estimated
useful lives of 5 to 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of each reporting period.

36.10 Financial assets

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI or
through profit or loss, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment carried at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER 36 EARHMEBEEERG

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

BURBLE (@)

36.10 Financial assets (Continued) 36.10 £RLE E ()
(i)  Recognition and derecognition (ii) ERRARIEZ

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, which is the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
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transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all RERMEE -
the risks and rewards of ownership.
(iii) Measurement (i) FrE
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At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset.

Debt instrument

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instrument (Continued)

° FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “finance cost, net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “other income and other
gains, net”.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
these financial assets, see Note 3.1 (c)(ii) and Note 20 for
further details.

For deposits and other receivables from third parties, loss
allowance are measured as either 12-months expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
then loss allowance is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

36.11

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

36.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

36.13 Trade and other receivables

172

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are classified as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The trade receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.13 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group,
whose contractual cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, were factored to reputable financial
institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement
according to the Group’s daily fund management needs.
This trade receivable’s business model is therefore achieved
both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling of these
assets. Such trade receivables was therefore classified as
financial assets carried at FVOCI.

See Note 36.10 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade and other receivables and Note 3.1(c)(ii)
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

36.14 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in consolidated statement of
cash flow, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less and bank overdrafts.

36.15 Restricted bank deposits
Restricted bank deposits represent guaranteed deposits
placed at designated bank accounts as reserves for
settling custom duties and cash collateral for the purchase
of certain property, plant and equipment and electricity.
Such restricted bank deposits would be released after full
settlement of the contracts.

36.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

36.17 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade payables and other payables are
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair values, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated income statement over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from consolidated balance sheet
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance cost.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or
before the end of the reporting period, are considered in
classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current or
non-current.

36.19 Borrowing costs
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General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.20 Current and deferred income tax

(i)

(ii)

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company and
its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation, and it considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on either the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method provides a
better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

176

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities in relation to investment properties
that are measured at fair value are determined assuming
that the properties will be recovered entirely through sale.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives
Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
or in relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts
for such allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax
expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed
tax credits that are carried forward as deferred tax assets.
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36

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.21 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting date. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Pension obligations
Group companies operate several defined contribution
retirement schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee services in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Bonus entitlements

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on the key performance indicators for employees
and the business performance of the Group. The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

36.21
(iv)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange of these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier or the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits.

36.22 Provisions

178

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to anyone item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.23 Revenue recognition

The Group manufactures and sells intimate wear, sports
products, consumer electronics components, bra pads and
other accessory products, footwear and fabric masks in the
wholesale market. Revenue is recognised when control of
the products has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the wholesaler at a point in time, the wholesaler
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the wholesaler’'s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Revenue from the sale of goods is based on the price
specified in the sales contracts. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a short credit
term, which is consistent with market practice.

A receivable is recognised when the control of goods is
transferred as this is the point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Contract liability is recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.

36.24 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated income statement as part of finance
cost, net. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
values where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate. Government grants relating to
property, plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

36.26 Research and development costs

180

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
on development projects relating to the design and
testing of new or improved products are recognised as an
intangible asset when the technical feasibility and intention
of completing the product under development has been
demonstrated and the resources are available to do so,
costs are identifiable and there is an ability to sell or use the
asset that will generate probable future economic benefits.
Such development costs are recognised as an asset and
amortised on the straight-line basis to reflect the pattern
in which the related economic benefits are recognised.
Development costs that do not meet the above criteria
are expensed as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in
a subsequent period.

36 EANHEMEBEAEE NS

BURBLE (@)

36.25 B A ED

v B8 58 & T2 HiE T U 2 BURT 6 B B AR 52
BB P M R - RIBU 8 B
BERFERER -

B R BUF# B T LARIE - iR
HELAMBENKAMFEHRERES
W KRR - BYE - BMENMEESR
R BA MBI ASERBAE - JIMF
BREBTHE  WIZERERBEE
ENTEHF RN AGRRER -

36.26 FF 3% AL A<

IR AR E AR K © W BE 508 B
F% P E m BT A 1T 1 R B BT X
ZEm - BANBAER  KAFT
a8t Bl B B BE 77 6 S R AJ BEAE R 2R
EEXRPEMaNEE  AIBHERNK
R R E i R AT RO AR R G
EIFFEANKRARR RSB EE ° %
ERBRAERREERZEREHE
AR R e RARRR A R AR I -
TRHENERENFHBERARELR
SEH o SRR R FSI M ERAR
BERARTEERAREE -

REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #ZiBIFR(ZER)ERAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

36.27 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for
these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.27 Leases (Continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions

since third party financing was received,;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third party

financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,

country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated statement
of profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance

of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liabilities;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives

received; and

o any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is

depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER 36 EARHMEBEEE KRS
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING BERBE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

36.28 Dividend distribution 36.28 % 2 2K
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is mAR B RE IR MK BIE AR 7&K
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements RNEF (@A) I EZ SR B EME
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the MAEB B BHRERNEREEE -

Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

36.29 Insurance policy investments 36.29 RERE

Insurance policy investments are non-derivative measured RELERIETETR HIEQAFE
at FVOCI. They are included in non-current assets unless FAEMEEKETE - BRIFKREE
the investment matures or management intends to dispose s EIEEgEELAE BT 12(@A
of it within 12 months of the balance sheet date. When NEEZEE  TARBEIRET A
the investments are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair MEEEN - ERECHESRIE -
value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the ERERZPEINEFAFEARTA
consolidated income statement. The relevant accounting REWERK - ZEEEMNHBEBZN
policy of these assets has been consistently applied. KEBRER -
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY
ABENBE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis as set
out herein, is set out below:

7 TR 3R B 8 A 1038 1 TR
BEENDTIHEE - AERABHER
mF -

Year ended 31 March

HZ3A3MHILLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20245 20234 20224 20214
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BET T BT BT BT T Nt
Results |
Revenue WA 7,840,043 7,016,802 7,879,287 8,346,728 5,974,290
Gross profit EF 1,832,567 1,583,567 1,902,111 2,045,440 1,237,953
Profit attributable to owner of R FHEHE A
the Company FE(ESE R 183,891 143,175 383,258 520,694 125,515
Adjusted net profit for the FRERABER R
yearh&@ 402,351 316,471 417,387 581,780 175,253
Gross profit margin (%) EFME(%) 23.4% 22.6% 24.1% 24.5% 20.7%
Net profit margin (%) KEFE (%) 2.3% 2.0% 4.9% 6.2% 2.1%
Adjusted net profit R ER ot K| 5 (9 )2
margin (%)1&@ 5.1% 45% 5.3% 7.0% 2.9%
Assets and liabilities BERER
Total assets BERA 8,894,096 8,602,750 8,682,290 9,419,772 8,737,036
Total liabilities BEBRE (5,730,181) (5,232,275) (5,135,028) (5,783,515) (5,666,681)
Total equity B 3,163,915 3,370,475 3,547,262 3,636,257 3,070,355
Notes: B3E
(1) Adjusted net profit for the year is derived by adding restructuring costs on (1) FREFHBMFTEBNENGERIMABER

the net profit for the year.

(2) This non-GAAP financial data is a supplemental financial measure that is
not required by, or presented in accordance with HKFRSs and is therefore
referred to as a “non-GAAP" financial measure. It is not a measurement
of the Group's financial performance under HKFRSs and should not
be considered as an alternative to profit from operations or any other
performance measures derived in accordance with HKFRSs or as an
alternative to cash flows from operating activities or as a measure of the
Group's liquidity.
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